
 
 
 
 

WEST YORKSHIRE AND YORK INVESTMENT COMMITTEE 
 

MEETING TO BE HELD AT 11.00 AM ON WEDNESDAY, 3 JANUARY 2018 
IN COMMITTEE ROOM A, WELLINGTON HOUSE, 40-50 WELLINGTON STREET, 

LEEDS 

 

 

A G E N D A 
 
1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

 

3.  3. EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND 
PUBLIC 

1. To highlight Appendix 11 of Agenda Item 8 which officers have identified as 
containing exempt information within the meaning of Schedule 12A to the 
Local Government Act 1972, and where officers consider that the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons outlined in the report. 

 
2. To consider whether or not to accept the officers’ recommendation in respect 

of the above information as set out on paragraph 5.2 of Agenda Item 8. 
 
3. If the recommendation is accepted, to formally pass the following resolution:- 
 

RESOLVED – That in accordance with paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to 
the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting 
during consideration of Appendix 11 of Agenda Item 8 on the grounds that it 
is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature 
of the proceedings, that if members of the press and public were present 
there would be disclosure to them of exempt information and for the reasons 
set out in the report that in all the circumstances of the case, the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 

 
 
 
 

 



4.  4. MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE WEST YORKSHIRE AND YORK 
INVESTMENT COMMITTEE HELD ON 9 NOVEMBER 2017 

Copy attached. 
 (Pages 1 - 10) 
 

5.  GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS - APPOINTMENT OF BUSINESS 
INVESTMENT PANEL MEMBERS 

 (Pages 11 - 14) 
 

6.  LEEDS CITY REGION GROWTH DEAL DELIVERY 

 (Pages 15 - 30) 
 

7.  WY+TF TRANSFORMATIONAL PROGRAMME UPDATE 

 (Pages 31 - 36) 
 

8.  CAPITAL SPEND AND PROJECT APPROVALS 

 (Pages 37 - 124) 
 

9.  GROWTH DEAL: CALL FOR PROJECTS - NEXT STEPS 

 (Pages 125 - 132) 
 
 For Information 
 

10.  MINUTES OF THE BUSINESS INVESTMENT PANEL HELD ON 14 
NOVEMBER 2017 

 (Pages 133 - 136) 
 

 
 

Signed: 

 
WYCA Managing Director 



      
 

 
 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE  
WEST YORKSHIRE AND YORK INVESTMENT COMMITTEE 

HELD ON THURSDAY, 9 NOVEMBER 2017 AT COMMITTEE ROOM A, 
WELLINGTON HOUSE, 40-50 WELLINGTON STREET, LEEDS 

 
 
Present: 
 

Councillor Peter Box CBE (Chair) Wakefield Council 
 

 

Roger Marsh OBE Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership 
Councillor Barry Collins Calderdale Council 
Councillor Ian Gillies City of York Council 
Councillor Denise Jeffery Wakefield Council 
Councillor Richard Lewis Leeds City Council 
Councillor Alex Ross-Shaw Bradford Council 

 
In attendance: 
 

 

Councillor Eric Firth WYCA Transport Committee (to minute 27 only) 
Angela Taylor WYCA 
Melanie Corcoran WYCA (to minute 27 only) 
Paul McKeown Network Rail (to minute 24 only) 
David Moore WYCA (to minute 25 only) 
Justin Wilson WYCA (to minute 25 only) 
Lisa Childs WYCA (to minute 25 only) 
Rachel Jones WYCA (to minute 25 only) 
Samuel Lewis WYCA (to minute 25 only) 
Alistair Ryder WYCA (to minute 25 only) 
Heather Waddington WYCA (minute 28 only) 
Patrick Bowes WYCA (minute 28 only) 
Jacqui Warren WYCA (minute 28 only) 
Peggy Haywood DCLG (minute 28 only) 
Ruth Chaplin WYCA 

 

18.   1. Apologies for Absence 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor P McBride. 
 

19.   1. Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
 
There were no pecuniary interests declared by members at the meeting. 
 
 

 

1

Agenda Item 4



20.   1. Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public 
 
Resolved – That in accordance with paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the 
Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the appendices to Agenda Items 9, 10 & 11 on the grounds that it 
is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 
proceedings, that if members of the press and public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information and for the reasons set out in the report 
that in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 
 

21.   1. Minutes of the Meeting of the West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee 
held on 6 September 2017 
 
Resolved:  That the minutes of the West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee 
held on 6 September 2017  be approved and signed by the Chair. 
 

22.   1. Leeds City Region Growth Deal Delivery 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Delivery which provided: 
 

 An update on progress made towards the achievement of Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs) and on the implementation of the Growth Deal 
programme. 

 A summary of the activities of the Investment Committee workshop held on 
31 October 2017. 

 An update on the current activity in respect of the Independent Evaluation 
of the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund (WY+TF). 

 
It was reported that a review of WYCA’s performance had been undertaken and it 
was anticipated that the Relationship Officer from the Cities and Local Growth Unit 
(CLoG) would now make a recommendation to the National Accounting Officer 
regarding payment of the remaining £42.23m for 2017/18.  It was noted that the 
seven KPIs had been achieved and details were summarised in Appendix 1 to the 
submitted report.  Members discussed KPI-3 and the need to increase capacity in 
order to progress housing and regeneration projects and the Committee asked that 
this be brought to WYCA’s attention. 
 
The Growth Deal Dashboard and Pipeline were attached at Appendices 2 and 3 of 
the submitted report.  Members noted the projects currently rated as Red which 
represented a risk to the delivery of the programme and that contingency 
arrangements in relation to acceleration of expenditure on three major contracts 
would address any shortfall against the target.  
 
It was noted that at the workshop held on 31 October 2017, consideration had 
been given to the expressions of interest submitted under the recent call for 
projects.  It was reported that any feedback received on the call for schemes would 

2



be discussed with the relevant Districts and a reserve list against priority areas 
would be prepared and brought to the next meeting of the Committee. 
 
The Committee was provided with an overview and update in respect of the 
2019/20 Independent Evaluation of the WY+TF and the development of the Locality 
Evaluation Framework.  It was noted that a Locality Evaluation Plan, setting out the 
methods for evaluation of prioritised interventions, timescales, and monitoring 
requirements would be developed following completion of the Framework.  It was 
anticipated that the Locality Evaluation Plan would be completed by December 
2017 and would be brought to a future meeting of the Committee. 
 
Resolved: 
 
(i) That the progress towards the achievement of the KPIs and the  

implementation of the Growth Deal be noted. 
 

(ii) That the Independent Evaluation of the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund 
and the development of Locality Evaluation Framework be noted. 

 

23.   1. WYCA Capital Programme Update 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Delivery which provided an 
overview of WYCA’s programme of capital expenditure.   
 
The report highlighted progress and detailed each funding stream, the 
management processes and any requirements in terms of spend and achievement 
of the funding bodies.  In welcoming the report, members highlighted the need for 
consideration to be given in how engagement with the public can be improved and 
also promoting WYCA and its achievements, for example by providing information 
at bus stations. 
 
Members considered the future monitoring and reporting of WYCA’s capital 
programme.  It was proposed that a report on the full programme should be 
undertaken every six months providing progress mid-year and after the financial 
year end, with an interim report in March setting out expected outturn.  Reports 
would be provided on individual funding streams or programmes by exception as 
required. 
 
Resolved:   
 
(i) That the summary of the WYCA Capital Programme be noted. 
 
(ii) That a report on the Programme be received three times a year. 
 
 
 
 
 

3



24.   1. Working with Network Rail 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Delivery which set out 
current issues and provided an update on the progress being made towards more 
effective partnership working with Network Rail. 
 
It was noted that were a number of projects/programmes in the West Yorkshire 
plus Transport Fund (WY+TF), the Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme 
(LPTIP) and previous schemes in the Local Transport Plan (LTP) where Network Rail 
have an interest or involvement in the scheme.   There had been a number of 
delays to Growth Deal projects which required approvals from, or agreements with, 
Network Rail and meeting was attended by their representative, Paul McKeown 
who discussed the steps being taken to address the issues and improve the 
partnership approach. 
 
Whilst welcoming the progress being made in some areas, members raised their 
concerns in respect of the delays to schemes which were important in delivering 
economic growth in the North and the Government’s Industrial Strategy.  In 
particular the Committee’s concerns related to the electrification of the 
TransPennine route (including the Calder Valley), the East Coast Main Line and the 
problems encountered with land acquisition during the construction of the 
Wakefield Eastern Relief Road. 
 
The Committee thanked Paul McKeown for attending the meeting which members 
had found useful and it was suggested that the dialogue should be continued at 
future meetings.  
 
Resolved: 
 
(i) That the progress made towards developing an improved partnership 

approach to working with Network Rail be noted. 
 

(ii) That Paul McKeown be thanked for attending the meeting. 
 

25.   1. Capital Spend and Project Approvals 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Delivery on proposals for the 
progression of, and funding for, a number of West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund 
(WY+TF) and Growth Deal projects at Stages 1, 2 and 3 of WYCA’s Assurance 
Process. 
 
Members considered the following 3 schemes which were detailed in the 
submitted report: 
 
 
 
 
 

4



Leeds City Region Enterprise Zones 
Programme 

Decision Point 2 (Case Paper) 

Steeton and Silsden A629 Foot/Cycle 
Crossing 

Decision Point 2 (Case Paper) 

East Leeds Outer Ring Road Junctions Decision Point 5 (Full Business Case 
with Finalised Costs) 

 
The report also provided further details and outlined recommendations for the 
following schemes which have had exception reports assessed in line with WYCA’s 
Assurance Process: 
 

A641 – Bradford to Huddersfield 
Corridor 

Activity 1 (Expression of Interest) 
Exception 

Strategic Inward Investment Fund Activity 6 (Delivery) Exception 

 
The Committee was provided with details of decisions made through delegation to 
WYCA’s Managing Director since the last meeting for the following schemes: 
 

Burberry Ltd Global Shared Services 
Centre 

Decision Point 5 (Full Business Case 
with Finalised Costs) 

Digital Sector Soft Landings Grant 
Scheme 

Decision Point 5 (Full Business Case 
with Finalised Costs) 

 
It was noted that the Portfolio Information Management System (PIMS) had 
proceeded directly to WYCA ahead of consideration by the Investment Committee 
due to the nature of the funding stream.  The £0.240m funding (by WYCA), was 
approved at the WYCA meeting held on 5 October 2017. 
 
Summaries of the schemes’ Business Cases were attached as Appendices 1-8 of the 
submitted report. 
 
Resolved: 
 
(i) In respect of Leeds City Region Enterprise Zones Programme (Decision 

Point 2), the Investment Committee recommends to WYCA that: 
 

 The Leeds City Region Enterprise Zones Programme proceeds 
through Decision Point 2 and work commences on Activity 3 (Outline 
Business Case) for the Phase 2 sites outlined the submitted report 
and Activity 4 (Full Business Case) for Phase 1 Leeds EZ. 

 An indicative Approval to the £20.000m programme cost is given 
from the Local Growth Fund with Full Approval to spend being 
granted to individual sites once they have progressed through the 
Assurance Process to Decision Point 5 (Full Business Case with 
Finalised Costs). 

5



 Development costs of up to £0.302m from the Local Growth Fund 
are approved in order to progress Phase 2 sites to Decision Point 3 
(Outline Business Case). 

 Future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway 
and Approval Route outlined in the submitted report.  This will be 
subject to the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in 
the submitted report. 

 
(ii) In respect of Steeton and Silsden A629 Foot/Cycle Crossing (Decision 

Point2), the Investment Committee recommends to WYCA that: 
 

 The Steeton and Silsden A629 Foot/Cycle Crossing proceeds through 
Decision Point 2 (Case Paper) and work commences on Activity 3 
(Outline Business Case). 

 Approval to the total project value of £0.210m is given from the 
CCAG Fund (which incorporates DfT Grant) for Activity 3 (Outline 
Business Case) only. 

 WYCA enter into a Funding Agreement with City of Bradford 
Metropolitan District Council for expenditure of up to £0.210m from 
the CCAG Fund. 

 Future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway 
and Approval Route outlined in the submitted report including that 
Decision Point 3 approval will be delegated to WYCA’s Managing 
Director.  This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the 
tolerances outlined in the submitted report. 

 
(iii) In respect of A641 – Bradford to Huddersfield Corridor (Activity 1 

Exception), the Investment Committee recommends to WYCA that: 
 

 Further development costs of up to £0.630m are approved from the 
West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund  (WY+TF) to enable further 
Expression of Interest development, in order to progress the scheme 
to Decision Point 2 (Case Paper), taking the total project approval to 
£0.730m. 

 WYCA enters into an addendum to the existing Funding Agreement 
with Calderdale Council for A641 – Bradford to Huddersfield Corridor 
for additional expenditure of up to £0.630m from the WY+TF. 

 Future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway 
and Approval Route outlined in the submitted report.  This will be 
subject to the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in 
the submitted report. 
 

(iv) In respect of ELOR Leeds Outer Ring Road Junctions (Decision Point 5), the 
Investment Committee recommends to WYCA that:  

 

 The East Leeds Outer Ring Road Junctions Project (part of the East 
Leeds Orbital Road Package of schemes) proceeds through Decision 

6



Point 5 (Full Business Case with Finalised Costs) and work 
commences on Activity 6 (Delivery). 

 Approval of WYCA’s contribution of £14.047m (which will be funded 
from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund (WY+TF)) is given, 
taking the total project approval for the full ELOR package of 
schemes to £25.857m (£14.047m plus £3.900m for design and 
preparation for Phase 1 and the Outline Business Case for the ELOR 
project plus £6.750m for land costs and a £1.160m contribution from 
funding approved by WYCA to commence development work on 
WY+TF projects before the Growth Deal was established (all funded 
from the WY+TF)). 

 WYCA enter into an addendum to the existing Funding Agreement 
with Leeds City Council for expenditure of up to £25.857m from the 
WY+TF. 

 Future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway 
and Approval Route outlined in the submitted report following a 
recommendation by WYCA’s Programme Appraisal Team.  This will 
be subject to the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in 
the submitted report. 

 
(v) In respect of the Strategic Inward Investment Fund (Activity 6 Exception), 

the Investment Committee recommends to WYCA that: 
  

 The exception is approved to change the Strategic Inward 
Investment Fund lower limit for applications from £250,000 to GBP 
equivalent (at time of application) to €200,000. 

 The exception is approved to amend the assurance and approval 
processes for applications of £250,000 or below as outlined in the 
submitted report, so that these decisions are delegated to the WYCA 
Managing Director. 

 

26.   1. Provision of a Grant to Project Beta 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Executive Head of Economic Services 
which advised of the situation relating to Project Beta and proposed support to the 
future provision of grant funding of up to £3 million. 
 
It was reported that WYCA had previously approved the continuation of Project 
Beta to Activity 4 (Full Business Case).  Members were advised that the nature of 
support requested has now changed and the company was seeking a £3m grant to 
enable them to commit to locating their facility in Leeds. 
 
Resolved:  That the Investment Committee recommends to WYCA that support in 
principle is given to the provision of grant funding of up to £3 million to Project 
Beta subject to the scheme’s progression  through the WYCA Assurance Process. 
 
 

7



27.   1. GPF 102 Provision of Support Grant 
 
Councillors Box and Jeffery left the room for consideration of this item and the 
Chair was taken by Roger Marsh. 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Delivery advising of the 
situation relating to GPF Loan 102 and to propose the provision of grant funding of 
up to £50k. 
 
It was noted that the Investment Committee had previously considered the grant 
funding of £200k and had recommended that £150k be provided in early 2017 and 
that an additional £50k be retained for consideration at a later date. 
 
The Business Investment Panel had been regularly reviewing the ongoing 
development and associated risk of the project and it was proposed that further 
grant funding of up to £50k be provided.  It was noted that the reference points 
had not yet been agreed and it was proposed that the grant be released only in a 
specific set of circumstances and with certain conditions that the Business 
Investment Panel will be asked to confirm. 
 
Resolved:  That the Investment Committee recommend to WYCA the provision of 
grant funding of £50k to support LEP Loan 102, the details of the final terms and 
conditions to be progressed through the delegation  to WYCA’s Managing Director. 
 

28.   1. ESIF SUD 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Resources on the outline 
applications for Sustainable Urban Development (SUD), part of the European 
Structural and Investment Funds (ESIF) Programme and to provide advice to WYCA, 
in its role as the Intermediate Body. 
 
Members considered the advice contained within each of the five assessments for 
the outline applications which had been received following the Call and the 
prioritised project list.  The SUD will provide project grant funding of €19.5m  
(c. £15.5m) in support of key projects to support the delivery of the ESIF Strategy 
and the Strategic Economic Plan. It was noted that WYCA, as Intermediate Body, 
would finalise its assessment and advice to the DCLG as Managing Authority who 
would then make its selection decision. 
 
Resolved:  That the Investment Committee recommend to WYCA the advice 
contained with  the outline assessments and the prioritised project list for SUD part 
of the ESIF Programme, as set out in the exempt Appendix 1. 
 

29.   1. Minutes of the Business Investment Panel held on 21 September 2017 
 
Resolved:  That the minutes of the meeting of the Business Investment Panel held 
on 21 September be noted. 

8



 

30.   1. Draft Minutes of the Business Investment Panel held on 17 October 2017 
 
Resolved:  That the draft minutes of the meeting of the Business Investment Panel 
held on 17 October 2017 be noted. 
 

 

9



This page is intentionally left blank



Director: Angela Taylor, Director of 
Resources 
Author:  Caroline Allen 

 

 

Report to: West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee 

Date:   3 January 2018 

Subject:   Governance Arrangements - Appointments 

 

1. Purpose 
 
1.1 To approve the appointment of private sector co-optees onto the Business 

Investment Panel. 
  

2. Information 
 
2.1 On 12 July, following agreement by both the LEP Board and WYCA to integrate the 

LEP Panels into WYCA’s decision making structure, the Business Investment Panel 
was appointed as an advisory sub-committee of the West Yorkshire & York 
Investment Committee. 
 

2.2 In order to fill a number of vacancies on the Panel, the Head of Legal and Governance 
Services was delegated authority to facilitate a recruitment exercise.  The 
recruitment exercise was undertaken over the summer and shortlisted candidates 
were invited to attend interviews with the Appointments Panel which consisted of 
the LEP Chair, Deputy LEP Chair, a private sector LEP Board member and a WYCA 
officer. In the intervening period and in order to ensure continued expertise on the 
Panel, the Investment Committee agreed an interim appointment of one member, 
Mike Allen. His permanent appointment is included in the new proposed 
appointments. 
 

2.3 Appendix 1 sets out details of those members retiring from office and the proposed 
new appointments. If these proposals are agreed, the Business Investment Panel will 
comprise a total of 5 WYCA members/local authority members and 5 private sector 
members. 
 

2.4 Financial Implications 
  
3.1. None. 
 
4. Legal Implications 
 
4.1 None. 
 
 
 

11

Agenda Item 5



5. Staffing Implications 
 
5.1 None.  
 
6. Consultees 
 
6.1 None. 
 
7. Recommendations 
 
7.1 That the Investment Committee co-opts members to the Business Investment Panel 

as set out in Appendix 1 attached. 
 
8. Background Documents 
 
8.1 None. 
 
 

12



Appendix 1 

 

Business Investment Panel membership changes 

 

                                                                  Business Investment Panel 
 

Stepping down Proposed 
Appointment 

Role Organisation Date  

Dave Harris Gareth Yates Private Sector 
representative (voting) 

Ward Hadaway 3.1.18 

Simon Pringle Jonathan King Private Sector 
representative (voting) 

Medusa Holdings 
Ltd 

3.1.18 

- Marcus Mills Private Sector 
representative (voting) 

The BigWord 3.1.18 

- Mike Allen Private Sector 
representative (voting) 

Nat West 3.1.18 

 
 

13

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



Director: Melanie Corcoran, Director of 
Delivery 
Author:  Lynn Cooper and Dave Haskins 

 

 

Report to: West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee 

Date: 3 January 2018 

Subject: Leeds City Region Growth Deal Delivery 

 

1. Purpose 
 

1.1. To update the Committee of progress made on the implementation of the Growth 
Deal programme. 
 

1.2. To consider criteria in relation to the de-commitment of Growth Deal projects. 
 

1.3. To update the Investment Committee on current activity relating to forthcoming 
2019/20 Growth Deal Review, and to seek approval for an allocation of £400,000 to 
undertake the work required in preparation for the Gateway Review. 
 

2. Information 
 
Growth Deal Monitoring 
 

2.1. The table below details programme expenditure totalling £31.94m of expenditure to 
the end of November 2017.  
 

  
Target 
spend 
2017/18 

Spend to end 
November 
2017 

% of 
2017/18 
target 

Priority 1 - Business  £13.52m £6.89m 51.0% 

Priority 2 - Skills Capital £29.33m £11.30m 38.5% 

Priority 3 - Environmental 
Infrastructure 

£8.07m £1.08m 13.4% 

Priority 4a - Housing & Regeneration £3.87m £1.28m 33.1% 

Priority 4b - West Yorkshire + 
Transport Fund 

£37.46m £11.39m 30.4% 

Priority 4c - Flood Resilience £2.00m £0 0 

Priority 4d - Enterprise Zones £4.00m £0 0 

WYCA Programme Management £1.90m £0 0 

Total £100.15m £31.94m 31.9% 

 

15

Agenda Item 6



2.2. The attached Growth Deal Dashboard at Appendix 1 and West Yorkshire + Transport 
Fund Dashboard at Appendix 2 detail the latest forecast expenditure and provide a 
RAG rating of each project.   
 

2.3. The target expenditure for the 2017/18 is £100.15m, the current forecast against this 
target is £91.25m.  The forecast expenditure has reduced by £4.3m since monitoring 
was undertaken up to the end of September.  Around £2m of this reduction relates 
to reduced forecast expenditure on a number of WY+TF projects following the latest 
quarterly monitoring (Quarter 2).  It is likely this will result in further Red rated 
projects following the Quarter 3 WY+TF monitoring in January 2018.  The remaining 
£2m reduction relates to a reduced forecast on the Leeds College of Building Skills 
Capital project which is now Red rated as detailed below.  However, we have a 
contingency plan where spend could be accelerated on a number of other projects. 
 

2.4. The following projects are RAG rated as Red and represent a risk to the delivery of 
the Programme: 
 
Projects that continue to be rated at Red: 
 

 Leeds Station Gateway – New Station Street 
 
Project had been delayed awaiting appointment of subcontractor by Network 
Rail, Atkins have now been appointed.  It is expected that the design stage for 
the project will be agreed early in the New Year.  A full programme of design 
and development will be considered at a future Investment Committee. 
 

 Urban Traffic Management Centre (UTMC)  
 
The project has been delayed subject to agreement on phased delivery, an 
Outline Business Case will now be submitted in the early in 2018. 

 

 A650 Hard Ings Road and Harrogate Road / New Line 
 
Both of these projects are subject to Public Inquiry. The Public Inquiry for the 
A650 Hard Ings Road is set for 31 January 2018.  A date has still not been set for 
Harrogate Road / New Line.   

 

 Bradford to Shipley Corridor  
 
A Full Business Case for this project was expected in September 2017.  A change 
request will be submitted shortly in advance of submission of an Outline 
Business Case later in the 2018.  
 

 Energy Accelerator  
 
The Investment Committee has now approved the Outline Business Case for 
this project and agreed that it should come forward as a Full Business Case.  A 

16



decision on the approval of the European Investment Bank ELENA funding has 
still not been received.  Senior Officers are now pressing the European 
Commission for an urgent decision. 
  
Escalated to Red: 
 

 Leeds College of Building  
 
The forecast of expenditure for this project has reduced by £2m to £2.79m for 
2017/18.  The main reason for the reduction is due to value engineering on the 
project leading to re-design which has meant the steelwork will not be 
delivered to site until January 2018.  The majority of expenditure on the project 
will now take place in 2018/19.  
 
Projects due to be de-escalated from Red: 
 

 Rail Parking Package – Shipley Station and Steeton and Silsden Stations 
 
The Basic Asset Protection Agreements for both of these projects have now 
been issued.  However following discussion with the appointed contractor an 
opportunity has arisen for additional parking spaces on both projects.  A change 
request addressing this will be considered elsewhere on the agenda, if 
approved the projects will be de-escalated from Red rating.  
 
De-escalated from Red: 
 

 WY+TF Pipeline 
 
The report to the Investment Committee in November 2017 reported that 
£10.24m of forecast spend required formal approval through the Assurance 
Process.  This figure has now reduced to £340k of approvals on Rail Park and 
Ride projects which will progress through Delegated Decision, this level of 
funding does not represent a major risk to delivery of the programme.  The 
reduction is due firstly to two major approvals: East Leeds Orbital Route and 
the A641; and secondly to the slippage of expected expenditure into future 
years. 
 

De-commitment  
 

2.5. The Investment Committee is asked to consider the criteria for the de-commitment 
of schemes as set out in Appendix 3 and recommend adoption of these to WYCA. The 
principles have previously been considered at the Investment Committee workshop 
on 31 October 2017 when principles to allow the de-commitment of projects 
currently included in the Growth Deal programme were discussed.  These principles 
have been further developed to allow full consideration by the Investment 
Committee. 
 

17



2.6. It is proposed that de-commitment should be a last resort and that WYCA will work 
with project sponsors to support the successful delivery of their programmes and 
projects.  Furthermore, before projects are formally proposed for de-commitment 
this will be agreed with the relevant local authority and sponsors will be 
encouraged/supported to deliver within the Growth Deal timescales where possible. 
 

2.7. In relation to WY+TF projects (Priority 4b) the workshop agreed that rather than de-
commit projects at this time the fund should be re-profiled with projects phased over 
a longer timetable.  This will allow projects which have the potential for early delivery 
to be included within the programme.  This will impact on the overall size of the fund 
(currently circa £1bn) any increase in budget and costs will be subject to further 
consideration by this committee. 
 

2.8. The Growth Deal programme is now moving towards the end of the third year of 
delivery of a six year programme.  The majority of the projects currently included in 
the Programme have been in development for a number of years.  It is a concern that 
unless funding is released and reallocated in a timely manner new projects will have 
insufficient time to progress through the Assurance Process, deliver activity / be fully 
constructed and achieve total expenditure by end March 2021 (the final spend date 
for the £516.35m of the 2015-2021 allocation). We therefore need to identify those 
projects that are currently not progressing or making sufficient progress. It is 
proposed that by 28 February 2018 projects which have not been spending 
allocations must be able to demonstrate progress has been made against key 
milestones and provide clear justification setting out why they should remain within 
the Growth Deal programme.  This does not undermine the status of schemes that 
are currently within the Growth Deal Programme but restates that schemes are 
expected to make progress once they have been included within the Programme. 
Historically funding allocations have been carried forward to subsequent years, but 
beyond 2017/18 it is proposed that any carry forward will be by exception only.   
 

2.9. Once projects have confirmed/ submitted their progress reports, responses have 
been assessed and discussions have taken place with sponsors, this will allow 
recommendations to be brought to the Investment Committee on 5 June 2018 on 
which projects should be de-committed and removed from the Programme, and 
therefore to quantify the headroom available within priority areas to introduce new 
projects into the Programme.   

 
Government Assessment: Growth Deal Gateway Review 
 
Overview 
 

2.10. The West Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund (WY+TF) is subject to an independent 
assessment by Government in 2019. To ensure that funding for WY+TF schemes 
continues beyond 2019, it is critical that we demonstrate to Government that 
benefits can be traced right through to the outcomes – that is, we do not just 
consider that a project is complete once construction is complete, but track what has 
been achieved as a result of the project going forward. The need for WYCA to 

18



demonstrate to Government that we have robust evaluation approaches in place is 
therefore critical, as is the need to ensure that projects are focused on direct and 
indirect outcomes. 
 

2.11. As was reported to the November 2017 Investment Committee, to date, eleven city-
regions, including LCR, have agreed devolved funding arrangements with 
Government.  These funds are subject to five-year Gateway Reviews to evaluate 
whether (and if so, the extent to which) locally determined investments and 
interventions have had a positive impact on economic growth – which will in turn 
inform Government decision-making by ministers regarding the allocation of future 
funding to the individual Localities. 
 

2.12. As part of the Growth Deal arrangements, a 2019/20 Independent Evaluation of 
Gainshare Investment Funds has been agreed with the eleven City Regions. 
Government has stated that subject to the outcome of the first Gateway review in 
2019/20, they will provide up to £420m over the period 2021/22 to 2034/35 for the 
WY+TF.  This funding will be provided as a grant, of up to £30m per annum from 
2021/22 to 2034/35. 
 

2.13. Whilst it is accepted that much of the spend to date on the transport projects will not 
be able to demonstrate outcomes by the time of the review, there will be keen focus 
on; progress against stated milestones, the delivery of outputs (and intermediate 
outcomes) and an increased emphasis around the growth of local capacity and cross-
area working. 
 

2.14. The success of the 2019/20 Growth Deal Gateway Review is critical for WYCA in that 
ongoing funding will potentially be withdrawn if we are deemed to have not met the 
required criteria.  It should be noted that a number of projects will be in delivery at 
the point of the review, and that an unsuccessful Gateway Review may lead to risks 
around the withdrawal of funding prior to completion. 
 
Scope of the Interventions 
 

2.15. The remit of the National Evaluation Panel for the first Gateway Review of the 
Investment Funds is to provide evidence on the impact of the funds in delivering local 
growth outcomes; this ‘impact evaluation’ will be the core focus of the evaluation 
plans. Consultants SQW have been appointed at the national level (working across all 
eleven authorities) to undertake economic analysis to inform the Gateway Review 
process.  
 

2.16. In some cases it may be too early for the evaluation to evidence impacts by 2019, 
even at an interim stage.  The evaluation plans also therefore include ‘progress 
evaluation’ that reports on the progress that interventions have made by the point of 
the Gateway Review in their delivery, for example, against anticipated expenditure, 
delivery milestones, and in generating outputs. 
 

19



2.17. In terms of ‘impact evaluation’, a number of Locality Evaluation Frameworks have 
been developed which are focused on interventions that have been approved 
formally, and where expenditure has been incurred (potentially in full), within the 
first Gateway Review period.  Following a review of financial information relating to 
forecast project/programme delivery timescales (as supplied by scheme promoters), 
the following schemes have been deemed in-scope for inclusion of ‘impact reporting’ 
as part of the 2019/20 review: 
 

 Wakefield Eastern Relief Road; 

 Wakefield City Centre Package; 

 Aire Valley Leeds, Temple Green Park and Ride; 

 Rail Station Car Park extensions – South Elmsall, Fitzwilliam, Normanton and 
Hebden Bridge; and 

 Leeds Station Gateway: New Station Street. 
 

2.18. Working closely with the consultants SQW, four local Evaluation Plans have been 
developed in relation to the above projects, which comprise activity around the 
following areas: 
 

 Consultation with project partners/stakeholders; 

 Telephone interviews with local businesses; 

 Telephone interviews with local residents; 

 Consultation with local businesses; 

 Data analysis; and 

 Analysis and reporting. 
 

2.19. All WY+TF schemes are required to collect baseline data as well as defining a 
programme for further data collection to enable monitoring and evaluation of the 
schemes.  This work is budgeted for by project promoters. 
 

2.20. Costed resource plans have been developed by SQW in conjunction with WYCA and 
the scheme promoters.  This resource plan covers the following areas: 
 

 Data collection and analysis – additional data to that specified by scheme 
promoters to support review of outcomes; 

 Progress Evaluation – in relation to schemes which will still be in delivery (or 
only recently completed) at the time of the review; 

 Capacity Development and Partnership Evaluation – reporting on how we do 
things differently in our ‘ways of working’ as a result of the WY+TF programme; 

 Contextual Economic Forecasting – developing an economic baseline from 
which to measure impacts against; 

 Reporting and ongoing engagement; and 

 Central SQW costs – including advice from a panel of appointed economic 
experts. 
 

2.21. A project ceiling budget of £400,000 has been identified by SQW as being required to 
undertake the Gateway Review exercise in the Leeds City Region, including all lead-in 

20



activity and reporting to Central Government.  As part of the process of more 
robustly defining the required budget to undertake the activity, and in order to seek 
cost efficiencies, an exercise is underway to seek to establish the optimal mix of SQW 
resource and in-house WYCA resource in this area.  A key area where cost efficiencies 
may exist relates to the data collection and analysis element. 
 
 

3. Financial Implications 
 

3.1. The work will require an allocation of up to £400,000 from the Growth Deal fund in 
relation to the West Yorkshire + Transport Fund. 
 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1. There are no legal implications directly arising from this report. 
 

5. Staffing Implications 
 

5.1. There are no legal implications directly arising from this report. 
 

6. External Consultees 
 

6.1. No external consultations have been undertaken. 
 

7. Recommendations 
 

7.1. It is recommended that the Investment Committee notes the progress towards the 
implementation of the Growth Deal.  
 

7.2. The Investment Committee is requested to recommend to the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority that the De-commitment Criteria as detailed in Appendix 3 
should be approved and that projects identified within the de-commitment criteria 
should be given until 28 February 2018 to demonstrate satisfactory progress to 
remain in the programme.  Where insufficient progress is demonstrated projects will 
then be considered for de-commitment at the Investment Committee on 5 June.  
 

7.3. The Investment Committee is requested to recommend to the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority approval of a maximum of £400,000 from the Growth Deal to 
fund the above Growth Deal Review activity. 
 

8. Background Documents 
 

8.1. None. 
 

21



This page is intentionally left blank



Growth Deal dashboard
2017/18

Total Outturn 
Forecast

£91,249,845

Figures accurate up to: End of November 2017 Target Actual £31,938,918

District Senior Responsible Officer 2015/16 2016/17 Agreed Annual Forecast
Actual spend to date 

(November 2017)

Forecast spend 
(October 17 to Mar 

18)
Total of actual and forecast RAG rating 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Business Growth Programme City Region Sue Cooke £27,000,000 £6,660,742 £8,327,992 £3,001,516 £1,409,411 £3,601,855 £5,011,266 GREEN £2,500,000 £2,500,000 £2,000,000 £27,000,000

Access to Capital Grants Programme City Region Sue Cooke £15,700,000 £0 £1,513,095 £1,671,020 £4,893,696 £960,510 £5,854,206 GREEN £2,752,566 £2,752,566 £2,827,567 £15,700,000

Huddersfield Incubation & Innovation Programme
Kirklees

Liz Townes-Andrews £2,922,000 £0 £0 £2,983,986 £978 £2,921,022 £2,922,000 AMBER £0 £0 £0 £2,922,000

Leeds University Innovation Centre Leeds Ceri Williams £3,000,000 £0 £2,416,585 £613,415 £583,415 £0 £583,415 GREEN £0 £0 £0 £3,000,000

Business Expansion Fund - Strategic Inward 
Investment Fund City Region

Sue Cooke £12,450,000 £0 £0 £5,250,000 £0 £1,071,136 £1,071,136 AMBER £2,608,504 £4,098,740 £4,671,620 £12,450,000

Business Expansion Fund - Digital Sector Soft Landing 
Scheme City Region

Sue Cooke £1,000,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £116,636 £116,636 GREEN £308,504 £338,740 £236,120 £1,000,000

Priority 1: Growing Business £62,072,000 £6,660,742 £12,257,672 £13,519,937 £6,887,499 £8,671,159 £15,558,658 £8,169,574 £9,690,046 £9,735,307 £62,071,999

Round 1 - Shipley College Mill Bradford Nav Chohan £119,000 £119,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 COMPLETE £0 £0 £0 £119,000

Round 1 - Leeds City College Printworks
Leeds

Jane Pither/Lydia Devenny £8,998,358 £933,800 £7,794,608 £270,167 £0 £269,950 £269,950 GREEN £0 £0 £0 £8,998,358

Round 1 - Calderdale College Calderdale Denise Cheng Carter £4,977,000 £2,000,000 £2,977,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 COMPLETE £0 £0 £0 £4,977,000

Round 1 - Kirklees College Kirklees Ian Webster £3,100,996 £3,000,996 £100,001 £0 £0 £0 £0 COMPLETE £0 £0 £0 £3,100,997

Round 2a - Wakefield College Wakefield John Foster £3,327,000 £0 £3,327,133 £0 £0 £0 £0 N/A £0 £0 £0 £3,327,133

Round 2a - Selby College Selby Liz Ridley £693,748 £0 £693,748 £0 £0 £0 £0 N/A £0 £0 £0 £693,748

Round 2a - Shipley College Salt Building Bradford Nav Chohan £300,000 £0 £300,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 N/A £0 £0 £0 £300,000

Round 2a - Bradford College Bradford Andy Welsh £250,000 £0 £250,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 N/A £0 £0 £0 £250,000

Round 2b - Leeds College of Building Leeds Ian Billyard £14,000,000 £0 £1,263,639 £7,886,362 £560,074 £2,239,640 £2,799,714 RED £7,675,719 £160,928 £0 £11,900,000

Round 2b - Leeds City College Quarry Hill
Leeds

Jane Pither/Lydia Devenny £33,400,000 £0 £10,045,152 £14,774,848 £5,937,694 £9,528,472 £15,466,166 GREEN £5,884,682 £2,004,000 £0 £33,400,000

Round 2b - Dewsbury  Learning Quarter Kirklees Ian Webster £15,121,218 £0 £3,367,457 £6,396,761 £4,801,515 £2,284,973 £7,086,488 AMBER £667,273 £0 £0 £11,121,218

Priority 2: Skilled People, Better Jobs £84,287,320 £6,053,796 £30,118,737 £2 £29,328,138 £11,299,284 £14,323,034 £25,622,318 £9 ## £14,227,674 £2,164,928 £0 £78,187,453

Resource Efficiency Fund City Region Sue Cooke £720,000 £0 £0 £323,721 £160,635 £163,086 £323,721 GREEN £251,163 £145,116 £0 £720,000

Energy Accelerator City Region Jacqui Warren £820,000 £0 £0 £0 £490,986 £0 £20,000 £20,000 £0 RED £0 £236,000 £192,000 £192,000 £640,000

Leeds District Heat Network Leeds Neil Evans £4,000,000 £0 £8,345 £4,867,923 £0 £0 £3,991,655 AMBER £0 £0 £4,000,000

Tackling Fuel Poverty City Region Liz Courtney £6,000,000 £0 £781,414 £2,392,200 £919,575 £1,200,000 £2,119,575 GREEN £3,099,011 £0 £0 £6,000,000

Priority 3: Clean Energy and Economic 
Resilience

£11,540,000 £0 £789,759 £8,074,830 £1,080,210 £1,383,086 £6,454,951 £3,586,174 £337,116 £192,000 £11,360,000

East Leeds Housing Growth - Red Hall Leeds Martin Farrington £4,000,000 £2,000,000 £2,000,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 N/A £0 £0 £0 £4,000,000

East Leeds Housing Growth – Brownfield Sites Leeds Martin Farrington £1,100,000 £0 £1,100,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 N/A £0 £0 £0 £1,100,000

Halifax Town Centre (Northgate House) Calderdale Mark Thompson £1,300,000 £300,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 N/A £1,000,000 £0 £0 £1,300,000

One, City Park, Bradford Bradford Steve Hartley £5,200,000 £400,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 N/A £1,600,000 £2,200,000 £1,000,000 £5,200,000

Barnsley Town Centre Barnsley David Shepherd £1,757,000 £1,757,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 N/A £0 £0 £0 £1,757,000

Kirklees Housing sites Kirklees Naz Parker £1,000,000 £200,000 £205,000 £104,000 £0 £104,000 £104,000 GREEN £191,000 £300,000 £0 £1,000,000

Bath Road, Leeds Leeds Martin Farrington £575,000 £580,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 N/A £0 £0 £0 £580,000

Bradford Odeon Bradford Steve Hartley £325,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 N/A £325,000 £0 £0 £325,000

Forge Lane, Kirklees Kirklees Paul Kemp £4,620,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 N/A £4,620,000 £0 £0 £4,620,000

York Central York Neil Ferris £2,550,000 £0 £1,421,500 £1,128,500 £618,598 £509,902 £1,128,500 GREEN £0 £0 £0 £2,550,000

Wakefield Civic Quarter Wakefield Andy Wallhead £1,100,000 £0 £0 £1,085,000 £331,389 £1,018,666 £1,350,055 GREEN £25,000 £0 £0 £1,375,055

York Guildhall York Neil Ferris £2,347,500 £0 £791,500 £1,556,000 £334,500 £1,321,500 £1,656,000 GREEN £0 £0 £0 £2,447,500

New Bolton Woods Bradford Shelagh O’Neill pipeline £0 £0 £0 £0 £195,000 £195,000 GREEN £3,405,000 £0 £0 £3,600,000

Beech Hill, Halifax Calderdale Mark Thompson pipeline £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 GREEN £1,000,000 £0 £0 £1,000,000

Wakefield City Fields Wakefield Andy Wallhead pipeline £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 GREEN £1,000,000 £0 £0 £1,000,000

Balance of available funding pipeline £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 N/A £3,827,883 £2,011,437 £3,032,587 £8,871,907

Priority 4a: Housing and Regeneration £25,874,500 £5,237,000 £5,518,000 £3,873,500 £1,284,487 £3,149,068 £4,433,555 £16,993,883 £4,511,437 £4,032,587 £40,726,462

Transport various £0 £19,594,417 £27,573,527 £37,458,371 £11,387,437 £25,181,925 £36,569,363 N/A £94,989,073 £178,358,254 £184,894,256 £541,978,889

Priority 4b: Transport £0 £19,594,417 £27,573,527 £37,458,371 £11,387,437 £25,181,925 £36,569,363 £91,862,694 £62,840,750 £42,459,250 £280,900,000

Mytholmroyd Flood Alleviation (GD3) Calderdale Adrian Gill £2,500,000 £0 £2,500,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 GREEN £0 £0 £0 £2,500,000

Leeds Flood Alleviation (GD3) Leeds Martin Farrington £3,786,981 £0 £3,786,981 £0 £0 £0 £0 COMPLETE £0 £0 £0 £3,786,981

Skipton Flood Alleviation (GD3) Craven Adrian Gill £1,500,000 £0 £1,500,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 COMPLETE £0 £0 £0 £1,500,000

Priority 4c: Pipeline TBC Adrian Gill pipeline £2,000,000 £0 £436,000 £436,000 AMBER £3,401,360 £2,031,320 £6,331,320 £12,200,000

Priority 4c: Flood Resilience £7,786,981 £0 £7,786,981 £2,000,000 £0 £436,000 £436,000 £3,401,360 £2,031,320 £6,331,320 £19,986,981

Leeds Aire Valley EZ Leeds Martin Farrington pipeline £4,000,000 £0 £0 £0 AMBER £4,400,000 £0 £0 £4,400,000

LCR EZs M62 sites LCR David Walmsley pipeline £0 £275,000 £275,000 AMBER £1,000,000 £10,130,578 £4,194,422 £15,600,000

Priority 4d: Enterprise Zone £4,000,000 £0 £275,000 £275,000 £0 £5,400,000 £10,130,578 £4,194,422 £20,000,000

WYCA Delivery costs - non Tranport £475,122 £742,120 £1,900,000 £0 £0 £1,900,000 N/A £0 £0 £0 £3,117,242

£191,560,801 £38,021,077 £84,786,796 £100,154,776 £31,938,918 £53,419,273 £91,249,845 £143,641,359 £91,706,175 £66,944,886 £516,350,138

TOTAL spend (actual + 
forecast)

Total Growth Deal expenditure

£100,154,776

Project name

Project responsibility

Approved budget

Previous years spend In-year spend and RAG rating (2017/18) Future forecast spend

23

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



West Yorkshire Transport Fund Dashboard 2017/18 £37,458,371 Total Outturn Forecast £36,569,363

Figures accurate up to:  Nov 2017 Target Actual £11,387,437

Project name Project responsibility  Previous years spend 

Senior Responsible Officer
 Approved (Development 

and Delivery combined)  
Category  Prior Years  2015/16  2016/17 

Actual Spend to date November 
2017

Forecast Spend December 
17 to March 18

Total of actual and forecast RAG rating 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Transport Delivery Costs

Priority 4b (WYTF) WYCA Delivery Costs Melanie Corcoran                             13,572,000 Development 1,654,577                           1,652,280                                1,382,847                                 1,382,847                                     GREEN 1,377,675                                1,530,717                                     1,900,000                                  9,498,096                                    

Transport projects at Stage 3 that are in delivery in 2017/18

Wakefield Eastern Relief Road Neil Rogers Development 1,599,000                           -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              1,599,000                                    

0 0                             37,593,000 Delivery  700,000                              15,284,765                        14,435,236                              3,058,296                                           1,815,986                                 4,874,282                                     -                                             -                                                 -                                              35,294,283                                 

Aire Valley, Leeds Integrated Transport Package - Phase 1: Aire Valley P&R Gary Bartlett Development 269,000                              277,672                              245,500                                    -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              792,172                                       

0 0                               9,597,000 Delivery  -                                       -                                       5,459,649                                1,699,724                                           769,616                                    2,469,340                                     897,528                                    -                                                 -                                              8,826,517                                    

South Elmsall Rail Car Parking Extension Melanie Corcoran Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

0 0                                  670,000 Delivery  -                                       -                                       120,000                                    422,811                                              -                                             422,811                                        -                                             -                                                 -                                              542,811                                       

Transport projects at Stage 3 that are in delivery in 2017/18 -                                                

Wakefield City Centre Package Phase 1 Kirkgate Neil Rogers Development -                                       72,878                                 76,972                                      -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              149,850                                       

0 0                               5,556,000 Delivery  -                                       -                                       -                                             1,628,533                                           2,387,590                                 4,016,123                                     822,402                                    -                                                 -                                              4,838,525                                    

A629 Phase 1a: Jubilee Road to Free School Lane & monitoring Mark Thompson Development 302,000                              160,000                              1,442,043                                1,180,702                                           -                                             1,180,702                                     -                                             -                                                 -                                              3,084,745                                    

0 0                               8,296,655 Delivery  -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       3,291,209                                 3,291,209                                     2,425,798                                -                                                 -                                              5,717,007                                    

Rail Parking Programme - Fitzwilliam Neil Rogers Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

0 0                                  676,926 Delivery  -                                       -                                       -                                             1,969                                                   464,562                                    466,531                                        204,995                                    -                                                 -                                              671,526                                       

Rail Parking Package - Hebden Bridge Melanie Corcoran Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

0 0                                  582,358 Delivery  -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       291,000                                    291,000                                        324,000                                    -                                                 -                                              615,000                                       

Transport projects at Stage 2 that will commence in 2017/18

Leeds ELOR and North Leeds Outer Ring Road Gary Bartlett                            11,810,000 Development 1,020,000                           929,199                              1,554,106                                661,181                                              661,181                                        1,000,000                                1,000,000                                     750,000                                     6,914,486                                   

-                                                                                                                                                                                        Gary Bartlett -                                          Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       3,685,085                                 3,685,085                                     11,198,734                              25,131,500                                  31,431,500                                71,446,819                                 

Rail Parking Package - Mytholmroyd Melanie Corcoran                                              -   Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

-                                                                                                                                                                                        Melanie Corcoran -                                          Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       20,000                                      20,000                                           2,413,333                                1,206,667                                     -                                              3,640,000                                   

Rail Parking Package - Mirfield Melanie Corcoran                                              -   Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

-                                                                                                                                                                                        Melanie Corcoran -                                          Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       308,863                                    308,863                                        1,381,137                                -                                                 -                                              1,690,000                                   

Transport projects at Stage 2 that will commence in 2018/19

Leeds Station Gateway - New station Street Liz Hunter                                  166,037 Development -                                       -                                       41,036                                      6,500                                                   72,291                                      78,791                                           18,999                                      -                                                 -                                              138,826                                       

0 Liz Hunter                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 1,875,630                                -                                                 -                                              1,875,630                                   

UTMC (formerly HNEP) Richard Hadfield (Kirklees)                                  280,000 Development -                                       -                                       29,011                                      20,259                                                 90,000                                      110,259                                        70,000                                      -                                                 -                                              209,270                                       

0 Richard Hadfield (Kirklees)                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 400,000                                    1,200,000                                     2,750,000                                  4,350,000                                   

Rail Parking Package - Shipley Melanie Corcoran                                              -   Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

0 Melanie Corcoran                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 2,550,000                                -                                                 -                                              2,550,000                                   

Rail Parking Package - Steeton and Silsden Melanie Corcoran                                              -   Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

0 Melanie Corcoran                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 2,450,000                                -                                                 -                                              2,450,000                                   

Rail Parking Package - Normanton Melanie Corcoran                                              -   Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

0 Melanie Corcoran                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 1,440,000                                -                                                 -                                              1,440,000                                   

Bradford FS Station Gateway Julian Jackson                               3,885,314 Development -                                       20,000                                 116,717                                    30,271                                                 114,729                                    145,000                                        1,807,633                                -                                                 -                                              2,089,350                                   

0 Julian Jackson                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 12,856,853                              -                                                 -                                              12,856,853                                 

A650 Hard Ings Road - Phase 1: Hard Ings Road Only Julian Jackson                                  764,000 Development 140,000                              137,628                              301,133                                    147,765                                              47,927                                      195,692                                        -                                             -                                                 -                                              774,453                                       

0 Julian Jackson                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 4,415,000                                3,257,235                                     -                                              7,672,235                                   

Harrogate Road / New Line Julian Jackson                               1,300,000 Development 166,000                              146,399                              15,601                                      114,829                                              223,171                                    338,000                                        257,000                                    -                                                 -                                              923,000                                       

0 Julian Jackson                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 1,901,000                                1,732,740                                     -                                              3,633,740                                   

A629 Phase 1b: Elland Wood Bottom to Jubilee Road Mark Thomson                               1,125,394 Development -                                       169,994                              198,719                                    237,088                                              635,682                                    872,770                                        -                                             -                                                 -                                              1,241,483                                   

0 Mark Thomson                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 8,552,565                                5,340,349                                     -                                              13,892,914                                 

A629 Phase 2: Phase 2a, 2b and 2c Mark Thomson                               3,016,000 Development 340,000                              44,591                                 280,192                                    497,675                                              1,614,886                                 2,112,561                                     -                                             -                                                 -                                              2,777,344                                   

0 Mark Thomson                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 8,578,039                                11,883,471                                  13,474,071                                33,935,581                                 

A653 Leeds to Dewsbury Corridor (M2D2L) Simon Taylor                                  210,000 Development 80,000                                 -                                       59,261                                      16,750                                                 53,989                                      70,739                                           -                                             -                                                 -                                              210,000                                       

0 Simon Taylor                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 2,000,000                                10,500,000                                  -                                              12,500,000                                 

Castleford Station Gateway Melanie Corcoran                                  338,000 Development -                                       -                                       20,329                                      4,027                                                   266,083                                    270,110                                        -                                             -                                                 -                                              290,439                                       

0 Melanie Corcoran                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 1,485,000                                1,485,000                                     730,000                                     3,700,000                                   

Glasshoughton Southern Link Road Neil Rogers                                  723,000 Development -                                       80,000                                 -                                             227,732                                              222,381                                    450,113                                        245,000                                    -                                                 -                                              775,113                                       

0 Neil Rogers                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 1,300,000                                2,492,000                                     2,479,113                                  6,271,113                                   

CIP - Phase 1 - Leeds Fink Hill Gary Bartlett                                  115,000 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       110,200                                    110,200                                        4,800                                        -                                                 -                                              115,000                                       

0 Gary Bartlett                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 770,000                                    65,000                                          -                                              835,000                                       

CIP - Phase 1 - Leeds Dawsons Corner Gary Bartlett                               1,008,000 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       453,000                                    453,000                                        555,000                                    -                                                 -                                              1,008,000                                   

0 Gary Bartlett                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 1,911,000                                6,205,000                                     -                                              8,116,000                                   

CIP - Phase 1 - Wakefield A650 Newton Bar Neil Rogers                                     75,000 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             4,583                                                   51,418                                      56,000                                           6,000                                        -                                                 -                                              62,000                                         

2017/18 Future forecast spend

TOTAL spend (actual + 
forecast)

RED

Complete

Complete

Complete

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

AMBER

AMBER

GREEN

AMBER

RED

GREEN

RED

RED

GREEN

AMBER

RED

RED

GREEN

AMBER

AMBER

GREEN

GREEN

AMBER

GREEN

25

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix 2



West Yorkshire Transport Fund Dashboard 2017/18 £37,458,371 Total Outturn Forecast £36,569,363

Figures accurate up to:  Nov 2017 Target Actual £11,387,437

Project name Project responsibility  Previous years spend 

Senior Responsible Officer
 Approved (Development 

and Delivery combined)  
Category  Prior Years  2015/16  2016/17 

Actual Spend to date November 
2017

Forecast Spend December 
17 to March 18

Total of actual and forecast RAG rating 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

2017/18 Future forecast spend

TOTAL spend (actual + 
forecast)

0 Neil Rogers                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       11,000                                      11,000                                           23,160                                      2,508,500                                     1,548,400                                  4,091,060                                   

Rail Park and Ride (Phase 1) Programme Melanie Corcoran                                  996,306 Development 58,908                                 108,336                              409,181                                    214,724                                              501,308                                    716,032                                        -                                             -                                                 -                                              1,292,457                                   

0 Melanie Corcoran                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

York Northern Outer Ring Road Neil Ferris                               2,448,000 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             308,901                                              974,380                                    1,283,281                                     566,000                                    624,000                                        220,000                                     2,693,281                                   

0 Neil Ferris                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 3,085,000                                9,000,000                                     11,429,000                                23,514,000                                 

Rail Parking Package - Knottingley Melanie Corcoran                                  474,259 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       474,259                                    474,259                                        -                                             -                                                 -                                              474,259                                       

0 Melanie Corcoran                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 1,305,741                                -                                                 -                                              1,305,741                                   

Transport projects at Stage 2 that will commence post 2018/19

A65-LBIA Link Road Gary Bartlett                                  810,000 Development 210,000                              8,688                                   266,812                                    133,487                                              186,513                                    320,000                                        4,500                                        -                                                 -                                              810,000                                       

0 Gary Bartlett                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 1,597,239                                1,722,799                                     2,469,603                                  5,789,641                                   

CIP - Phase 1 - Leeds Dyneley Arms Gary Bartlett                                  402,000 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       227,700                                    227,700                                        174,300                                    -                                                 -                                              402,000                                       

0 Gary Bartlett                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 1,498,000                                6,000,000                                     -                                              7,498,000                                   

CIP - Phase 1 - Kirklees Holmfirth Town Centre Richard Hadfield                                  250,000 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             58,624                                                 41,376                                      100,000                                        150,000                                    -                                                 -                                              250,000                                       

0 Richard Hadfield                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 200,000                                    500,000                                        3,800,000                                  4,500,000                                   

CIP - Phase 1 - Kirklees A62 Smart Corridor Richard Hadfield                                  250,000 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             27,000                                                 73,000                                      100,000                                        100,000                                    -                                                 -                                              200,000                                       

0 Richard Hadfield                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 100,000                                    6,750,000                                     -                                              6,850,000                                   

CIP - Phase 1 - Bradford A6177 ORR/Toller Lane Julian Jackson                                  308,000 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             2,181                                                   78,819                                      81,000                                           81,775                                      -                                                 -                                              162,775                                       

0 Julian Jackson                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 850,000                                    6,200,000                                     1,225,000                                  8,275,000                                   

CIP - Phase 1 - Bradford A6177 ORR/Great Horton Road Julian Jackson                                  220,000 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             8,663                                                   61,337                                      70,000                                           110,000                                    -                                                 -                                              180,000                                       

0 Julian Jackson                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 500,000                                    1,500,000                                     320,000                                     2,320,000                                   

CIP - Phase 1 - Bradford A6177 ORR/Great Horton Road / Horton Grange Julian Jackson                                              -   Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       30,000                                      30,000                                           -                                             -                                                 -                                              30,000                                         

0 Julian Jackson                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

Castleford Growth Corridor Scheme Neil Rogers                                  200,000 Development -                                       67,000                                 73,917                                      -                                                       40,880                                      40,880                                           19,000                                      -                                                 -                                              200,797                                       

0 Neil Rogers                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 2,450,000                                1,000,000                                     8,990,000                                  12,440,000                                 

York Central Access Neil Ferris                               2,100,000 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             57,673                                                 872,327                                    930,000                                        770,000                                    339,500                                        60,625                                        2,100,125                                   

0 Neil Ferris                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 931,462                                    15,692,000                                  17,016,812                                33,640,274                                 

Bradford Interchange Station Gateway Julian Jackson                                     80,000 Development -                                       25,000                                 20,838                                      34,162                                                 34,162                                           0 0 0 80,000                                         

0 Julian Jackson                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 14,305,000                                14,305,000                                 

A650 Tong Street Julian Jackson                                  185,000 Development 50,000                                 -                                       21,038                                      8,214                                                   49,786                                      58,000                                           56,582                                      -                                                 -                                              185,620                                       

0 Julian Jackson                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             10,000,000                                  8,000,000                                  18,000,000                                 

SE Bradford Access Rd Julian Jackson                                     91,000 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             8,067                                                   65,933                                      74,000                                           17,000                                      -                                                 -                                              91,000                                         

0 Julian Jackson                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

Bradford to Shipley Corridor Julian Jackson                                  314,000 Development -                                       30,000                                 5,011                                        6,681                                                   131,319                                    138,000                                        181,081                                    -                                                 -                                              354,092                                       

0 Julian Jackson                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             13,000,000                                  14,000,000                                27,000,000                                 

Halifax Station Gateway Mark Thomson                                  315,000 Development 5,000                                   156,738                              44,171                                      34,345                                                 162,746                                    197,091                                        -                                             -                                                 -                                              403,000                                       

0 Mark Thomson                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 7,483,848                                  7,483,848                                   

A641 Bradford - Huddersfield Corridor Mark Thomson                                  100,000 Development -                                       -                                       60,829                                      31,437                                                 68,563                                      100,000                                        -                                             -                                                 -                                              160,829                                       

0 Mark Thomson                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

A629 Phase 4: Ainley Top Mark Thomson                                  645,000 Development -                                       -                                       51,736                                      23,264                                                 249,114                                    272,378                                        -                                             -                                                 -                                              324,114                                       

0 Mark Thomson                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

Huddersfield Station Gateway Simon Taylor                                     79,886 Development -                                       27,615                                 22,385                                      2,440                                                   -                                             2,440                                             -                                             -                                                 -                                              52,440                                         

0 Simon Taylor                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             5,000,000                                     -                                              5,000,000                                   

M62 Junction 24a Simon Taylor                                     70,000 Development -                                       -                                       12,976                                      24,370                                                 32,654                                      57,024                                           -                                             -                                                 -                                              70,000                                         

0 Simon Taylor                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             18,500,000                                  -                                              18,500,000                                 

A629 Phase 5 - Ainley Top into Huddersfield Simon Taylor                                  302,000 Development -                                       52,000                                 48,000                                      143,099                                              74,516                                      217,615                                        -                                             -                                                 -                                              317,615                                       

0 Simon Taylor                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             798,000                                        8,600,000                                  9,398,000                                   

A62 and A644 Corridors incorporating Cooper bridge Simon Taylor                                  500,000 Development 485,000                              110,000                              15,000                                      -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              610,000                                       

0 Simon Taylor                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             2,250,000                                     8,750,000                                  11,000,000                                 

Leeds Station Gateway - Yorkshire Hub Liz Hunter                                  400,000 Development -                                       -                                       54,468                                      48,849                                                 66,411                                      115,260                                        175,804                                    -                                                 -                                              345,532                                       

0 Liz Hunter                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

Thorpe Park Station Liz Hunter                                  500,000 Development -                                       -                                       3,382                                        63,613                                                 168,761                                    232,374                                        269,294                                    -                                                 -                                              505,050                                       

0 Liz Hunter                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 10,000,000                                10,000,000                                 

A6110 Leeds Outer Ring Rd Gary Bartlett                                  268,000 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             3,301                                                   65,000                                      68,301                                           199,699                                    -                                                 -                                              268,000                                       

0 Gary Bartlett                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

Leeds City Centre Network and Interchange Package Gary Bartlett                               3,455,000 Development 319,000                              31,337                                 278,000                                    158,043                                              641,957                                    800,000                                        979,678                                    1,033,776                                     126,749                                     3,568,540                                   

0 Gary Bartlett                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 5,340,672                                  5,340,672                                   

Wakefield City Centre Package Phase 2 Ings Road Neil Rogers                                  270,000 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             10,683                                                 120,317                                    131,000                                        139,000                                    -                                                 -                                              270,000                                       

GREEN

GREEN

AMBER

GREEN

GREEN

AMBER

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

AMBER

GREEN

GREEN

AMBER

GREEN

AMBER

AMBER

GREEN

RED

GREEN

AMBER

GREEN

AMBER

AMBER

AMBER

GREEN

GREEN

AMBER

AMBER

GREEN

26



West Yorkshire Transport Fund Dashboard 2017/18 £37,458,371 Total Outturn Forecast £36,569,363

Figures accurate up to:  Nov 2017 Target Actual £11,387,437

Project name Project responsibility  Previous years spend 

Senior Responsible Officer
 Approved (Development 

and Delivery combined)  
Category  Prior Years  2015/16  2016/17 

Actual Spend to date November 
2017

Forecast Spend December 
17 to March 18

Total of actual and forecast RAG rating 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

2017/18 Future forecast spend

TOTAL spend (actual + 
forecast)

0 Neil Rogers                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             1,540,000                                     1,205,863                                  2,745,863                                   

CIP - Phase 1 - Kirklees Huddersfield Southern Gateways Richard Hadfield                                  300,000 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       95,443                                      95,443                                           148,000                                    -                                                 -                                              243,443                                       

0 Richard Hadfield                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             1,270,000                                     6,330,000                                  7,600,000                                   

CIP - Phase 1 - Calderdale A58/A672 Corridor Mark Thompson                                  235,000 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             2,937                                                   232,063                                    235,000                                        -                                             -                                                 -                                              235,000                                       

0 Mark Thompson                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

CIP - Phase 1 - Calderdale A646/A6033 Corridor Mark Thompson                                  195,000 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             1,984                                                   193,016                                    195,000                                        -                                             -                                                 -                                              195,000                                       

0 Mark Thompson                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

Rail Park and Ride (Phase 2) Programme Melanie Corcoran                                  138,000 Development -                                       -                                       137,997                                    -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              137,997                                       

0 Melanie Corcoran                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

Rail Park & Ride (Phase 2) - Apperley Bridge Melanie Corcoran                                  113,100 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       113,100                                    113,100                                        -                                             -                                                 -                                              113,100                                       

0 Melanie Corcoran                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

Rail Park & Ride (Phase 2) - Guiseley Melanie Corcoran                                  143,000 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       143,000                                    143,000                                        -                                             -                                                 -                                              143,000                                       

0 Melanie Corcoran                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

Rail Park & Ride (Phase 2) - Moorthorpe Melanie Corcoran                                  110,500 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       110,500                                    110,500                                        -                                             -                                                 -                                              110,500                                       

0 Melanie Corcoran                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

Rail Park & Ride (Phase 2) - Outwood Melanie Corcoran                                  110,500 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       110,500                                    110,500                                        -                                             -                                                 -                                              110,500                                       

0 Melanie Corcoran                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

Calder Valley Line Elland Station Steven Lee                                  834,748 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       141,813                                    141,813                                        359,137                                    -                                                 -                                              500,950                                       

0 Steven Lee                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

Corridor Improvement Programme (formerly HEBP) 0                                  408,000 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       50,000                                      50,000                                           100,000                                    100,000                                        158,000                                     408,000                                       

0 0                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

Transformational  -South Featherstone Link Rd - Feasibility Study Neil Rogers                                  284,000 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

0 Neil Rogers                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

Transformational - Kirklees - North Kirklees Orbital Route - Feasibility Study Simon Taylor                                  248,000 Development 
-                                       -                                       -                                             10,000                                                 80,000                                      90,000                                           157,500                                    -                                                 -                                              247,500                                       

0 Simon Taylor                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                

Transformational -York Northern Outer Ring Road Dualling- Feasibility Study 0                                  295,000 Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       100,000                                    100,000                                        195,000                                    -                                                 -                                              295,000                                       

0 0                                              -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                             -                                                 -                                              -                                                
Transport projects at Stage 1 pre mandate -                                                 0
Aire Valley, Leeds Integrated Transport Package – Phase 2: Highway Access                                              -   Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                                

                                             -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                                

Aire Valley, Leeds Integrated Transport Package – Phase 3: Motorway Junction Improvements                                              -   Development 
-                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                                

                                             -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                                
Corridor Improvement Programme Phase 2                                              -   Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                                

                                             -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                                
Corridor Improvement Programme Phase 3                                              -   Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                                

                                             -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                                
Calder Valley Line Enhancements                                              -   Development -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                                

                                             -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                                
Calder Valley Line Bradford-Leeds Journey Time improvements                                              -   Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                                

                                             -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                                
Clifton Moor Park and Ride                                              -   Development -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                                

                                             -   Delivery -                                       -                                       -                                             -                                                       -                                             -                                                 -                                                

Development inc Management costs 57,836,044       5,043,908        4,309,652        7,558,641           0 4,576,104                 12,137,014         16,713,119           0 #VALUE! 0 10,295,457         4,627,993              3,215,374            51,764,144           
Delivery 700,000           15,284,765     20,014,885         0 6,811,333                 13,044,911         19,856,244           0 -              # 84,693,616         173,730,261         181,678,882       495,958,653        

Total Transport 57,836,044       5,743,908        19,594,417     27,573,527         11,387,437               25,181,925         36,569,363           # #VALUE! # 94,989,073         178,358,254         184,894,256       547,722,797        
 Less Prior Year 
spend 5,743,908.0         

Growth Deal tota 541,978,888.9     

AMBER

GREEN

GREEN

AMBER

AMBER

AMBER

AMBER

GREEN

AMBER

GREEN

AMBER

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



De-commitment Criteria 

 

Projects will be considered for de-commitment from the Growth Deal programme where the 

following circumstances arise: 

 

Projects at Risk 

o Where major risks have been identified within an individual project that could 

impact on the Programme. Risks would need to be assessed based whether they 

would cause delay or impact on the delivery of the project within the timetable of 

the programme.  Examples of major risks include: projects subject to public inquiry, 

difficulties in land purchase/CPO, problems obtaining full funding / match funding, 

resource issues, escalating costs, planning permission not granted / approval 

delayed. 

 

Delayed Projects 

o Estimated dates have been provided for the majority of projects for each Decision 

Point in the Assurance Process.  Where these dates are not achieved, putting 

programme delivery at risk, consideration could be given to de-commit the project 

 

Underperforming (projects in delivery) 

o This would relate to projects that are no longer expected to deliver the outputs and 

outcomes that were forecast in the original business cases that were submitted as 

part of the Growth Deal programme 

o Non-achievement of key milestones planning permission, land purchase etc 

 

Significant Change  

o Where a project description and outputs and expenditure have altered significantly 

in comparison to the business case included in the original Growth Deal submission 

these need to be re-assessed and compared against new projects. 

o Issues that need to be taken into consideration are where the project no longer 

achieves outputs and / or milestones in line with OBC and FBC on issues such as: 

strategic alignment to the SEP, value for money, deliverability, benefits and outputs, 

timescale. 

Stalled Projects  

o Projects where no progress is currently being made for whatever reason including:  

 no progress has been made within the previous 12 months;  

 external factors mean that there is no clear route of progress. 

o Projects where sponsors have failed to progress projects in accordance with an 

agreed timetable and no action plan has been provided to demonstrate 

commitment to progress 

 

29

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Head of Service: Liz Hunter, Interim 
Director of Policy & Strategy 
Author:  Tom Gifford 

 

 

Report to: West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee 

Date: 3 January 2018 

Subject: WY+TF Transformational Programme Update 

 

1 Purpose 
 
1.1 To bring forward proposals and capital funding approvals for the West Yorkshire Plus 

Transport Fund (WY+TF) and Growth Deal Transformational Fund. 
 
2 Information 

 
Background 
 

2.1 The Growth Deal approved WY+TF programme includes £12.5m allocated to the 
development of ‘transformational projects’.  When the programme was originally 
endorsed by WYCA in December 2014 the following scope was included regarding 
transformational projects: 

 
“for development work to influence government and other partners to 
justify future transformational  investments such as rail electrification, 
airport access, rolling out of mass transit (tram-train and/or NGT for 

example) and preparing for HS2 and HS3”. 
 
2.2 On 25 January 2017 a workshop, involving Investment Committee members and local 

authority officers, was held to consider delivery and expenditure on the Growth Deal 
Programme, in particular Transport and Housing and Regeneration activity.   

 
2.3 Following this workshop, at the Investment Committee on the 8 March 2017 it was 

agreed that each individual Authority should bring forward their priority 
transformational scheme for development through the WY+TF Transformational 
Fund. Since this time, three schemes were approved on 3 August 2017 by WYCA: 

 

 Wakefield MDC selected South Featherstone Link Road as their priority 
transformational scheme: £0.284m of funding has been allocated for a pre-
feasibility study to identify and evaluate options for a link road intended to by-
pass around Ackworth, Featherstone and Pontefract. 

 York City Council identified the York Outer Ring Road Dualling as their priority 
transformational scheme: £0.295m of funding has been allocated for pre-
feasibility study to identify and evaluate options for upgrading the A1237 
between the A64 at Askham Bar and A64 at Hopgrove to a dual carriageway. 

31

Agenda Item 7



 Kirklees MBC identified North Kirklees Orbital Route as their priority 
transformational scheme: £0.248m of funding has been allocated for a pre-
feasibility study to identify and evaluate options for a proposed 16.5km 
carriageway with an alignment proposed to follow the existing orientation of 
the A644 and A638 respectively and incorporate a new 9km section.   

 
2.4 In terms of the remaining Authorities: 
 

 City of Bradford MDC have submitted Bradford Interchange redevelopment as 
their priority scheme for development, and approval for £0.5m for the next 
stages of development are included within the capital approvals report. 

 Calderdale MBC, Leeds City Council and West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
are considering options for their priority schemes. 

2.5 Funding approvals for all these transformational priority schemes are being taken 
through the WYCA Assurance Process.  To date WYCA has approved £0.827m. 
Overall, it is expected that once all the Authorities have submitted schemes, between 
£2m to £2.5m of the total £12.5m WY+TF Transformational Project Fund will be 
allocated. 

 
 Proposed way forward  
 

2.6 To ensure this funding stream identifies the full future transformational pipeline of 
schemes which meet the aspirations of the region, it is proposed to build on the 
schemes already in development and also develop the broader strategic pipeline, 
based on the emerging conclusions of the LCR HS2 Connectivity Strategy.  

 
2.7 The LCR HS2 Connectivity Strategy will establish the major local and regional 

connectivity priorities which are required to enable and maximise growth associated 
with HS2 coming to the Leeds City Region.  The strategy has three emerging strands 
and stakeholder led public consultation is currently on-going1. The strands can be 
summarised as follows: 

 
a) Embracing technology to create an integrated network 

b) Continued Government support for delivering our existing transport priorities 

c) Delivering Inclusive Growth through transforming connectivity on the corridors 
where the economic need is greatest 

 
2.8 Through developing these strands, the funding will help create a clear pipeline of 

projects/interventions which form the priorities for the City Region. To achieve this, 
the funding will develop each strand but with a focus on strand (c) “Delivering Inclusive 
Growth through transforming connectivity on the corridors where the economic need 
is greatest”. For this strand, based on economic analysis, a set of priority corridors have 
been identified through careful analysis of a range of economic and transport 

                                                           
1 Further details on the LCR HS2 Connectivity Strategy and ongoing consultation can be found here: 
http://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/hs2growthstrategy/  

32

http://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/hs2growthstrategy/


indicators.  These corridors will connect major communities, including some of the 
most deprived to HS2.  Some corridors are pan-northern, others are regional and some 
are local to Leeds and Bradford, with the work expanded to include additional non-
Leeds/Bradford priority city region corridors. 

 
2.9 Following consideration of the details of the Strategy by Transport Committee in 

November, WYCA also considered the Strategy on 14 December 2017 and approved as 
the next stage of work development of the ‘Inclusive Growth Corridor Plans’ on a 
phased/staggered basis for each of these prioritised corridors.  

 
Inclusive Growth Corridor Plans 
 

2.10 Having defined the corridors which need the greatest intervention, we now plan to 
examine in detail the transformative solutions that are most suited to maximise the 
benefits and deliver value for money.  The principles for developing the ‘Inclusive 
Growth Corridor Plans’ will bring together bespoke proposals building on existing 
plans on each corridor to deliver the necessary infrastructure for growth.  The plans 
will cover housing and employment, flooding and social policy as well as the 
transformational connectivity and the opportunities around new technologies 
required to support each of these.  It is anticipated that the ‘Inclusive Growth 
Corridor Plans’ will: 

 Be locally-led, with strong partnerships including the local authority, 
communities and neighbourhood groups, city region, Transport for the North, 
other public bodies (such as housing, skills, health agencies and infrastructure 
providers) and others who can ensure plans are tailored to local circumstances 
and opportunities.  

 Identify how to create the sense of place with the available corridor space, 
through adopting a ‘healthy streets’ approach. 

 Be coordinated across the city region and pull together a compelling and 
transformative plan of action. Based on the social demographics and economic 
geography, each corridor will require bespoke solutions, timelines and business 
cases. This will integrate regeneration, land use and transformational transport 
schemes required in a short, medium and longer term.  

 Be accountable to local people for improving social and economic outcomes.  

 
2.11 Each corridor will be developed in the context of an overall network ambition.  This 

will embed the principles of the network and begin to develop investment plans which 
are needed to achieve the ambition.  Schemes which have been identified through the 
recent call for projects and are in scope for the prioritised corridors (for example, 
Huddersfield Gateway and York Masterplan) will be considered as part of the relevant 
Inclusive Growth Corridor Plans. 

 
2.12 The corridors defined here are only the start of the overall ambitious network solution. 

We are setting a bold ambition for the future network and will develop an incremental 
approach to achieving it.  Each corridor will require a bespoke solution and timeline for 

33



delivery.  Development of corridors will need to be prioritised, considering their value 
for money, deliverability and acceptability. Development of the corridors will 
phased/staggered during 2018, with the intention that by the end of financial year 
2018/19, the outputs of the work will set the clear pipeline of short, medium and 
longer term projects/interventions across each of the policies areas described above. 

 
2.13 From a transport perspective the choice of transport modes on each of these 

corridors will be influenced by a range of factors including the characteristics of each 
corridor, the potential to enhance the quality of the places within the corridor, the 
scale of capacity required and the city’s aspirations in terms of transformative 
impact.  A bespoke approach will be needed for each corridor – some may be better 
suited to rail or car, others to a blend of modes including city/mass transit and active 
modes to deliver the future capacity required. The corridors plans will also consider 
the opportunities for embracing new technologies. Delivering the capacity has to be 
achievable within the constraints of the geography – which will favour modes with 
higher space efficiency. In establishing the technology we will also need to look at the 
how we can improve the experience for the customer and improve the performance 
of the network. 

 
2.14 It is proposed that up to £7m is made available from the Transformational Fund to 

develop the LCR Connectivity Strategy Priority pipeline taking into account the recent 
call projects and Inclusive Growth Corridor Plans (Paras 2.6-2.13) and subject to 
approvals through the WYCA Assurance Process. Proposals to allocate the remaining 
£3m will be considered by a future meeting of the Investment Committee.  

 
3 Financial Implications 
 
3.1 The report seeks endorsement to expenditure from the available WYCA funding as 

set out in this report and in the recommendations. 
 
4 Legal Implications 
 
4.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report. 
 
5 Staffing Implications 
 
5.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report. 
 
6 External Consultees 
 
6.1 All districts across the Leeds City Region have been supporting WYCA in developing 

the LCR HS2 Connectivity Strategy. 
 
7 Recommendations 
 
7.1 The Investment Committee recommends that WYCA approves: 

34



 The revised approach for the West Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund 
Transformational Fund (as set out in section 3 of this report) 

 Capital expenditure of £7.00m is allocated for the WY+TF to develop the LCR 
Connectivity Strategy Priority pipeline taking into account the recent call 
projects and Inclusive Growth Corridor Plans (Paras 2.6-2.13) and that 
Expressions of Interest (Activity 1) be invited for consideration through the 
WYCA Assurance Process. 

 
8 Background Documents 
 
8.1 None. 
 

35



This page is intentionally left blank



Director: Melanie Corcoran, 
Director of Delivery 
Author: Cath Pinn 

 

 

Report to: West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee 

Date:  3 January 2018 

Subject: Capital Spending and Project Approvals 

 

1. Purpose 
 
1.1. To put forward proposals for the progression of, and funding for, a number of WYCA 

supported projects, including West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund (WY+TF) and 
Growth Deal, for consideration by the Investment Committee at Stages 1, 2 and 3 of 
WYCA’s Assurance process. 

 
1.2. This report presents proposals for the progression of six schemes through WYCA’s 

Assurance Process in line with the Leeds City Region Assurance Framework.  These 
schemes have a total combined funding value of £20.731m1 when fully approved, 
£17.062m of which will be funded by WYCA. A total expenditure recommendation to 
the value of £0.657m is sought as part of this report for the development and 
delivery of these schemes. Further detail on the schemes summarised below can be 
found as part of this report. 
 

Bradford Interchange 
Phase 1 
 
Bradford Scheme 

Decision Point 2 (Case Paper) 
Total Value - £5.650m 
Total Value of WYCA Funding - £5.650m 
Funding Recommendation sought – £0.100m 

A scheme to carry out short to medium term works 
to improve both the looks and usability of Bradford 
Interchange (a combined rail, bus and coach 
station in central Bradford). 

Bradford Interchange 
Phase 2 
Bradford Scheme 

Decision Point 2 (Case Paper) 
Total Value - £0.512m 
Total Value of WYCA Funding - £0.512m 
Funding Recommendation sought – £0.512m 

A proposal to carry out pre-feasibility works for 
Phase 2 of the Bradford Interchange Scheme.  This 
will inform, identify and assess the options 
available in order to develop the Interchange into a 
high quality gateway to the city. 

Project Beta 
 
Leeds Scheme 

Decision Point 2 (Case Paper) 
Total Value – Exempt information 
Total Value of WYCA Funding - £3.000m 
Funding Recommendation sought – £0m 

A scheme that will lead to the establishment of a 
new UK based drug manufacturing facility in the 
Leeds Enterprise zone 

Natural Flood 
Management 
Programme 
 
Leeds City Region-wide 
scheme 

Decision Point 3 (Outline Business Case) 
Total Value - £3.801m 
Total Value of WYCA Funding - £1.700m 
Funding Recommendation sought – £0.045m 

A programme of small projects to implement 
natural flood management measures (such as 
increased woodland cover and run-off attenuation 
measures) within prioritised sub-catchment areas 
of the rivers Aire, Calder, Colne and Holme. 

                                                           
1 This figure does not include the total value for Project Beta, this includes the WYCA Grant funding 

value only.  The total project value figure is exempt under Paragraph 3 of Part 1 to Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972 as it contains information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information).   

 

37

Agenda Item 8



Wyke Beck Valley 
Flood Alleviation 
 
Leeds scheme 

Decision Point 4 (Full Business Case) 
Total Value – 4.168m 
Total Value of WYCA Funding - £2.600m 
Funding Recommendation sought – £0 

A project to manage flood risk and develop green 
infrastructure to the Wyke Beck Valley River 
Catchment area. 

York Outer Ring Road 
Junction 
 
York scheme 

Decision Point 4 (Full Business Case) 
Total Value - £3.600m 
Total Value of WYCA Funding - £3.600m 
Funding Recommendation sought – £0 

A scheme to deliver improvements to the York 
Outer Ring Road / Wetherby Road Roundabout 

 
1.3. This report also presents recommendations for the following schemes that have had 

Change Request reports assessed in line with WYCA’s Assurance Process.  A total 
expenditure recommendation to the value of £0.637m is sought, as part of this 
report, for the development and delivery of these schemes.  This report 
recommends that following consideration and recommendation by Investment 
Committee a decision on these schemes will be sought via a delegation to WYCA’s 
Managing Director.  This approval route is proposed, as the funding approvals 
requested (for ULEV Taxi Scheme, A62 Cooper Bridge, Steeton & Silsden and Shipley 
Rail Station Car Parks) are to bring funding forward without a forecasted increase to 
total project costs.  Hebden Bridge Rail Park and Ride scheme requests a small total 
funding increase, so it is judged that it is appropriate to seek approval through the 
delegation to WYCA’s Managing Director following consideration by Investment 
Committee.  Further detail on the schemes summarised below can be found as part 
of this report. 

 

ULEV Taxi Scheme 
 
West Yorkshire scheme 

Activity 3 (Outline Business Case) Change 
Request 
Total Value - £3.180m 
Total Value of WYCA Funding - £3.180m 
Funding Recommendation sought – £0.155m 

A scheme to deliver electric charging points for use 
by taxis in each of the West Yorkshire districts. 

A62 Cooper Bridge 
 
Kirklees scheme 

Activity 3 (Outline Business Case) Change 
Request 
Total Value - £77.000m 
Total Value of WYCA Funding - £69.000m 
Funding Recommendation sought – £0.250m 

A scheme to deliver large-scale junction 
improvements at the Cooper Bridge Roundabout 
on the A62. 

Steeton and Silsden 
and Shipley  Rail 
Station Car Parks 
Bradford Scheme 

Activity 5 (Full Business Case with Finalised 
Costs) Change Request 
Total Value - £5.080m 
Total Value of WYCA Funding - £5.080m 
Funding Recommendation sought – £0.166m 

A project that will deliver an increase in car parking 
capacity at Steeton and Silsden and Shipley Rail 
Stations. 

Hebden Bridge Rail 
Park and Ride 
 
Calderdale scheme 

Activity 6 (Delivery) Change Request 
Total Value - £0.648m 
Total Value of WYCA Funding - £0.648m 
Funding Recommendation sought – £0.066m 

A project that will deliver an increase in car parking 
capacity at Hebden Bridge Rail Station. 

 
1.4. Since Investment Committee’s meeting on 9 November 2017, decisions regarding the 

following schemes have been exercised through agreed delegation to WYCA’s 
Managing Director.  These schemes have a total combined funding value of 
£23.312m when fully approved, £13.865m of this amount will be funded by WYCA 
with the remainder being funded from private sector contributions.  A total 
expenditure recommendation to the value of £13.8650m was sought for the 
development and delivery of these schemes. 

 

38



Cycle City Ambition Grant Phase 2 - 
Individual schemes 
 
Wakefield and York Projects 

Decision Point 5 (Full Business Case 
with Finalised Costs) 
Total Value - £3.861m 
Total Value of WYCA Funding - 
£3.861m 
Funding Recommendation sought – 
£3.861m 

Three further schemes within phase 2 
of the Cycle City Ambition Grant to 
develop cycling infrastructure in the 
York and Wakefield districts. 

Access Innovation Programme 
 
Leeds City Region Wide Scheme 

Decision Point 5 (Full Business Case 
with Finalised Costs) 
Total Value - £9.174m 
Total Value of WYCA Funding - 
£4.749m 
Funding Recommendation sought – 
£4.749m 

A grant programme designed to 
support innovation activity by SMEs in 
the Leeds City Region. 

Strategic Business Growth Programme 
 
Leeds City Region Wide Scheme 

Decision Point 5 (Full Business Case 
with Finalised Costs) 
Total Value - £7.058m 
Total Value of WYCA Funding - 
£3.146m 
Funding Recommendation sought – 
£3.146m 

A grant programme designed to 
support SMEs operating within priority 
sectors to grow through providing an 
integrated package of support. 

Rail Park and Ride Phase 1 – Mirfield (A) 
 
Kirklees Scheme 

Decision Point 5 (Full Business Case 
with Finalised Costs) 
Total Value - £0.309m 
Total Value of WYCA Funding - 
£0.309m 
Funding Recommendation sought – 
£0.309m 

A project that will deliver an increase in 
car parking capacity at Mirfield Rail 
Station. 

Leeds City Region Warm Homes Fund 
 
Leeds City Region Wide Scheme 

Decision Point 5 (Full Business Case 
with Finalised Costs) 
Total Value - £2.910m 
Total Value of WYCA Funding - 
£1.620m 
Funding Recommendation sought – 
£1.620m 

A grant fund programme to deliver 
central heating systems and gas 
connections to fuel poor households in 
Leeds City Region. 

 
1.5. Since Investment Committee’s meeting on 9 November 2017, the following change 

requests have been assessed in line with WYCA’s Assurance Process and approved 
through agreed delegation to WYCA’s Managing Director.  A total expenditure 
recommendation to the value of £0.075m is sought, as part of this report, for the 
development and delivery of these schemes: 

 

Corridor Improvement Programme 
 
West Yorkshire Wide Scheme 

Activity 3 (Outline Business Case) 
Change Request 
Total Value of Phase 1 – £71.240m  
Total Value of WYCA funding for 
Phase 1 – £65.927m  
Funding Recommendation sought - 
£0.075m 

An additional scheme at Owl Lane 
Roundabout in Wakefield added into 
Phase 1 of the Programme, which will 
deliver reduced congestion and support 
removal of economic growth 
constraints 

LEP Loan 201 – Glasshoughton 
 
Wakefield Scheme 

Activity 6 (Delivery) Change Request 
Approval to vary the Works Longstop 
Date 

A project to develop a previous colliery 
site through providing site remediation. 

 

39



1.6. The Leeds City Region Warm Homes Fund and WYCA Website project both at 
Decision Point 2 (Case Paper) proceeded directly to WYCA ahead of consideration by 
the Investment Committee due to the nature and/or time constraints related to their 
funding stream. Projects to the total forecast value of £3.210m, of which £1.920m 
will be funded by WYCA, were approved by WYCA on 14 December 2017.  A summary 
of these WYCA decisions is provided in the following report. 

 
2. Information 
 
2.1. Investment Committee will recall that WYCA has a three stage Assurance Process as 

set out below with the requirement that all projects will as a minimum need to 
formally pass Decision Points 2 and 5, highlighted in green below, and with the 
requirement to meet the intervening activities deemed on a project by project basis. 

 

 
 
2.2. The Programme Appraisal Team (PAT) appraises all schemes at the Decision Points.  

The PAT is an internal assurance group and has no formal approval making powers, 
they make recommendations which are then reported through the current WYCA 
governance arrangements for a formal decision/approval.  The PAT consists of a 
panel of officers representing policy, legal, financial, assurance and delivery 
supplemented with external experts.  Where conflict of interest issues arise during a 
meeting e.g. scheme comes forward for discussion which a member of the PAT is the 
Senior Responsible Officer for, the SRO will not take part in the discussion and 
agreeing of recommendations and in the case of the chair will leave the meeting and 
won’t be part of any discussions and recommendations in relation to their scheme. 
The scheme promoters from the District Councils or Partner Delivery organisations 
attend the meeting to introduce the scheme and answer questions from PAT as 
required.  The Terms of Reference for the PAT are contained within the Assurance 
Framework.  

 
2.3. Projects at the Pipeline Eligibility stage are seeking entry into the portfolio and should 

demonstrate a strategic fit in terms of project outcomes, meet funding criteria and 
have available funding identified with further project definition including costs and 
detailed timescales to be developed as the project progresses through the pipeline.  
At this stage development funding may be sought to enable this work to progress. 
 

2.4. Projects at Pipeline Development Stage should demonstrate that that they have 
tested the feasibility of a solution through their business case.  This business case 
should then be developed in order to confirm and detail the preferred solution 
including finalising its cost. 

 
2.5. Once in Delivery and Evaluation the scheme is delivered and WYCA funding is drawn 

down.  When delivery is completed a review is carried out to ensure that the scheme 

40



has met all its requirements and outputs in accordance with its Funding Agreement. 
Finally information about a scheme’s performance following its completion is 
collected, in order to evaluate the success of the scheme. 
 
Programmes and Projects for Consideration 

 
3. Projects in Stage 1: Pipeline Eligibility 
 

 
 

3.1. Bradford Interchange Phase 1 and Phase 2 Schemes 
 
The following two schemes have been developed and appraised as two separate 
Expressions of Interest, however they are linked in that Phase 1 is the shorter term 
scheme, and Phase 2 represents the longer term aspirations for Bradford 
Interchange. 
 

3.2. Bradford Interchange Phase 1 Scheme (Decision Point 2 Case Paper) 
 

Background 
 
Bradford Interchange Phase 1 Scheme seeks to carry out short to medium term non-
abortive works to improve the look and usability of the Interchange which is currently 
used by 6 million bus passengers and 3 million rail users each year. 
 
The scheme has the following objectives:  
 

 Delivery of an improved gateway environment on arrival into the city of 
Bradford - Most critical to this goal is the removal of vehicular movements from 
the main Bridge Street entrance into the interchange.  This will in turn facilitate 
the creation of a pedestrianised station frontage to provide an improved user 
experience. 
 

 Reorientation of taxi and drop off facilities – in order to create the above 
gateway, those vehicles which currently dominate the station frontage would 
require an alternative provision.  This alternative should in itself be attractive to 
both customers and the taxi operators.    
 

 Improvements to station concourses – as is the case with the Bridge Street 
frontage, the concourse environments do not provide a fitting customer 
experience for a station of this scale.   
 

 Improved intermodal connectivity within the station site – the improved 
interchange must provide improved user experiences in passing between 

41



modes.  This would include both interchange between rail and bus, public 
transport and taxi as well as coaches and the aforementioned modes.   

 

Funding is now being sought by Bradford Council of £0.100m to refine the potential 
solutions to an Outline Business Case (Activity 3) and demonstrate that the above 
objectives are achievable within the forecast total indicative scheme cost of £5.65m. 
Any works undertaken are seeking to be non-abortive given that longer term 
transformational (Phase 2 and 3) works will at future stages bring further significant 
changes to this site.  
 
A summary of the Scheme’s Business Case is included in Appendix 1. 

 
Costs 
 

The scheme has an existing approval of £0.080m which funded pre-feasibility works.  
 
The total scheme cost is forecast to be £5.65m, which would be funded entirely from 
the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund. 
 
The scheme promoters require a further £0.100m of development funding to cover 
the cost of undertaking further feasibility work to determine scope and costs of the 
scheme including stakeholder engagement and preliminary design works, and outline 
business case preparation in order to take the scheme to Decision Point 3. 

 
Timescales 

 

 An Outline Business Case submission is programmed for September 2018/19.  

 Full Business Case plus Finalised Costs (Decision Point 5) for June -September 
2019/20. 

 Start on site September 2019/20 with completion December 2020/21. 
 

Assurance Pathway and Approval Route 
 

The table below outlines the proposed Assurance Process and corresponding 
Approval Route for this scheme.  The Assurance Pathway sets out the Decision Points 
which the scheme must progress through and will reflect the scale and complexity of 
the scheme.  The Approval Route indicates which Committees or Officers will make 
both a recommendation and approval of the scheme at each Decision Point.  A 
delegated decision can only be made by the Managing Director if this has received 
prior approval from WYCA. 

 

Assurance Pathway Approval Route 

Decision Point 2 
(Case Paper) 

 Recommendation  - Investment Committee 

 Approval – WYCA 

Decision Point 3 
(Outline Business Case) 

 Recommendation – Investment Committee 

 Approval - Delegation to WYCA Managing Director 

  

42



Decision Point 5 
(Full Business Case with 
Finalised Costs) 

 Recommendation  - Investment Committee 

 Approval – WYCA 

 
Tolerances 
 
In order for the scheme to follow the Assurance Pathway and Approval Route that 
are proposed in this report, it should remain within the following tolerances.  If these 
tolerances are exceeded the scheme needs to return to Investment Committee 
and/or WYCA for further consideration: 

 

 That total project costs will remain within 10% of the total project costs 
outlined in this report. 

 That the project delivery timescales will remain within 3 months of the agreed 
programme set out in this report. 

Project Responsibilities 
 
Senior Responsible Officer: Julian Jackson, City of Bradford MBC 
Project Manager: Tom Jones, City of Bradford MBC 
WYCA Case Officer:  Helen Friedrichsen 

 
Recommendations 
 
That Investment Committee recommends to WYCA:  
 

 That the Bradford Interchange Phase 1 project proceeds through Decision Point 
2 and work commences on Activity 3 (Outline Business Case) of the Assurance 
process. 

 That an indicative approval to the total project value of up to £5.65m is given to 
be funded from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund, with Full Approval to 
spend being granted once the scheme has progressed through the Assurance 
Process to Decision Point 5 (FBC with Finalised Costs). 

 That further development costs of up to £0.100m are approved in order to 
progress the scheme to Decision Point 3 (Outline Business Case) taking the total 
project approval to £0.180m, and that WYCA enter into an addendum to the 
existing funding agreement with City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council 
for total expenditure of up to £0.180m from the West Yorkshire plus Transport 
Fund. 

 That future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway and 
Approval Route set out in this Case Paper.  This will be subject to the scheme 
remaining within the tolerances outlined in this Case Paper. 

 

 

43



3.3. Bradford Interchange Phase 2 – Pre-feasibility Option Development (Decision Point 
2 Case Paper) 
 

Background 
 
This project relates exclusively to the pre-feasibility work required to gain an 
understanding of the Phase 2 options for Bradford Interchange.   
 
The Bradford Interchange site comprises a rail station, a bus station, a shared 
concourse with travel centres operated by West Yorkshire Combined Authority and 
Network Rail, as well as car parks, taxi rank and retail premises.  The Interchange, 
built in the 1970s, with incremental additions over the years requires investment to 
achieve a high quality contemporary gateway and arrival point to the city of 
Bradford.  The site is on multi levels and this impedes the interchange between 
different modes of transport at the site.   
 
Given the complexity of the Interchange site and the need to develop a high quality 
gateway that will have a lasting positive impact on the city, Phase 2 requires a 
thorough assessment of the potential options and their impacts.  Crucial to this 
option development work is the requirement to minimise abortive works, both in 
relation to short term works being progressed through Phase 1 and in light of the 
continuing possibility of a Northern Powerhouse Rail station future for the 
interchange site. 
 
The purpose of this project, sought under the Transformational Fund of the West 
Yorkshire plus Transport Fund, is to undertake required structural surveys (to the NCP 
building and Bus Deck) and transport surveys, to gather as much technical knowledge 
about the site.  It also seeks to carry out options master-planning on Phases 2A, 2B 
and 2C and stakeholder engagement to select a preferred option for the site.  This 
approval does not cover the development of any scheme resulting from this pre-
feasibility work or provide any indicative agreement to funding this scheme.  The 
resulting scheme will need to be proceed separately through the WYCA Assurance 
Process if and when a funding source is identified. 
 
A summary of the Scheme’s Business Case is included in Appendix 2. 

 
Costs 
 
A funding approval is sought for £0.512m towards pre-feasibility works in order to 
select a preferred strategic option for Bradford Interchange Phase 2 and inform an 
updated Expression of Interest.  
 
Timescales 
 
This pre-feasibility work is due to be completed in early 2019/20. 

 
 

44



Assurance Pathway and Approval Route 
 
The table below outlines the proposed Assurance Process and corresponding 
Approval Route for this scheme.  The Assurance Pathway sets out the Decision Points 
which the scheme must progress through and will reflect the scale and complexity of 
the scheme.  The Approval Route indicate which Committees or Officers will make 
both a recommendation and approval of the scheme at each Decision Point.  A 
delegated decision can only be made by the Managing Director if this has received 
prior approval from WYCA. 

 

Assurance Pathway Approval Route 

Pre-feasibility Works as part of 
Decision Point 2 
 (Case Paper) 

Recommendation  - Investment Committee 
Approval – WYCA 

 
Tolerances 
 
In order for the scheme to follow the Assurance Pathway and Approval Route that 
are proposed in this report, it should remain within the following tolerances. If these 
tolerances are exceeded the scheme needs to return to Investment Committee 
and/or WYCA for further consideration: 
 

 That total project costs will remain within 10% of the total project costs 
outlined in this report. 

 That the project delivery timescales will remain within 3 months of the agreed 
programme set out in this report. 

 
Project Responsibilities 
 
Senior Responsible Officer: Julian Jackson, City of Bradford MBC 
Project Manager: Tom Jones, City of Bradford MBC 
WYCA Case Officer:  Helen Friedrichsen 

 
Recommendations 
 
That Investment Committee recommends to WYCA: 
 

 That approval is given to £0.512m pre-feasibility funding from the WY+TF 
Transformational Projects Fund to support the selection of a preferred option 
for progressing Phase 2 of this project and that WYCA enter into a Funding 
Agreement with City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council for expenditure 
of up to £0.512m from the WY+TF Transformational Projects Fund. 

 
 
 
 

45



3.4. Project Beta (Decision Point 2 Case Paper) 
 
Background 
 
Project Beta relates to an application from a company seeking support to establish a 
new UK based, drug manufacturing facility.  Subject to regulatory approval these 
drugs could treat a wide range of difficult to treat human conditions, particularly in 
children.  The Leeds Enterprise Zone was put forward as a location for this company 
and detailed dialogue has taken place with Leeds City Council and the LEP about 
funding to help to support the project.  The scale of investment required will require 
a combination of funding which may involve both WYCA, Leeds City Council and 
Government alongside any private investment to secure the development.  The 
company is expected to make a final decision shortly about their preferred location in 
the UK.  The plant could create c£1bn growth each year for the city region and rates 
estimated at c£1m per annum which will be retained by the LEP until 2037. 
 
At the meeting of WYCA on 2 February 2017, Project Beta was accepted as a good 
strategic fit with the Strategic Economic Plan and it was accepted into the pipeline 
and approved to continue to Activity 4 (Full Business Case) of the Assurance 
Framework in order to define the amount of funding required and the details of the  
Project.  At that point in its development the level of financial support requested by 
the applicant differed considerably from the current level of support requested which 
is set out in this report.  The company now requests a £3m grant, which is seen as an 
important part of a wider regional offer to the applicant to enable the company to 
commit to locating the facility in Leeds.  In response to this change to the project, 
support in principle was sought from Investment Committee in November and WYCA 
in December 2017 to the revised request, which was provided. 
 
As a result of the level of change to the support request from the applicant, it has 
been decided that the project will be appraised as a new project through the WYCA 
Assurance Process and as result has now been submitted as an Expression of Interest 
(Decision Point 1) and appraised via a Case Paper.  As a result the Investment 
Committee are now requested to consider the scheme at Decision Point 2 (Case 
Paper). 
 
Due to the confidential nature of the proposals relating to Project Beta and the non-
disclosure agreement signed between WYCA and the applicant, it is necessary to 
provide the further detail to support the recommendations in this report via an 
exempt appendix.  This is provided in Exempt Appendix 11 
 
The company now requests a £3m grant, which is seen as an important part of a 
wider regional offer to the applicant to enable the company to commit to locating 
the facility in Leeds.  
 
 
 
 

46



Costs 
 
A grant of £3m is sought from the Strategic Inward Investment Fund (SIIF), which is a 
Growth Deal programme supporting large firms to locate in the City Region. 
 
Timescales 
 
The project milestones are as follows: 
 

 Expression of Interest approved by WYCA   February 2018 

 Full Business Case submitted     March 2018 

 Full Business Case approval (Decision Point 5)   July 2018 

 Construction of facility commences     January 2019 

 Facility constructed (Decision Point 6)    May 2020 

 Commercial production commences    February 2021 
 
Assurance Pathway and Approval Route 
 
The table below outlines the proposed Assurance Process and corresponding 
Approval Route for this scheme.  The Assurance Pathway sets out the Decision Points 
which the scheme must progress through and will reflect the scale and complexity of 
the scheme.  The Approval Route indicate which Committees or Officers will make 
both a recommendation and approval of the scheme at each Decision Point.  A 
delegated decision can only be made by the Managing Director if this has received 
prior approval from WYCA. 
 

Assurance Pathway Approval Route 

Decision Point 2 
(Case Paper) 

Recommendation  - Investment Committee 
Approval – WYCA  

Decision Point 4 
(Full Business Case) 

Recommendation – Programme Appraisal Team 
Approval – Delegated to WYCA’s Managing Director 

Decision Point 5 
(Full Business Case with 
Finalised Costs) 

Recommendation – Programme Appraisal Team 
Approval – Delegated to WYCA’s Managing Director 

 
Tolerances 
 
In order for the scheme to follow the Assurance Pathway and Approval Route that 
are proposed in this report, it should remain within the following tolerances. If these 
tolerances are exceeded the scheme needs to return to Investment Committee 
and/or WYCA for further consideration: 
 

 That the WYCA Grant Funding should remain within £3m. 

 That the delivery programme should remain within 3 months of the timescales 
set out in this report. 

 Should the risks set out in the Exempt Appendix 11 materialise. 

 Should the benefits set out in the Exempt Appendix 11 not materialise. 

47



Project Responsibilities 
 
Senior Responsible Officer: David Shepherd (WYCA) 
WYCA Lead Office:  David Moore (WYCA) 
WYCA Case Officer: Chris Maunder 
 
Recommendations 
 
That Investment Committee recommends to WYCA that: 

 Project Beta proceeds through Decision Point 2 and work commences on 
Activity 4 (Full Business Case). 

 An indicative approval to the proposed grant funding award of £3m is given, to 
be funded from the Strategic Inward Investment Fund, with Full Approval to 
expenditure being granted once the scheme has progressed through the 
Assurance Process to Decision Point 5 (FBC with Finalised Costs). 

 Future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway and 
Approval Route outlined in this report. This will be subject to the scheme 
remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

 
Projects in Stage 2: Pipeline Development 
 

 
 
 
3.5. Leeds City Region Natural Flood Management Scheme (Decision Point 3 Outline 

Business Case) 
 

Background 
 
AT WYCA’s meeting on the 29 June 2017, the Leeds City Region Flood Alleviation for 
Growth Programme received Decision Point 2 (Case Paper) approval.  The 
Programme had a total forecast value of £77m, which included a £20m funding 
contribution from WYCA.  The programme contained a programme of flood risk 
management projects to improve the resilience of businesses in the parts of the 
Leeds City Region which are currently affected by high flood risk.  It was agreed that 
the programme’s projects would proceed through WYCA’s Assurance Process on an 
individual basis, returning to Investment Committee for recommendation at either 
Decision Point 3 (Outline Business Case) or Decision Point 4 (Full Business Case), 
whichever was most appropriate to the scheme.  The Leeds City Region Natural Flood 
Management Scheme is one of the identified projects from the programme. 
The project encompasses a pipeline of small projects and is being developed by Local 
Authorities, Catchment Partnerships, Yorkshire Dales National Park Authority, 

48



Yorkshire Wildlife Trust, White Rose Forest and Yorkshire Water initiative to 
implement natural flood management measures within prioritised sub-catchment 
areas of the rivers Aire, Calder, Colne and Holme.  The Local Growth Fund 
contribution will deliver a range of outcomes including increased woodland cover and 
run off attenuation measures within upper catchment areas to reduce flow rates. 
This will provide long term benefits for the urban centres and Leeds City Region 
Spatial Priority Areas downstream, as well as providing additional benefits like 
increased biodiversity, recreation, tourism activity and contributions to WYCA’s 
target of a zero carbon economy. 

 

A summary of the Scheme’s Business Case is included in Appendix 3. 
 

Costs 
 
The forecast total scheme cost is £3.801m, which will be funded through £1.700m of 
WYCA funding, other public sector investment of £2.08m and other private sector 
investment of £0.021m.   
 
Development cost funding of £0.045m is requested in order to progress development 
of the Colne and Calder element of the scheme through Decision Points 4 and 5 (Full 
Business Case and Full Business Case with Finalised Costs). 

 

Timescales 
 
Full Business Case with Finalised Costs (Decision Point 5) to be approved by July 2018 
Full Delivery of works (Decision Point 6) to be completed by December 2020.  

 

Assurance Pathway and Approval Route 
 
The table below outlines the proposed Assurance Process and corresponding 
Approval Route for this scheme.  The Assurance Pathway sets out the Decision Points 
which the scheme must progress through and will reflect the scale and complexity of 
the scheme.  The Approval Route indicate which Committees or Officers will make 
both a recommendation and approval of the scheme at each Decision Point.  A 
delegated decision can only be made by the Managing Director if this has received 
prior approval from WYCA. 

 

Assurance Pathway Approval Route 

Decision Point 3 
(Outline Business Case) 

Recommendation - Investment Committee 
Approval - WYCA 

Decision Point 4 
(Full Business Case) 

Recommendation – Programme Appraisal Team 
Approval - A delegated decision by the Managing 
Director 

Decision Point 5 
(Full Business Case with 
Finalised Costs) 

Recommendation – Programme Appraisal Team 
Approval - A delegated decision by the Managing 
Director 

 
 

49



Tolerances 
 
In order for the scheme to follow the Assurance Pathway and Approval Route that 
are proposed in this report, it should remain within the following tolerances. If these 
tolerances are exceeded the scheme needs to return to Investment Committee 
and/or WYCA for further consideration: 
 

 That total project costs will remain within 10% of the total project costs 
outlined in this report. 

 That the project delivery timescales will remain within 3 months of the agreed 
programme set out in this report. 

Project Responsibilities 
 
Senior Responsible Officer: Simon Taylor, Kirklees Council 
Project Manager:  Guy Thompson, Kirklees Council, Daisy Johnson, WYCA 
WYCA Case Officer: Paul Coy  

 
Recommendations 
 
That Investment Committee recommends to WYCA: 
 

 That the LCR Pilot Natural Flood Management Programme proceeds through 
Decision Point 3 and work commences on Activity 4 (Full Business Case). 

 That an indicative approval to WYCA’s contribution of £1.700m (which will be 
funded through from the Local Growth Deal 3 fund) is given with Full Approval 
to spend being granted once the scheme has progressed through the Assurance 
Process to Decision Point 5 (FBC with Finalised Costs). The total project value is 
£3.801m. 

 That development costs of £0.045m are approved in order to progress the 
scheme to Decision Point 4 and that WYCA enter into a Funding Agreement for 
expenditure of up to £0.045m from the Local Growth Deal Fund. 

 That future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway and 
Approval Route set out in this report, including at Decision Point 5 through a 
delegation to WYCA’s Managing Director following a recommendation by 
WYCA’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme 
remaining within the tolerances outline in this report. 

3.6. Wyke Beck Valley Flood Alleviation (Decision Point 4 Full Business Case) 
 

Background 
 
AT WYCA’s meeting on the 29 June 2017, the Leeds City Region Flood Alleviation for 
Growth Programme received Decision Point 2 (Case Paper) approval.  The 
Programme had a total forecast value of £77m, which included a £20m funding 
contribution from WYCA.  The programme contained a programme of flood risk 
management projects to improve the resilience of businesses in parts of the Leeds 

50



City Region which are currently affected by high flood risk.  It was agreed that the 
Programme’s projects would proceed through WYCA’s Assurance Process on an 
individual basis, returning to Investment Committee for recommendation at either 
Decision Point 3 (Outline Business Case) or Decision Point 4 (Full Business Case), 
whichever was most appropriate to the scheme.  The Wyke Beck Valley Flood 
Alleviation Scheme is one of the identified projects from the programme. 
 
The Wyke Beck watercourse starts at Waterloo Lake in Roundhay Park in north Leeds 
and flows through the east of the city, into the Aire Valley Enterprise Zone, before 
joining with the river Aire, south-east of the city centre. 
 
The Wyke Beck valley river catchment has a long history of flooding and drainage 
issues. Leeds City Council (LCC) in partnership with the Environment Agency (EA) have 
developed a plan to address these issues in order to meet strategic priorities for 
Leeds City Region in particular managing flood risk and sustaining green 
infrastructure.  A catchment wide approach has been taken, as sought in the Leeds 
City Region Flood Review.  The three independent but complementary schemes are 
all situated within Local Nature Reserves associated with Wyke Beck and provide 
multiple benefits. 
 
The Wyke Beck Valley is also an extremely important green corridor for wildlife 
having several unique Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) Priority Habitats of high 
ecological value.  Habitats of moderate to high ecological value within the valley 
include a number of semi-natural, broad-leaved woodlands (Lowland Mixed 
Deciduous Woodland UK BAP Priority Habitat) with an extensive distribution of 
woodland ground flora species indicating their value as long-established, semi-
natural woodland. 
 
A number of species-rich hedgerows have been identified within the valley 
(Hedgerows UK BAP Priority Habitat).  These hedgerows are of high ecological value 
acting as important corridor links between the sites and providing habitat 
opportunities for many species of plants and animals.  
 
White-clawed crayfish has a breeding population within the Wyke Beck. Six species of 
bat have been recorded foraging within the Valley.  Many birds listed as UK and Local 
BAP Priority Species and birds listed on the red and amber list of Birds of 
Conservation Concern have also been recorded in the Valley. This project will help to 
secure the future of these valuable habitats. 

 
A summary of the Scheme’s Business Case is included in Appendix 4. 

 
Costs 
 
The forecast total project outturn costs is £4.168m. 
The WYCA Funding contribution is up to £2.600m.  
The remainder of the project costs will be funded from Section 106 developer 
contribution, and district funding through the Local levy. 

51



 
Timescales 
 
It is forecast that the project will be approved for Full Business Case with Finalised 
Costs in February 2018 (following WYCA’s anticipated approval of Decision Point 4 on 
1 February) and should be ready to commence delivery by February 2018 depending 
on all the relevant approvals. Delivery is programmed for completion (Decision Point 
6) in October 2019. 

 
Assurance Pathway and Approval Route 
 
The table below outlines the proposed Assurance Process and corresponding 
Approval Route for this scheme. The Assurance Pathway sets out the Decision Points 
which the scheme must progress through and will reflect the scale and complexity of 
the scheme. The Approval Route indicate which Committees or Officers will make 
both a recommendation and approval of the scheme at each Decision Point.  A 
delegated decision can only be made by the Managing Director if this has received 
prior approval from WYCA. 

 

Assurance Pathway Approval Route 

Decision Point 4 
(Full Business Case ) 

Recommendation - Investment Committee  
Approval - WYCA 

Decision Point 5 
(Full Business Case with 
Finalised Costs) 

Recommendation – Programme Appraisal Team 
Approval – A delegated decision by WYCA’s Managing 
Director 

 
Tolerances 
 
In order for the scheme to follow the Assurance Pathway and Approval Route that 
are proposed in this report, it should remain within the following tolerances.  If these 
tolerances are exceeded the scheme needs to return to Investment Committee 
and/or WYCA for further consideration: 

 

 The WYCA contribution should remain within £2.600m 

 The delivery programme should remain within 3 months of the timescales set 
out in this report. 

Project Responsibilities 
 
Senior Responsible Officer: Adam Brannen, Leeds City Council 
Project Manager: Daisy Johnson, WYCA & Jason Green, Leeds City Council 
WYCA Case Officer: Paul Coy 

 
Recommendations 
 
That Investment Committee recommends to WYCA: 
 

52



 That the Wyke Beck Valley Flood Alleviation Project proceeds through Decision 
Point 4 and work commences on Activity 5 (Full Business Case with Finalised 
Costs). 

 That an indicative approval to WYCA’s contribution of £2.600m (which will be 
funded through from the Local Growth Deal 3 fund) is given with Full Approval 
to spend being granted once the scheme has progressed through the Assurance 
Process to Decision Point 5 (FBC with Finalised Costs). 

 That future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway and 
Approval Route set out in this report, including at Decision Point 5 through a 
delegation to WYCA’s Managing Director following a recommendation by 
WYCA’s Programme Appraisal Team.  This will be subject to the scheme 
remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 
 

3.7. York Outer Ring Road – Phase 1 (Full Business Case Decision Point 4) 
 

Background 
 
The A1237 York Outer Ring Road (YORR) has been the subject of a comprehensive 
and long-term strategy to review and develop junction improvements at identified 
roundabouts along the route to improve and reduce journey times on this heavily 
congested route. 
 
The YORR Upgrade project includes improvements to 7 existing Outer Ring Road 
roundabouts between the Wetherby Road and Monks Cross junctions.  The aim is to, 
where possible, upgrade junctions to a similar standard as the recently enhanced A19 
and A59 roundabouts: i.e. approaches widened to 3 lanes, exits widened to 2 lanes, 
minor arm approaches widened to suit traffic flows, provision of walking and cycling 
improvements (including accommodation for future orbital and radial routes where 
possible). 
 
In order to deliver the YORR strategy it is proposed that it is delivered in a number of 
phases. Improvements to the roundabout at the junction of the A1237 and B1224 
Wetherby Road will be delivered as Phase 1 of the YORR strategy. The proposed 
measures at this roundabout are: 
 
• A1237 approaches widened to three lanes; 

• A1237 exits widened to two lanes; 

• Enlarge ICD of roundabout; 

• Lane designations reallocated; and 

• Minor arm amendments, including widening and lane remarking. 

The YORR programme achieved Gateway 1 approval (equivalent to Decision Point 3 
Outline Business Case in the WYCA Assurance Process) at WYCA on 12 December 
2014.  The Gateway 1 approval allocated an indicative budget of £37.6m to the total 
programme. 

53



 
The remaining phases of the York Outer Ring Road project are yet to be fully defined 
and each phase will be submitted for a recommendation by Investment Committee at 
Full Business Case (Decision Point 4). 
 
A summary of the Scheme’s Business Case is included in Appendix 5. 

 
Costs 
 
Forecast total outturn costs for Phase 1 of the scheme are £3.6m. These will be 
confirmed at Decision Point 5 (Full Business Case with Finalised Costs).  Project costs 
up to £3.6m will be funded by WYCA from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund. 

 
The YORR programme has a current approval of £2.450m to fund development of the 
YORR programme as a whole.  No further development funding request is made as 
part of this report.  The Phase 1 Full Business Case notes that the programme outturn 
costs are currently estimated to be £38.926m with WYCA funding of £38.276m 
required. 

 
Timescales 
 
The current programme shows Decision Point 5 approval in March 2018, and a start 
on site in March to June 2018/19, with completion in September to December 
2018/19. 

 
Assurance Pathway and Approval Route 
 
The table below outlines the proposed future Assurance Process and corresponding 
Approval Route for this scheme.  The Assurance Pathway sets out the Decision Points 
which the scheme must progress through and will reflect the scale and complexity of 
the scheme.  The Approval Route indicate which Committees or Officers will make 
both a recommendation and approval of the scheme at each Decision Point.  A 
delegated decision can only be made by the Managing Director if this has received 
prior approval from WYCA. 
 

 

Assurance Pathway Approval Route 

Decision Point 4 
(Full Business Case) 

Recommendation - Investment Committee  
Approval - WYCA 

Decision Point 5 
(Full Business Case with 
Finalised Costs) 

Recommendation – Programme Appraisal Team 
Approval – WYCA’s Managing Director Delegated 
Decision 

 
Tolerances 
 
In order for the scheme to follow the Assurance Pathway and Approval Route that 
are proposed in this report, it should remain within the following tolerances. If these 

54



tolerances are exceeded the scheme needs to return to Investment Committee 
and/or WYCA for further consideration: 
 

 That total project costs will remain within 5% of the total project costs outlined 
in this report. 

 That the project delivery timescales will remain within 3 months of the agreed 
programme set out in this report. 

Project Responsibilities 
 
Senior Responsible Officer: James Gilchrist, City of York Council 
Project Manager: Gary Frost, City of York Council 
WYCA Case Officer: Tom Murphy 

 
Recommendations 
 
That Investment Committee recommends to WYCA that:  
 
• The York Outer Ring Road Phase 1 project proceeds through Decision Point 4 

and work commences on Activity 5 (Full Business Case with Finalised Costs) 

• An indicative approval to YORR Phase 1 total forecast costs of up to £3.600m is 
given (to be funded from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund) with Full 
Approval to spend being granted once the scheme has progressed through the 
Assurance Process to Decision Point 5 (Full Business Case with Finalised Costs).  

• Future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway and 
Approval Route outlined in this report including at Decision Point 5 through a 
delegation to WYCA’s Managing Director following a recommendation by 
WYCA’s Programme Appraisal Team.  This will be subject to the scheme 
remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 
 

3.8       ULEV Taxi Scheme (Activity 3 Outline Business Case) Change Request 
 
Background 
 
The Secretary of State for Transport has awarded West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
(WYCA) a capital grant on 30 March 2017 to deliver its Ultra-low Emission Vehicle 
(ULEV) Taxi Infrastructure proposals, for the low uptake scenario.  WYCA is named as 
delivery lead, and financial accountable body for the OLEV grant funding. 

 
The OLEV grant is to deliver a maximum of 88 taxi-only rapid charge point sites, and is 
being match funded by WYCA with £1.2m Local Transport Programme (LTP) capital 
funding. 
 
In June 2017, WYCA gave Decision Point 2 (Case Paper) approval to the scheme.  This 
included indicative approval to total scheme costs of £3.18m (to be funded from LTP 
and OLEV grant funding). £0.025m of development costs were also approved. 

 

55



The project team has now completed the initiation stage of the project concluding that, 
as with any ‘trial’, there are significant risks. For example, initial market engagement 
has indicated that taxi-only charge points is not attractive to the supplier market. OLEV 
has accepted ‘in principle’ a proposal by WYCA to provide two parking bays at each 
charge point site, with one bay being taxi-only and the other being available to the 
general public 
 
Therefore, there is a need for significant WYCA, West Yorkshire District Officer and 
legal resource commitment to deliver this project. 

 
Details of the Change Request 
 
The Activity 2 Case Paper assumed that the initial grant payment by OLEV of £0.495m 
had to be spent by 31 March 2018, and this constraint influenced the choice of 
procurement strategy.  OLEV has now confirmed that all of the grant funding will 
remain available to the project until 31 March 2020.  This allows time to procure a 
single charge points supplier / operator for West Yorkshire in 2017/18, before 
installing the charge points in the following two financial years. 
 
Work has commenced on the next stage of this project, with the following tasks 
running in parallel: 
 

 Procurement of a single charge point supplier for West Yorkshire, to ensure 
interoperability. 

 District site preparation, to agree a long list of optimum sites for the charge 
points. 

Costs 
 
There is no cost impact of this Change Request on the total forecast project cost of 
£3.18m, therefore approval to this change will be sought by delegation to WYCA’s 
Managing Director.  
 
The revised forecast development cost to progress this project to Decision Point 5 
(Full Business Case with Finalised Costs) has increased as a result of this Change 
Request by £0.155m from 0.025m to £0.180m.  This will be funded from allocated 
LTP funding which was programmed to be spent on the project in subsequent years. 
The development cost increase will cover: 
 

 Re-forecasted WYCA project management costs and legal advice 

 District site identification and preparation 

 Publicity Strategy 

 Overheads 

 Contingency 

 

56



Timescales 
 
Decision Point 3 Outline Business Case Approval by March 2018 
Delivery end date for the installation of the charge points (Decision Point 6) by 31 
March 2020. 

 
Assurance Pathway and Approval Route 
 
The table below outlines the proposed Assurance Process and corresponding 
Approval Route for this scheme.  The Assurance Pathway sets out the Decision Points 
which the scheme must progress through and will reflect the scale and complexity of 
the scheme.  The Approval Route indicate which Committees or Officers will make 
both a recommendation and approval of the scheme at each Decision Point.  A 
delegated decision can only be made by the Managing Director if this has received 
prior approval from WYCA. 

 

Assurance Pathway Approval Route 

Activity 3 (Change 
Request) 

Recommendation  - Investment Committee 
Approval – Managing Director delegated approval. 

Decision Point 3 
Recommendation  - Investment Committee 
Approval – WYCA. 

Decision Point 5 
Recommendation  - Programme Appraisal Team 
Approval – Delegation to WYCA Managing Director. 

 
Tolerances 
 
In order for the scheme to follow the Assurance Pathway and Approval Route that 
are proposed in this report, it should remain within the following tolerances.  If these 
tolerances are exceeded the scheme needs to return to Investment Committee 
and/or WYCA for further consideration: 
 

 That total project costs will remain within 10% of the total project costs 
outlined in this report. 

 That the project delivery timescales will remain within 3 months of the agreed 
programme set out in this report. 

 
Project Responsibilities 
 
Senior Responsible Officer: Caroline Farnham, WYCA (From February ‘18 onwards) 
Project Manager:  Mark Auger, WYCA 
WYCA Case Officer:  Chris Dunderdale, WYCA 

 
Recommendations 
 
That Investment Committee recommends to WYCA’s Managing Director: 
 

57



 That the Change Request to the ULEV Taxi scheme for additional development 
costs of £0.155m is approved, to be funded from the LTP match funding taking 
the total development cost approval to £0.180m. 

 Future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway and 
Approval Route outlined in this report including at Decision Point 5 through a 
delegation to WYCA’s Managing Director following a recommendation by 
WYCA’s Programme Appraisal Team.  This will be subject to the scheme 
remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

 
3.9 A62 to Cooper Bridge (Activity 3 Outline Business Case) Change Request. 
 

Background 
 
Cooper Bridge is one of the most important Gateways into Huddersfield.  The A62 is 
one of the main transport routes into and out of Huddersfield.  It is a major route 
through Kirklees between Huddersfield and Leeds and provides key access to the 
M62 corridor.  
 
The existing A62/A644 Cooper Bridge junction comprises of a signalised three armed 
roundabout connecting the A62 Cooper Bridge Road (southern arm), the A644 
Wakefield Road (western arm) and the A62 Leeds Road (eastern arm).  The 
roundabout and the surrounding road network are known to be severely congested 
in both the AM and PM traffic peaks.  
In the recently published Kirklees Local Plan two site allocations will further promote 
additional vehicle demand in the wider area, namely: 
 

 Site of the former Cooper Bridge Waste Water Treatment Works and land to 
the west and north of the Three Nuns Pub, Leeds Road, Mirfield.  A strategic 
employment allocation 

 Land north of Bradley Road (site of existing golf course), 51 hectare site, 
indicative housing allocation of 2000 units. 

Description of the Change Request 
 
Originally a scheme was being progressed that involved the construction of a large 
single gyratory to replace the existing roundabout at Cooper Bridge.  The A62 and 
A644 improvement scheme required large scale accommodation works at Cooper 
Bridge which included two new rail bridges, the relocation of numerous statutory 
undertaker plant, large scale demolition of property and land costs which meant that 
the estimated cost of the scheme was likely to substantially exceed the original 
forecast budget of £77m (£69m WYCA, £8m developer contribution).  As a result 
Kirklees decided that further feasibility work was required in order to find a solution 
that kept it within the original budget envelope.  The description of the revised 
scheme now being progressed through Activity 3 is as follows: 
 

58



 Highway improvement works to the junction of Bradley Road / Colne Bridge 
Road (incorporating Oak Road); 

 Construction of the Cooper Bridge Relief Road (Bradley to the A644 Wakefield 
Road); 

 Highway improvement works to the junction of A62 Cooper Bridge Road, A644 
Wakefield Road, A62 Leeds Road (incorporating the ‘Three Nuns’ junction); and 

 Widening (in part) of the A644 Wakefield Road. 

 
Costs 
 
The baselined scheme cost is £77m of which £69m contribution from the West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority.   
 
The scheme has a current WYCA development cost approval of £0.500m, and now 
requests a further £0.250m of WYCA funding to take the scheme to Outline Business 
Case (Decision Point 3).  It is not forecast that this Change Request will lead to an 
increase to overall project costs and as a result it is proposed that the Change 
Request is approved through a delegation to WYCA’s Managing Director on receipt of 
a recommendation from Investment Committee. 

 
Timescales 
 
The forecast full approval date is forecast for 2019 (Decision Point 5) and the forecast 
completion date is forecast for 2023 (Decision Point 6). 

 
Assurance Pathway and Approval Route 
 
The table below outlines the proposed Assurance Process and corresponding 
Approval Route for this scheme.  The Assurance Pathway sets out the Decision Points 
which the scheme must progress through and will reflect the scale and complexity of 
the scheme.  The Approval Route indicate which Committees or Officers will make 
both a recommendation and approval of the scheme at each Decision Point.  A 
delegated decision can only be made by the Managing Director if this has received 
prior approval from WYCA. 

 

Assurance Pathway Approval Route 

Activity 3 
(Outline Business Case) 

Recommendation - Investment Committee  
Approval – WYCA 

Decision Point 3 
(Outline Business Case) 

Recommendation - Investment Committee  
Approval – WYCA 

Decision Point 4 
(Full Business Case) 

Recommendation – Programme Appraisal Team 
Approval - A delegated decision by the WYCA 
Managing Director 

 
 

 
 

59



Decision Point 5 
(Full Business Case with 
Finalised Costs) 

Recommendation - Investment Committee  
Approval – WYCA 

 
Tolerances 
 
In order for the scheme to follow the Assurance Pathway and Approval Route that 
are proposed in this report, it should remain within the following tolerances. If these 
tolerances are exceeded the scheme needs to return to Investment Committee 
and/or WYCA for further consideration: 
 

 That total project costs will remain within 10% of the total project costs 
outlined in this report. 

 That the project delivery timescales will remain within 6 months of the agreed 
programme set out in this report. 

 
Project Responsibilities 
 
Senior Responsible Officer: Melanie Corcoran, WYCA  
Project Manager: Jessica McNeil, WYCA 
WYCA Case Officer: Paul Coy 

 
Recommendations 
 
That Investment Committee recommends to WYCA’s Managing Director: 
 

 That the Change Request to the A62 Cooper Bridge project for additional 
development costs of £0.250m is approved, to be funded from the West 
Yorkshire plus Transport Fund taking the total development cost approval to 
£0.750m. 

 That WYCA enters into an addendum for £0.250m to the existing funding 
agreement with Kirklees Council for total development cost expenditure of up 
to £0.750m to be funded from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund. 

 Future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway and 
Approval Route outlined in this report. This will be subject to the scheme 
remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

 
3.10 Steeton & Silsden Rail Park and Ride Car Park and Shipley Rail Park and Ride Car 

Park (Activity 5) Change Request. 
 

Background 
 
WYCA’s Park & Ride programme has been identified to enhance connectivity to, from 
and within West Yorkshire.  The purpose of the programme is to increase car parking 
capacity at selected stations including Steeton & Silsden and also Shipley thereby 

60



increasing access to the rail network.  The Programme consists of 17 sites adjacent to 
rail stations to be developed into car parking for the benefit of rail users.  
 
In January 2017, At Decision Point 3 (Outline Business Case) Investment Committee 
recommended to WYCA’s Managing Director approval to seven Rail Park & Ride sites 
including Shipley, Steeton & Silsden and it was also agreed that Decision Point 5 
approval (Full Business Case with Finalised Costs) could be made via WYCA’s 
Managing Director delegated approvals for each individual site.  This approval route 
would be subject to schemes remaining within a 10% cost tolerance.  
 
Network Rail are the land owners at both locations and the car park extensions will 
be delivered, operated and maintained by Arriva Rail North (the train operating 
company).  The design for both sites involves the development of the existing surface 
level site into a decked car park.  
 
Details of the Change Request 

 
Pre-contract discussions with Arriva Rail North’s prospective contractor has identified 
an opportunity to increase the capacity of the proposed new decked car parks at 
Steeton & Silsden and Shipley railway stations, by integrating the design into the local 
topography and making better use of integrated vehicle ramps.  It may be feasible to 
increase both schemes from one to two or three decks thereby increasing car parking 
capacity significantly.  
 
 

Site 
Current 
spaces 

Demand 
Forecast (DF)  

Current 
scheme 

Predicted 
Shortfall 
(DF) 

Potential of Expanded 
scheme (subject to design 

and funding)  

Steeton & 
Silsden 

145 238 
1 deck 
=  +64 
spaces 

-29 

+2nd floor deck = +60 
spaces  
+3rd floor deck = +50 
spaces 

Shipley 175 539 
1 deck = 
+95 
spaces 

-269 

+ 2nd floor deck = + 80 
spaces 
+3rd floor deck =  +60 
spaces 

 

However, additional ground surveys and feasibility studies are required to assess the 
deliverability of these extended schemes.  Initial discussions with Arriva Rail North 
and the appointed contractor indicate that this is feasible.  However, other 
constraints including cost and available funding, planning permissions and track 
safety will have to be taken into account.   
 
Costs 
 
The Rail Station Park and Ride Programme Tranche 2 has a current funding approval 
of £0.732m.  The Change Request proposed in this report includes a request for a 
development cost increase of £0.165m (£73,685 for Steeton and Silsden, £91,747 for 

61



Shipley), which will be allocated to the individual projects rather than the programme 
as a whole.  This cost will be advanced from the forecast total project costs and is not 
forecast to result in a net increase to total budgeted costs.  This will be fully explored 
as part of the Decision Point 5 Full Business Case. As a result, it is proposed that this 
Change Request is approved via a delegation to WYCA’s Managing Director following 
consideration from Investment Committee. 
 
The forecast total scheme cost for Steeton & Silsden is £2.53m and for Shipley is 
£2.55m. 
 
Timescales 
 
It is forecast that the delivery of the decked car parks at Steeton & Silsden and 
Shipley will be delayed by approximately four to six months, at each location 
 
Full Business Case Approval (Decision Point 5) – summer 2018 
Completion of construction (Decision Point 6) – autumn 2019 
 
Assurance Pathway and Approval Route 

 
The table below outlines the proposed Assurance Process and corresponding 
Approval Route for this scheme.  The Assurance Pathway sets out the Decision Points 
which the scheme must progress through and will reflect the scale and complexity of 
the scheme.  The Approval Route indicate which Committees or Officers will make 
both a recommendation and approval of the scheme at each Decision Point.  A 
delegated decision can only be made by the Managing Director if this has received 
prior approval from WYCA. 

 

Assurance Pathway Approval Route 

Activity 5 Change 
Request 
(Full Business Case with 
Finalised Costs) 

Recommendation - Investment Committee  
Approval - A delegated decision by the Managing 
Director 

Decision Point 5 
(Full Business Case with 
Finalised Costs) 

Recommendation – Investment Committee 
Approval - WYCA 

 
Tolerances 
 
In order for the scheme to follow the Assurance Pathway and Approval Route that 
are proposed in this report, it should remain within the following tolerances. If these 
tolerances are exceeded the scheme needs to return to Investment Committee 
and/or WYCA for further consideration: 
 

 That total project costs will remain within 10% of the total project costs 
outlined in this report. 

62



 That the project delivery timescales will remain within 6 months of the agreed 
programme set out in this report. 

 

Project Responsibilities 
 
Senior Responsible Officer:   Melanie Corcoran, WYCA 
Project Manager:                    Sara Brook, WYCA 
Case Officer:                           Paul Coy, WYCA 
 
Recommendations 
 
That Investment Committee recommends to WYCA’s Managing Director that: 
 

 The Change Request to Steeton & Silsden Rail Park and Ride Car Park and 
Shipley Rail Park and Ride Car Park for additional development costs of up to 
£0.166m is approved taking the total development costs approval for the Rail 
Park and Ride Tranche2 Programme to £0.897m to be funded from the West 
Yorkshire plus Transport Fund. 

 That WYCA enters into a new Section 56 Agreement with Arriva Rail North to 
the value of £165,432 in order to carry out the works at both sites. 

 Future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway and 
Approval Route outlined in this report. This will be subject to the scheme 
remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

Projects in Stage 3 – Programme Committed 
 

 
 
3.11 WYCA Rail Park and Ride Programme - Hebden Bridge Rail Station Car Park 

Extension (Activity 6 Delivery) Change Request 
 

Background 
 
WYCA’s Park & Ride programme has been identified to enhance connectivity to, from 
and within West Yorkshire to the rail network.  The Programme consists of 17 sites 
adjacent to rail stations to be developed into car parking for the benefit of rail users. 
Hebden Bridge was one of the first sites to be approved to move into Delivery 
(Activity 6) in July 2017.  Network Rail own the land at Hebden Bridge and the car 
park extension will be delivered, operated and maintained by Arriva Rail North (the 
train operating company). 
 
The original scheme at Hebden Bridge was for an additional 81 spaces utilising all 
Network Rail land.  However part of the site is occupied by a tenant, Sheards Coal 

63



yard and Ward Members could not support a scheme that resulted in the removal of 
the solid fuel supplier regarded as essential to the rural community.  Therefore, a co-
existence design was developed that enabled the tenant to remain on site and create 
an additional 46 spaces; the Full Business Case with Finalised Costs of £0.582m was 
approved on 7 July 2017. 
 
The scheme is divided into 2 phases: 
 

 Phase 1: Relocation Works: ground and surface works, installation of a storage 
shed preceded by the installation of a trackside boundary fence.  

 Phase 2: ground and surface works of extended site to create an extended car 
park, re-surfacing and re-marking of existing car park.   

Details of the Change Request 
 
The original procurement route to relocate the tenant with Network Rail had to be 
re-negotiated as the complexities of the site required further works and asset 
protection; this has resulted in an increase in costs of £0.066m and the delivery 
timescales of six months.  The Benefit Cost Ratio for the scheme was originally 4.4; 
sensitivity testing was conducted assuming an increase in costs of +25% reducing the 
BCR to 3.7 therefore the proposed cost increase of 11.35% is within those 
parameters.  
 
As a result of a requirement to amend the procurement route, WYCA is now required 
to enter into an Implementation Agreement with Network Rail in order to deliver the 
tenancy relocation which will cover works associated with this Change Request and 
also works previously assumed to be part of the original procurement approach with 
Network Rail 
 
Costs 
 
The existing funding approval to deliver the total scheme is £0.582m. 
The costs for the additional works proposed in this Change Request are £0.066m, 
taking the total scheme cost to £0.648m. It proposed that as this Change Request 
results in an 11% cost increase (just outside of the 10% cost approval tolerance), that 
following consideration by Investment Committee, approval is requested through a 
delegation to WYCA’s Managing Director. 
 
Timescales 
 
The works have been delayed by 6 months from the original programme with 
delivery now forecast to be completed in October 2018.  
 

Tolerances 
 
In order for the scheme to follow the Assurance Pathway and Approval Route that 
are proposed in this report, it should remain within the following tolerances. If these 

64



tolerances are exceeded the scheme needs to return to Investment Committee 
and/or WYCA for further consideration: 
 

 That total project costs will remain within 10% of the total project costs 
outlined in this report. 

 That the project delivery timescales will remain within 6 months of the agreed 
programme set out in this report. 

Project Responsibilities 
 
Senior Responsible Officer:    Melanie Corcoran, WYCA 
Project Manager:                     Sara Brook, WYCA 
Case Officer:                             Paul Coy, WYCA 
 
Recommendations 
 
That Investment Committee recommends to WYCA’s Managing Director that: 
 

 The Change Request to Hebden Bridge Rail Station Car Park Extension for 
additional development costs of up to £0.066m is approved taking the total 
development costs approval for the project up to 0.648m to be funded from the 
West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund. 

 That WYCA enters into a new Implementation Agreement with Network Rail to 
the value of £152,450 in order to carry out the works. 

 Future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway and 
Approval Route outlined in this report. This will be subject to the scheme 
remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

 
3.12 Decisions progressed directly to WYCA on 14 December 2017 

 
The following two decisions progressed directly to WYCA for approval prior to a 
recommendation from Investment Committee because of the timescales and funding 
stream associated with the schemes. Business Case summaries of these schemes 
were published as part of the Capital Spending and Project Approvals Report to 
WYCA on the 14 December. 
 
Leeds City Region Warm Homes Fund (Decision Point 2 Case Paper) 
 
This is a grant programme to deliver central heating systems and gas connections to 
fuel poor household in Leeds City Region.  The total value of the project is £2.910m. 
In addition to WYCA’s funding contribution of £1.620m (which is being funded 
through a grant to WYCA from the National Grid’s Warm Homes Fund), the scheme 
will also be funded through contributions from District Councils, EON, Northern Gas 
Networks and private landlords. The scheme received Decision Point 2 (Case Paper) 
approval from WYCA on the 14 December 2017. 
 

65



WYCA Website (Decision Point 2 Case Paper) 
 
This is a scheme to consolidate all of WYCA’s existing websites through the design, 
development and launch of a new digital infrastructure enabling far greater 
engagement.  The total project cost is forecast to be £0.300m, which will be funded 
internally by WYCA.  The scheme received Decision Point 2 (Case Paper) approval 
from WYCA on the 14 December 2017. 
 

3.13 Decisions made through the Delegation to the Managing Director 
 
Since Investment Committee’s meeting on the 9 November 2017, decisions regarding 
the following schemes have been exercised.  These decisions were made though the 
delegation to WYCA’s Managing Director following a recommendation from WYCA’s 
Programme Appraisal Team.  
 
Cycle City Ambition Grant (City Connect) (CCAG) Phase 2 – Individual Schemes 
(Decision Point 5 Full Business Case with Finalised Costs) 
 
This Decision Point 5 approval related to the delivery of three further schemes within 
Phase 2 of the City Connect programme: 
 

 The Wakefield to Castleford Phase 2 scheme including a Bridge Over Hallam Line 

 Wakefield to Castleford: Phase 3 scheme 
Both of schemes these will develop a high quality route linking existing 
infrastructure between Castleford and Wakefield, with a new bridge providing 
access over the Hallam Rail Line. 

 

 A York scheme, which will provide a much needed link via a bridge across the 
river Ouse to the rail station and the proposed York Central site. 

 
The City Connect phase 2 programme was considered by Transport Committee on 
the 7 July 2017, with an updated report presented to Transport Committee on the 17 
November 2017.  Decision Point 5 approval was given for these schemes by WYCA 
Managing Director on 17 November 2017. 
 
A summary of the scheme’s Business Case is included in Appendix 6 

 
Access Innovation Programme (Decision Point 5 Full Business Case with Finalised 
Costs) 
 
This Decision Point 5 approval related to the delivery of a programme designed to 
support innovation activity by SMEs across the Leeds City Region providing grants 
from £2k to £50k. The scheme would support up to 444 businesses and create or 
safeguard 98 jobs. 
 
The scheme was considered by Investment Committee on 6 September 2017 and by 
WYCA on 5 October 2017, and Decision Point 2 (Case Paper) approval was granted. 

66



As part of this approval it was also agreed that the scheme would progress to Activity 
5 (Full Business Case with Finalised Costs).  It was agreed that approval at Decision 
Point 5 would be provided through the delegation to WYCA’s Managing Director 
subject to the scheme remaining within its tolerances.  As a result, following a 
recommendation from WYCA’s Programme Appraisal Team, the scheme received 
Decision Point 5 approval on 10 November 2017.  
 
A summary of the scheme’s Business Case is included in Appendix 7 
 
Strategic Business Growth Programme (Decision Point 5 Full Business Case with 
Finalised Costs) 
 
This Decision Point 5 approval related to the delivery of a programme designed to 
engage with SMEs across the Leeds City Region with ambition and aspirations to 
grow through providing an integrated package of support to be targeted at those 
operating within the LEPs priority sectors.  A minimum of 302 businesses to be 
supported and a minimum of 604 jobs created. 
 
The scheme was considered by Investment Committee on 6 September 2017 and by 
WYCA on 5 October 2017, and Decision Point 2 (Case Paper) approval was granted. 
As part of this approval it was also agreed that the scheme would progress to Activity 
5 (Full Business Case with Finalised Costs).  It was agreed that approval at Decision 
Point 5 would be provided through the delegation to WYCA’s Managing Director 
subject to the scheme remaining within its tolerances.  As a result, following a 
recommendation from WYCA’s Programme Appraisal Team, the scheme received 
Decision Point 5 approval on 27 October 2017. 
 
A summary of the scheme’s Business Case is included in Appendix 8 
 
Rail Park & Ride Phase 1 – Mirfield (A) (Decision Point 5 Full Business Case with 
Finalised Costs) 
 
This Decision Point 5 approval related to the delivery of a scheme to extend the 
existing rail station car park at Mirfield to provide an increase to the number of car 
parking spaces from 35 to 59 (56 standard car parking spaces and 3 Blue Badge car 
parking spaces), an increase in overall car park capacity of 68% together with 
improved security measures through CCTV and lighting.  
 
The project was presented to Investment Committee on 4 January 2017 as one of 7 
schemes within the Rail Park & Ride Phase 1 Programme, for which it was agreed that 
approval of individual schemes at Decision Point 5 would be provided through the 
delegation to WYCA’s Managing Director subject to the schemes remaining within its 
tolerances.  As a result, following a recommendation from WYCA’s Programme 
Appraisal Team, the scheme received Decision Point 5 approval on 24 November 
2017. 
 
A summary of the scheme’s Business Case is included in Appendix 9 

67



 
Leeds City Region Warm Homes Fund (Decision Point 5 Full Business Case with 
Finalised Costs) 
 
This grant programme to deliver central heating systems and gas connections to fuel 
poor household in Leeds City Region received Decision Point 2 (Case Paper) approval 
from WYCA on the 14 December 2017 (A summary of this decision is provided in 
section 3.12 of this report).  The requirements of the Warm Homes Funding from 
National Grid required that a Grant Agreement was signed within short timescales 
upon receipt of the funding award, as result the Decision Point 5 appraisal and 
assurance was twin-tracked alongside the Decision point 2 approval from WYCA so 
that full approval to the scheme could be made shortly after WYCA’s December 
meeting.  The scheme received Decision Point 5 approval through a delegation to 
WYCA’s Managing Director on the 15 December 2017.  This approval route was 
agreed as part of WYCA’s approval at Decision Point 2. 
 
A summary of the scheme’s Business Case is included in Appendix 10 
 
LEP Loan 201 – Glasshoughton – approval to vary the Works Longstop Date (Activity 
6 Delivery Change Request). 
 
This Change Request approval relates to a variation to the Works Longstop Date on 
the GPF/LEP Loan 201 Glasshoughton project.  The project is developing a previous 
colliery site which has been in receipt of a GPF loan to enable the site remediation in 
three zones.  
 
The site owner, Waystone 32, has now completed two zones, with this change 
relating to delivery of Zone 2 only.  A previous extension to the Works Longstop Date 
to 31 December 2017 was approved by LEP Investment Panel on 15th November 
2016, however Waystone 32 confirmed they wouldn’t be able to achieve the already 
amended date due to changes to site layout following a buyer coming forward to 
develop the entire commercial plot in Zone 2.  The new partner offers the advantage 
of completing the site 3 years earlier than phased sale of the land in plots would 
allow, hence the request for this further extension.  This was approved through a 
delegation to WYCA’s Managing Director on the 24 November 2017. 

 
Corridor Improvement Programme - Wakefield MDC Owl Lane Roundabout 
(Activity Point 3 Outline Business Case Change Request) 
 
The Corridor Improvement Programme is an area wide approach to provide low and 
medium cost highway interventions across a range of key strategic highway corridors 
along the Key Route Network that would deliver benefits for traffic and provide 
improvements for commuters, business, buses and users of the transport network on 
the corridors. This programme covers what was originally known as Highways 
Efficiency and Bus Package (HEBP) in the original WY+TF portfolio. 
 

68



A three phase approach for delivery has been taken in order to prioritise corridors for 
improvement. Phase 1 comprises of an accelerated package of junction 
improvements to be delivered by March 2021. Phase 2 undertake feasibility, is to 
identify any gaps in what Phase 1 will deliver and Phase 3 will deliver the scoping’s 
from Phase 2. Phase 2 and 3 have yet to be fully defined and will do so as the 
programme progresses. 
 
As part of Phase 1, Wakefield MDC have submitted a change request to add the A638 
Owl Lane Roundabout Ossett in to the programme. This scheme will improve a major 
existing roundabout on A638 at the Owl Lane, Chancery Road and Leeds Road 
Junction in Ossett. This junction has been identified as being on the Key Route 
Network (KRN) and therefore falls within the scope of the programme. The scheme 
will also introduce bus priority measures to enhance the roundabout efficiency and 
address health and safety issues for pedestrians and cyclists due to there being no 
crossing facilities at all the entries. This scheme can be completed by 2020/21 which 
is within the programme timeframes. 

 
4. Financial Implications 
 
4.1 The report seeks endorsement to expenditure from the available WYCA funding as 

set out in this report. 
 
5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The payment of funding to any recipient will be subject to a funding agreement being 

in place between WYCA and the organisation in question. 
 
5.2 The information contained in Appendix 11 relating to Project Beta (see Section 3.4 of 

this report) is exempt under Paragraph 3 of Part 1 to Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 as it contains information relating to the financial or business 
affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information).  In 
particular, it provides information in relation to costs at a time when commercial 
negotiations are ongoing.  It is considered that the public interest in maintaining the 
content of the appendix as exempt outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information as publication could prejudice current and future negotiations. 
 

5.3 WYCA has signed a Non-Disclosure Agreement with the applicant relating to Project 
Beta. 

 
6. Staffing Implications 
 
6.1. A combination of WYCA and District partner project, programme and portfolio 

management resources are identified and costed for within the schemes in this 
report.  

  

69



 
7. External Consultees 
 
7.1 Where applicable scheme promoters have been consulted on the content of this 

report. 
 
8. Recommendations 

 
8.1. Bradford Interchange Phase 1 (Decision Point 2) 

 
That Investment Committee recommends to WYCA:  
 

 That the Bradford Interchange Phase 1 project proceeds through Decision Point 
2 and work commences on Activity 3 (Outline Business Case) of the Assurance 
process. 

 That an indicative approval to the total project value of up to £5.65m is given to 
be funded from the West Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund, with Full Approval to 
spend being granted once the scheme has progressed through the Assurance 
Process to Decision Point 5 (FBC with Finalised Costs). 

 That further development costs of up to £0.100m are approved in order to 
progress the scheme to Decision Point 3 (Outline Business Case) taking the total 
project approval to £0.180m, and that WYCA enter into an addendum to the 
existing funding agreement with City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council 
for total expenditure of up to £0.180m from the West Yorkshire Plus Transport 
Fund. 

 That future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway and 
Approval Route set out in this Case Paper. This will be subject to the scheme 
remaining within the tolerances outlined in this Case Paper. 
 

8.2. Bradford Interchange Phase 2 (Decision Point 2) 
 
That Investment Committee recommends to WYCA:  
 

 That approval is given to £0.512m pre-feasibility funding from the WY+TF 
Transformational Projects Fund to support the selection of a preferred option 
for progressing Bradford Interchange Phase 2 and that WYCA enter into a 
Funding Agreement with City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council for 
expenditure of up to £0.512m from the WY+TF Transformational Projects Fund. 

 
8.3 That Investment Committee recommends to WYCA that: 
 

 Project Beta proceeds through Decision Point 2 and work commences on 
Activity 4 (Full Business Case). 

 An indicative approval to the proposed grant funding award of £3m is given, to 
be funded from the Strategic Inward Investment Fund, with Full Approval to 
expenditure being granted once the scheme has progressed through the 
Assurance Process to Decision Point 5 (FBC with Finalised Costs). 

70



 Future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway and 
Approval Route outlined in this report. This will be subject to the scheme 
remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

 
8.4 LCR Pilot Natural Flood Management Programme (Decision Point 3) 

 
That Investment Committee recommends to WYCA: 
 

 That the LCR Pilot Natural Flood Management Programme proceeds through 
Decision Point 3 and work commences on Activity 4 (Full Business Case). 

 That an indicative approval to WYCA’s contribution of £1.700m (which will be 
funded through from the Local Growth Deal 3 fund) is given with Full Approval 
to spend being granted once the scheme has progressed through the Assurance 
Process to Decision Point 5 (FBC with Finalised Costs). The total project value is 
£3.801m. 

 That development costs of £0.045m are approved in order to progress the 
scheme to Decision Point 4 and that WYCA enter into a Funding Agreement for 
expenditure of up to £0.045m from the Local Growth Deal Fund. 

 That future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway and 
Approval Route set out in this report, including at Decision Point 5 through a 
delegation to WYCA’s Managing Director following a recommendation by 
WYCA’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme 
remaining within the tolerances outline in this report. 

 
8.5 Wyke Beck Valley Flood Alleviation Project (Decision Point 4) 

 
That Investment Committee recommends to WYCA: 
 

 That the Wyke Beck Valley Flood Alleviation Project proceeds through Decision 
Point 4 and work commences on Activity 5 (Full Business Case with Finalised 
Costs). 

 That an indicative approval to WYCA’s contribution of £2.600m (which will be 
funded through from the Local Growth Deal 3 fund) is given with Full Approval 
to spend being granted once the scheme has progressed through the Assurance 
Process to Decision Point 5 (FBC with Finalised Costs). 

 That future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway and 
Approval Route set out in this report, including at Decision Point 5 through a 
delegation to WYCA’s Managing Director following a recommendation by 
WYCA’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme 
remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

  

71



 
8.6 York Outer Ring Road Junctions Phase 1 (Decision Point 4) 

 
That Investment Committee recommends to WYCA that:  
 

 The York Outer Ring Road Junctions Phase 1 project proceeds through Decision 
Point 4 and work commences on Activity 5 (Full Business Case with Finalised 
Costs) 

 An indicative approval to YORR Phase 1 total forecast costs of up to £3.600m is 
given (to be funded from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund) with Full 
Approval to spend being granted once the scheme has progressed through the 
Assurance Process to Decision Point 5 (Full Business Case with Finalised Costs).  

 Future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway and 
Approval Route outlined in this report including at Decision Point 5 through a 
delegation to WYCA’s Managing Director following a recommendation by 
WYCA’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme 
remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

 
8.7 ULEV Taxi scheme (Activity 3 Change Request) 

 
That Investment Committee recommends to WYCA’s Managing Director: 
 

 That the Change Request to the ULEV Taxi scheme for additional development 
costs of £0.155m is approved, to be funded from the LTP match funding taking 
the total development cost approval to £0.180m. 

 Future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway and 
Approval Route outlined in this report including at Decision Point 5 through a 
delegation to WYCA’s Managing Director following a recommendation by 
WYCA’s Programme Appraisal Team.  This will be subject to the scheme 
remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

 
8.8 A62 to Cooper Bridge (Activity 3 Change Request) 

 
That Investment Committee recommends to WYCA’s Managing Director: 
 

 That the Change Request to the A62 to Cooper Bridge project for additional 
development costs of £0.250m is approved, to be funded from the West 
Yorkshire plus Transport Fund taking the total development cost approval to 
£0.750m. 

 That WYCA enters into an addendum for £0.250m to the existing funding 
agreement with Kirklees Council for total development cost expenditure of up 
to £0.750m to be funded from the West Yorkshire Transport Fund. 

 

 Future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway and 
Approval Route outlined in this report. This will be subject to the scheme 
remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

 

72



8.9 Steeton & Silsden Rail Park and Ride Car Park and Shipley Rail Park and Ride Car 
Park (Activity 5 Change Request) 
 
That Investment Committee recommends to WYCA’s Managing Director that: 
 

 The Change Request to Steeton & Silsden Rail Park and Ride Car Park and 
Shipley Rail Park and Ride Car Park for additional development costs of up to 
£0.166m is approved taking the total development costs approval for the Rail 
Park and Ride Tranche2 Programme to £0.897m to be funded from the West 
Yorkshire plus Transport Fund. 

 That WYCA enters into a new Section 56 Agreement with Arriva Rail North to 
the value of £165,432 in order to carry out the works at both sites. 

 Future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway and 
Approval Route outlined in this report. This will be subject to the scheme 
remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

 
8.10 Hebden Bridge Rail Station Car Park Extension (Activity 6 Change Request) 

 
That Investment Committee recommends to WYCA’s Managing Director that: 
 

 The Change Request to Hebden Bridge Rail Station Car Park Extension for 
additional development costs of up to £0.066m is approved taking the total 
development costs approval for the project up to 0.648m to be funded from 
the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund. 

 That WYCA enters into a new Implementation Agreement with Network Rail to 
the value of £152,450 in order to carry out the works. 

 Future approvals are made in accordance with the Approval Pathway and 
Approval Route outlined in this report. This will be subject to the scheme 
remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report. 

 
9. Appendices 

 
9.1. Appendix 1 - Bradford Interchange Phase 1 Expression of Interest/Case Paper 

Summary 
 

9.2. Appendix 2 - Bradford Interchange Phase 2 Expression of Interest/Case Paper 
 

9.3. Appendix 3  - Natural Flood Management Programme Business Case Summary 
 

9.4. Appendix 4  - Wyke Beck Valley Flood Alleviation Business Case Summary 
 

9.5. Appendix 5  - York Outer Ring Road Junction Business Case Summary 
 

9.6. Appendix 6  - Cycle City Ambition Grant (City Connect) (CCAG) Phase 2 – Individual 
Schemes Business Case Summary 
 

9.7. Appendix 7  - Access Innovation Programme Business Case Summary 

73



9.8. Appendix 8 - Strategic Business Growth Programme Business Case Summary 
 

9.9. Appendix 9  - Rail Park & Ride Phase 1 – Mirfield (A) Business Case Summary 
 

9.10. Appendix 10 – Leeds City Region Warm Homes Fund Business Case Summary 
 

9.11. Appendix 11 – Project Beta Expression of Interest/Case Paper (EXEMPT) 
 

10 Background Documents 
 
None as part of this report. 

 

74



Scheme Summary 

 

Name of Scheme: Bradford Interchange Phase 1  

PMO Scheme Code: WYTF-PA4-001 

Lead Organisation: City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council 

Senior Responsible Officer:  Julian Jackson 

Lead Promoter Contact: Tom Jones 

 

Applicable Funding Stream: WYTF 

Growth Fund Priority Area 
(if applicable): 

Priority 4b 

 

Forecasted Full Approval 
Date (Decision Point 5): 

Q2 2019/20 

Forecasted Completion 
Date: 

Q1 2020/21  (Construction end) 

 

Total Scheme Cost (£): £5.65m 

WYCA Funding (£): £5.65m 

Total other public sector 
investment (£): 

0 

Total other private sector 
investment (£): 

0 

 

Is this a standalone Project? Yes 

Is this a Programme? No 

Is this Project part of an 
agreed Programme? 

No 

Current Funding Allocation: £5-10m Rail Station Gateways WYTF 

 

Current Assurance Process Activity: Activity 2  

 

75

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 1



 

Scheme Description: 

The Bradford Interchange site comprises a rail station, a bus station, a shared concourse with travel 

centres operated by West Yorkshire Combined Authority and Network Rail, as well as car parks, taxi 

ranks and retail premises. The site under consideration is in owned by WYCA (primarily) and Network 

Rail (rail station concourse).  There are a variety of lease-holding arrangements between 

operators/businesses and WYCA – with costs and income generated by the site accruing to WYCA.   

The interchange was built in the 1970’s with incremental additions over the years and is on multi levels. 

It is proposed to make physical improvements to transition the site to be a high quality contemporary 

gateway / arrival point to the city of Bradford and improve the interchange between different modes 

of transport at the site.   

Since 2014 Bradford Council has engaged in master-planning exercises to attempt to determine the 

best way to improve the Bradford Interchange station environment.  (A prior approval for £80k towards 

development costs was approved by WYCA 4th Feb 2016 Combined Authority).  

Previous master-planning work has produced suggested schemes that can be broken down into three 

long term programme areas: 

1. Phase  1 (up to 2026) - proposals that would be both appropriate spend of WY+TF monies 
(circa £5-£10m) and non-abortive works prior to any more ambitious works as part of 
Phases 2 and 3 below.  The intent of Bradford Council is for Phase 1 works to be funded and 
delivered as part of the WY+TF.   

2. Phase 2 (2026 to 2035) – A more comprehensive re-orientation of the interchange 
environment.  Whilst option development for this phase is ongoing, the goal is to create a high 
quality gateway into the city that enhances the user experience and merits a station of this size 
and a city as large as Bradford. This is the subject of a separate EoI. 

3. Phase 3 (2035+) – NPR.  The master-planning work has made a significant contribution towards 
the advocacy work to bring a NPR station to Bradford city centre.  As such this phase is 
dependent upon the outcome of national discussions as to the future and routing of NPR and 
has been produced based on assumptions of major national level infrastructure funding 
coming to the city.  Phase 3 is not the subject of this EoI. 

This EoI relates to Phase 1. The key requirements are: 

 Delivery of an improved gateway environment on arrival into the city of Bradford - Most 
critical to this goal is the removal of vehicular movements from the main Bridge Street entrance 
into the interchange.  This would in turn facilitate the creation of a pedestrianised station 
frontage to provide an improved user experience  

 Reorientation of taxi and drop off facilities – in order to create the above gateway, those 
vehicles which currently dominate the station frontage would require an alternative provision.  
This alternative should in itself be attractive to both customers and the taxi operators.    

 Improvements to station concourses – as is the case with the Bridge Street frontage, the 
concourse environments do not provide a fitting customer experience for a station of this scale.   

 Improved intermodal connectivity within the station site – the improved interchange must 
provide improved user experiences in passing between modes.  This would include both 
interchange between rail and bus, public transport and taxi as well as coaches and the 
aforementioned modes.   
 
To Note: There is potential in the scheme to create an at grade link between the Bus and Rail 
concourse but this may not be progressed if the outcome of Bus Deck Survey work being 

76



undertaken as part of EOI Phase 2: Pre-feasibility option development work suggests this 
would be abortive. 
 
Also not included in this scheme: Bus Deck resurfacing which may be required in the short 
term and for which WYCA would be liable and there is currently no funding stream 
identified (£1.5m potential cost). 

This EOI is seeking funding of £100k to refine the above options to providing solutions which are 

achievable within a £5-10m financial allocation. Any works undertaken are seeking to be non-abortive 

given that Phase 2 and 3 works will at future stages bring further significant change to this site.  

 

This EOI also includes £20k for completion of Phase 2A master-planning work part funded under 

previous £80k approval. 

A separate EoI has been developed seeking funding to progress the Strategic Case and options 

analysis for Phase 2 (Phase 2a, b and c) from the WYTF Transformational Projects allocation. 
 

Business Case Summary: 

Strategic Case 
The Strategic Case for Bradford Interchange Phase 1 Scheme is well developed. 

It supports the SEP vision and the principle of ‘good growth’ by supporting the 

delivery of innovation, good jobs/incomes and improved quality of places. Local 

Plans and policies, as well as a fit with emergent national strategy around the 

location of Northern Powerhouse Rail, have been considered.  

Commercial Case The evidence of need/demand for the project from a policy perspective is well 
understood. Further work is required to understand local commercial 
needs/demands and opportunities and how they may impact on the project.  
The project seeks to unlock downstream investments in making Bradford 
Interchange a more investable proposition – taking advantage of emergent 
strategy with regard to the re/ location of local bus and new national train 
routes.  
The Project has not yet considered the procurement solution for the delivery of 
the final scheme.  

Economic Case The outputs and outcomes of the project and their link to delivery of strategic 
objectives are realistic and achievable. 

Economic impact assessments have not been undertaken at this stage to 
provide an indication of return on investment/ monetarise the impact of the 
project. It is recommended that there is early liaison with economic modelling 
support within WYCA to support the economic case and costings included as 
appropriate. 

Financial Case The financial case has been adequately considered. Costs have been presented 
split by forecast development and delivery estimates.  The predicted costs fit 
within the allocation budget. Whilst there has been some concern that costings 
seem modest in comparison with other schemes - a contingency has been 
included to allow for unforeseen costs. 

Additional appraisal of the estimated scheme costs is recommended at FBC.   

77



 

 

From a WYCA and Project perspective - existing and future revenue and 
capital costs/income streams need to be considered carefully as part of future 
work – including any impact on future liabilities for maintenance/revenue 
running costs. It recommended that a discrete Business Plan is undertaken for 
the Interchange by WYCA. 

Management Case The management case in terms of programme management/project 
documentation is not advanced – as would be expected at EoI. This will be 
expected by OBC stage.  

Verbal assurances have been provided by the promoter that the membership of 
existing bi monthly Project Boards / Project Team meetings will be expanded to 
include WYCA commercial operations (Assets and Facilities) at the appropriate 
level. 

78



Scheme Summary 

 

Name of Scheme: Bradford Interchange Phase 2 – Pre-feasibility Option Development 

PMO Scheme Code: WYTF-PA4-001b 

Lead Organisation: CBMDC 

Senior Responsible Officer:  Julian Jackson 

Lead Promoter Contact: Tom Jones 
 

Applicable Funding Stream: WY+TF 

Growth Fund Priority Area 
(if applicable): 

Priority 4b 

 

Forecasted Full Approval 
Date (Decision Point 5): 

N/A 

Forecasted Completion 
Date: 

Sept 2022 (Q2 22/23) 

 

Total Scheme Cost (£): £33.612m 

WYCA Funding (£): £0.512m 

Total other public sector 
investment (£): 

- 

Total other private sector 
investment (£): 

- 

 

Is this a standalone Project? Yes 

Is this a Programme? No 

Is this Project part of an 
agreed Programme? 

No 

Current Funding Allocation: Transformational Projects 

 

Current Assurance Process Activity:  1 

 
 

79

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 2



Scheme Description: 

The Bradford Interchange site comprises a rail station, a bus station, a shared concourse with travel 

centres operated by West Yorkshire Combined Authority and Network Rail, as well as car parks, taxi 

rank and retail premises. The site under consideration by this EOI is in multiple ownership (Network 

Rail, WYCA, Bradford Council, others (tbc)).  

The interchange was built in the 1970’s with incremental additions over the years and is on multi levels. 

It is proposed to make physical improvements to transition the site to be a high quality contemporary 

gateway / arrival point to the city of Bradford and improve the interchange between different modes 

of transport at the site.   

Since 2014 Bradford Council has engaged in master-planning exercises to attempt to determine the 

best way to improve the Bradford Interchange station environment.  (WYTF have previously funded 

£80k towards development costs of one of the options (Phase 2A) and completion of this work forms 

part of an additional EOI (Phase 1 to the WY+TF Station Gateways allocation) – see below) 

Previous master-planning work has produced suggested schemes that can be broken down into three 

long term programme areas: 

1. Phase  1 (up to 2026) - proposals that would be both appropriate spend of WY+TF monies 
(circa £10-£15m) and non-abortive works prior to any more ambitious works as part of 
Phases 2 and 3 below.  The intent of Bradford Council is for Phase 1 works to be funded and 
delivered as part of the WY+TF.  (This is subject to a separate EoI) 
  

2. Phase 2 (2026 to 2035) – A more comprehensive re-orientation of the interchange 
environment.  Whilst option development for this phase is ongoing, the goal is to create a 
high quality gateway into the city that enhances the user experience and merits a station of 
this size and a city as large as Bradford.   
 

3. Phase 3 (2035+) – NPR.  The master-planning work has made a significant contribution towards 
the advocacy work to bring a NPR station to Bradford city centre.  As such this phase is 
dependent upon the outcome of national discussions as to the future and routing of NPR and 
has been produced based on assumptions of major national level infrastructure funding 
coming to the city.  Phase 3 is not the subject of this EoI. 
 

This EoI relates exclusively to the pre-feasibility work required to gain an understanding of the Phase 

2 options.  Given the complexity of the Interchange site and the need to develop a high quality gateway 

that will have a lasting positive impact on the city, Phase 2 requires a thorough assessment of the 

potential options and their impacts.  Crucial to this option development work is the requirement to 

minimise abortive works, both in relation to short term works as funded by the WY+TF in Phase 1 and 

in light of the continuing possibility of an NPR station future for the interchange site.  

There are 3 options being considered for Phase 2: 

1. Phase 2a - A repurposing and reuse of the current decked structure on the assumption that 
that the longer term viability of this structure is agreed as preferable.  This option would also 
be more likely if the location of an NPR station in Bradford city centre were to be ruled out as 
the repurposing of the deck would likely be abortive in an NPR future.   

2. Phase 2b – Removal of the deck and replacement with a bus station.  Particularly likely if the 
deck is found to be not fit for purpose and/or where an NPR station is confirmed for Bradford 
city centre 

80



3. Phase 2c – Removal of the deck with the provision of the bus station facility in a nearby 
location.  Also likely if the deck is found to be not fit for purpose and/or where an NPR 
station is confirmed for Bradford city centre.  This option would also be preferable if Phase 2b 
cannot be found to safely and economically co-locate bus routes and pedestrian movements 
into the current interchange site. 

 

Of these three options, Phase 2a is the most advanced and is currently the subject of work by SYSTRA 

to be completed under EoI Phase 1.  The structural survey of the deck (proposed to be completed as 

part of this submission) will indicate whether the retention and alteration of this structure to support 

the concourse is feasible.  However, even if the retention and repurposing of the deck is technically 

feasible, there remains at this stage the prospect that the long term maintenance and/or visual amenity 

of this option may be undesirable to key stakeholders.  As such it is important that the alternatives (in 

the form of the Phase 2b and Phase 2c options) are considered. Cost estimates for Phase 2a are to a 

value of approximately £33m and it is likely that 2b and 2c will have at least this level of cost.   

The purpose of this EoI/ request for funding under the Transformational Fund is therefore to undertake 

required structural surveys (NCP building and Bus Deck) and transport surveys to gather as much 

technical knowledge about the site as possible. It also seeks to carry out options master-planning on 

Phase 2A, 2B and 2C and stakeholder engagement to select a preferred option for the site.  

At a future stage (not subject to this EoI) CBMDC would, with all Phase 2 options having been 

considered, look to WYCA colleagues to assist in securing funding for Business Case development on a 

preferred Phase 2 gateway scheme. 

 

Business Case Summary: 

Strategic Case The strategic fit at a high level is strong. Phase 2 of the redevelopment of 
Bradford Interchange is about transformation of the site as a modern multi 
modal transport Gateway.  
Further work is required as to how this will be achieved in practice and that is 
the essence of the pre-feasibility work; what approach best achieves the 
strategic objectives of the scheme? 

Commercial Case The evidence of need/demand for the project from a policy perspective is well 
understood. Further work is required to understand local commercial 
needs/demands and opportunities and how they may impact on the project.  

Pre-feasibility work should unlock evidence of commercial support for the 
proposed options as part of stakeholder engagement. 

Economic Case Some economic impact assessment has been undertake primarily for option 
Phase 2a. The pre-feasibility work will seek to build the economic case across all 
3 options for Phase 2.   

81



 

 

Financial Case A breakdown of costs has been provided to undertake the pre-feasibility work 
which seems proportionate and representative. At this very early stage it is not 
possible to assess the value for money of the scheme. Once the pre-feasibility 
work has been completed, further information will be available to understand 
this, which will support the future development of a business case around the 
preferred option. 

 

Management Case The management case in terms of programme management/project 
documentation is not advanced – as would be expected at pre-feasibility stage. 
The Case Officer is given to understand that given the various interests that 
WYCA represents in this project that the membership of current Project 
meetings will be widened to ensure there is good communication between key 
stakeholders.  

 

82



Scheme Summary 

 

Name of Scheme: The Leeds City Region Pilot Natural Flood Management Programme 

PMO Scheme Code: GD-PA4-020a 

Lead Organisation: Kirklees Council  

Senior Responsible Officer:  Simon Taylor – Head of Development Management 

Lead Promoter Contact: Guy Thompson 

Case Officer: Paul Coy 

 

Applicable Funding 

Stream(s) – Grant or Loan: 
Local Growth Deal 3 

Growth Fund Priority Area 

(if applicable): 

Priority Area 3 – Clean Energy and Environmental Resilience 

Priority Area 4 – Infrastructure for Growth 

 

Approvals to Date:  

Forecasted Full Approval 

Date (Decision Point 5): 
July 2018 

Forecasted Completion 

Date (Decision Point 6): 
December 2020 – complete works and payments 

 

Total Scheme Cost (£): £4,552,889 

WYCA Funding (£): £1,700,000 

Total other public sector 

investment (£): 
£2.08 million 

Total other private sector 

investment (£): 
£0.021 million 

 

Is this a standalone Project? No  

Is this a Programme? No 

Is this Project part of an 

agreed Programme? 
Yes 

 

83

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 3



Current Assurance Process Activity: 

 

 

Scheme Description: 

The risks to 63,000 homes, 31,000 businesses and critical infrastructure sites from flooding have been 

clearly illustrated by repeated flooding episodes in the last decade, including the devastating floods of 

December 2015 that hit the City Region.  The SEP identifies a headline initiative to develop an 

“integrated flood risk reduction programme” to address the urgent need for greater resilience against 

flooding to protect and retain businesses and employment, and to maintain the transport network.  

Local Growth Fund Investment will accelerate, enhance and unlock joint schemes planned for delivery 

by the Environment Agency, local authorities and other partners, contributing to and matching other 

funding sources already identified and secured.  

An indicative programme of flood risk management projects has been developed that will improve the 

resilience of businesses in Leeds City Region Spatial Priority Areas.  Areas targeted are those which are 

both currently affected by high flood risk, where jobs and businesses could be lost as a result of recent 

flood events and the likelihood of recurrence, and those where planned future development could be 

slowed or constrained.  In addition, the programme will mitigate the risk of disruption or loss of access 

and critical infrastructure in these areas which would affect current and potential business viability. 

Investing in resilience against flooding and ensuring the resilience of the transport network will 

safeguard existing jobs and businesses, especially in the strategically important manufacturing sector 

– as well as enabling further growth in jobs and housing in the Spatial Priority Areas by reducing the 

constraints posed by flood risk and transport network resilience.  

Amongst the projects identified in the indicative programme is: 

Scheme 8: Growing Resilience - the LCR Natural Flood Management Programme. A pipeline of 

projects is being developed by Local Authorities, Catchment Partnerships, Yorkshire Dales National 

Park Authority, Yorkshire Wildlife Trust, White Rose Forest and Yorkshire Water initiative to 

implement natural flood management measures within prioritised sub-catchment areas of the rivers 

Aire, Calder, Colne and Holme. LGF contribution will deliver a range of outcomes including increased 

woodland cover and run off attenuation measures within upper catchment areas to reduce flow 

rates. This will provide long term benefits for our urban centres and LCR Spatial Priority Areas 

downstream, as well as providing additional benefits like increased biodiversity, recreation and 

tourism activity and contributions to our target of a zero carbon economy. 

 

Business Case Summary: 

Strategic Case 
The role of strategic natural flood management at a catchment scale is clearly 
emerging at a national level of understanding as a long term and multi-benefit 
way to reducing flood risk and providing wider economic benefits to those 
catchments.  There is recognition that land management practice in our uplands 

84



has directly contributed to increasing the likelihood of flood risk.  The ground 
has generally been overgrazed, subject to acid rain and under gone compaction. 
NFM investment aims to undo this damage.  Therefore priority sub catchments’ 
vegetation needs to be restored and their soil treated to improve infiltration 
rates and increase the hydraulic roughness across the landscape to slow the 
flow of water.    

This is not a quick win solution, it will take decades to develop.  There’s a 
recognition that NFM investment will need to be undertaken systematically 
across our catchments, as opportunities arise, all the way to the end of the SEP 
timeline of 2036. 

This is in line with SEP Priority 3 – Clean Energy and environmental resilience 

Initiative 7 – make climate change adaptions and high quality green 
infrastructure integral to improving the City Region economy and its spatial 
priority areas 

Success measures :  Increase the quality and extent of GI including climate and 
carbon sequestration benefits related to tree cover 

Initiative 10 - Develop an integrated flood risk reduction programme, 
incorporating flood defences, green infrastructure and resilient development.  

The projects in the programme will reduce the risk of flooding to existing 
businesses and residential properties from the risk of flooding, and support and 
act as a catalyst for the wider development of the areas. 

GI Strategy Priority 1 – effective water management and flood risk reduction  

The work will also be closely aligned to priorities 5 and 6 namely ‘plant and 

manage more trees and woodland and restore uplands and manage them more 

sustainably. 

Commercial Case 
Clear drive from central government towards integrated planning and scheme 
development.  This can be seen by the formation of the National Infrastructure 
Commission, its links with the Flood Resilience Review, and the continued 
promotion of a Catchment Approach to engineer solutions for flood defence 
within communities of all sizes.  

The Northern Powerhouse concept has an increasing amount of governance 

formality around it, with a focus on transport and connectivity as a key enabler 

to achieving a step change in economic growth across the north. There is a 

growing recognition and awareness that this needs to be complemented by 

targeted green blue infrastructure investments in key places, and that the 

resilience of existing economic activity needs to be improved in order to enable 

Good Growth.  This has been developed strategically by the development of the 

Northern Forrest.    

Economic Case 
The projects selected in this programme are all either within identified Rapid 
Response Catchments as provided by the Environment Agency or are located 
within priority sub-catchments modelled on behalf of the Environment Agency. 

Wessenden Valley was selected because it is within one of two Rapid Response 
Catchments in the Colne and Holme catchment. To date no further modelling 
has been undertaken within this catchment so these are primary guides. The 

85



other Rapid Response Catchment is above the Holme Valley and the advice 
from the landowner was that the current agreement with tenants and a 
Shooting Group would suggest that it would be difficult to process.  The 
Wessenden Valley however has had the long term involvement of a local 
community group and the local authority in developing long-term landscape 
management change. 

Gorpley Reservoir is located above the Walsden Sub-Catchment identified by 
Calder Valley modelling to be one of four top priority sub-catchments in which 
NFM measures would have the greatest impact. 

Hardcastle Crags is located in the Hebden Water sub-catchment also identified 
by Calder Valley modelling to one of four priority sub-catchments in which NFM 
measures would have the greatest impact.  It is also the largest woodland 
complex in West Yorkshire. 

Upper Aire Land Management project are all located within the rapid response 

catchment and have been supported by the modelling carried out by the Leeds 

Flood Alleviation Scheme 2.  All the projects on the list have full landowner 

engagement with many of the projects being carried out on farming land with 

previous water framework directive investment. 

Financial Case 
The programme is looking to drawdown £1.7 million from WYCA over a four 
year period. Funding will also be provided from the Countryside Stewardship 
Scheme, Calderdale Local and Flooding Funds, Moorlife 2020 and the Leeds 
Flood Alleviation Scheme 2. 

The project management costs will be funded by including approximately 10% 

‘execution costs’ for the local growth fund 3 element of the project. 

Management Case 
Colne and Calder projects will combine the three larger projects under one 
management process with the National Trust a White Rose Forest signatory, 
acting as accountable body. 

The execution costs will be used to employ an experienced contracts manager 
who would be line managed by the National Trust West Yorkshire manager for 
administration purposes. 

The contract manager would then work directly with the 3 respective project 
management groups.  These groups membership is based on roles and 
responsibilities identified in the development of the OBC.  For the FBC these 
roles will be reflected in the management plans. 

The National Trust Chair the Hardcastle Crags project group. This group is made 
up of Environment Agency, Slow the flow Calderdale, Pennine Prospects and 
Moors for the future.   

Gorpley has a project management group made up of Yorkshire Water 
(landowner), Calderdale Council (likely lease), Woodland Trust, Treesponsibility 
and Kirklees Council (White Rose Forest Partnership Manager), Environment 
Agency.  National Trust contracts manager would join this group and begin work 
setting up the tendering and procurement process as per the FBC.  

The Upper Aire Land Management project will be governed by the Upper Aire 

partnership which is made up of a membership from Yorkshire Wildlife Trust, 

86



 

Yorkshire Farming and Wildlife Partnership, Environment Agency and the 

Yorkshire Dales National Park.  Yorkshire Wildlife Trust, a White Rose Forest 

signatory will be employed by Yorkshire Wildlife Trust and will be managed 

using Yorkshire Wildlife Trust’s Human Resources policies and procedures.  

Yorkshire Farming and Wildlife Partnership will be a key delivery partner and 

close liaison will also take place with Craven and Pendle District Councils and 

North Yorkshire County Council where project delivery takes place in their 

districts to ensure that the Good growth guide will be integrated into the 

project delivery. 

87



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Scheme Summary 

 

Name of Scheme: Wykebeck Flood Alleviation  

PMO Scheme Code: GD-PA4-020B 

Lead Organisation: Leeds City Council 

Senior Responsible Officer:  Adam Brannen 

Lead Promoter Contact: Daisy Johnson – Project Manager – WYCA 

Case Officer: Paul Coy 

 

Applicable Funding 
Stream(s) – Grant or Loan: 

Local Growth Deal 3 

Growth Fund Priority Area 
(if applicable): 

Aligns with;  

Priority Area 3 – Clean Energy and Environmental Resilience 

Priority Area 4 – Infrastructure for Growth 

 

Approvals to Date:  

Forecasted Full Approval 
Date (Decision Point 5): 

February 2018 

Forecasted Completion 
Date (Decision Point 6): 

October 2019 

 

Total Scheme Cost (£): £4,167,800 

WYCA Funding (£): £2.6 million 

Total other public sector 
investment (£): 

£0.05 levy 

Total other private sector 
investment (£): 

£0.99 S106 Drainage 

£0.526 S106 Greenspace 

 

Is this a standalone Project? No 

Is this a Programme? Yes – Phase 2 of the FAS programme  

Is this Project part of an 
agreed Programme? 

Yes 

 

89

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 4



2 
 

Current Assurance Process Activity: 

 
 

Scheme Description: 

The Wyke Beck watercourse starts at Waterloo Lake in Roundhay Park in north Leeds and flows through 
the east of the city, into the Aire Valley Enterprise Zone, before joining with the river Aire, south-east 
of the city centre. 

The Wyke Beck valley river catchment has a long history of flooding and drainage issues. Leeds City 
Council (LCC) in partnership with the Environment Agency (EA) have developed a plan to address these 
issues in order to meet strategic priorities for Leeds City Region in particular managing flood risk and 
sustaining green infrastructure. A catchment wide approach has been taken, as sought in the Leeds 
City Region Flood Review. The three independent but complementary schemes are all situated within 
Local Nature Reserves associated with Wyke Beck and provide multiple benefits. 

The Wyke Beck Valley is also an extremely important green corridor for wildlife having several unique 
Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) Priority Habitats of high ecological value. Habitats of moderate to high 
ecological value within the valley include a number of semi-natural, broad-leaved woodlands (Lowland 
Mixed Deciduous Woodland UK BAP Priority Habitat) with an extensive distribution of woodland 
ground flora species indicating their value as long-established, semi-natural woodland. 

A number of species-rich hedgerows have been identified within the valley (Hedgerows UK BAP Priority 
Habitat).  These hedgerows are of high ecological value acting as important corridor links between the 
sites and providing habitat opportunities for many species of plants and animals.  

White-clawed crayfish has a breeding population within the Wyke Beck. Six species of bat have been 
recorded foraging within the Valley.  Many birds listed as UK and Local BAP Priority Species and birds 
listed on the red and amber list of Birds of Conservation Concern have also recorded in the Valley. This 
project will help to secure the future of these valuable habitats.  

Killingbeck Meadows Naturalised Flood Storage Scheme (KMNFSS) 

The proposed flood alleviation development consists of an earthwork embankment constructed across 
the watercourse with an outlet control structure to create a temporary storage area of up to 45,000 cu 
m in high flow events. The control structure is such that the spillway will provide up to 1 in 100 year 
flood protection to residential properties downstream. In addition protection to the residential 
properties immediately to the west of the spillway is provided by a reinforced wall to ensure no 
additional flood risk is created when the storage area is operating at capacity. 

To reduce the volume of material imported to construct the earth embankment, to maximise the flood 
storage and to provide improved habitats and visual appearance of the greenspace, it is proposed to 
excavate a number of ponds and scrapes to provide some or all of the required material. Any excess 
excavated material that is not suitable for the embankment construction will be utilised within the site 
for landscaping.  

The scheme will provide habitat creation and new planting to improve the biodiversity of the area.  A 
new surfaced public footpath on top of the earth embankment will provide a pedestrian link across the 

90



3 
 

site into the Killingbeck Fields area and beyond. A number of amenity interpretation points are 
proposed along with a proposed viewpoint. 

During construction, two temporary vehicle access points, one from Foundry Lane and one from Wyke 
Beck Valley Road, are to be provided. Any impacts arising from the temporary vehicular access and 
manging construction noise/dust will be addressed through planning and through ongoing local 
community engagement as set out in the Council’s Communication Strategy section 6.4.  On 
completion of the development these access routes will be removed and the land restored to its 
original condition.   

Planning permission was secured in February 2017 for a natural flood management scheme to create 
a flood storage area with a capacity of 25,000 cu.m within an area known locally as Killingbeck Fields 
which is part of the Wyke Beck Valley corridor.  Further option appraisal has been carried out that has 
now determined that more storage capacity can be achieved and the proposed scheme will provide 
45,000 cu m of storage will directly benefit sixty properties downstream, mostly within the Dunhill’s 
area.  

Arthur’s Rein Re-Profiling and De- Culverting 

Arthur’s Rein is also located within Local Nature Reserve. The area consists of low-lying and fragmented 
amenity grassland with an open water channel, fed by a culverted drain, that feeds in to the Wyke Beck 
in the Seacroft Area of Leeds. To facilitate the development of a housing site at Kentmere Approach it 
is necessary to increase the capacity of the existing drain. By constructing an open channel instead of 
a large culvert in place of the existing there is opportunity to enhance the   environment locally and 
achieve habitat improvements in addition to managing flood risk. 

The scheme involves the excavation of approx. 200cu.m of earth to create an open water channel with 
graded banks to a depth of between 1 - 1.4 m. The channel is designed to be a natural sinuous route 
varying in width. The excavated material will be used on the adjacent land to create low level mounding 
that will include new tree planting. A new open porous tarmac path will be created to provide 
pedestrian access along the existing pedestrian desire line. In addition the semi-circular area of land 
immediately to the north east and surrounded by highway will benefit from re-profiling of the open 
watercourse, inclusion of marginal scrapes together with habitat improvements through creation of 
pollinator habitats, and tree planting.  

Halton Moor Local Nature Reserve (LNR) 

Halton Moor Local Nature Reserve (LNR 15) is located in one of the most deprived areas of Leeds 
(ranked in the lowest 10% in the IMD national Ranking – Indices of deprivation 2010). It consists of 
15.84 ha amenity greenspace, comprising of a 20m wide riparian corridor either side of the Wyke Beck, 
together with young amenity woodland plantation and a wide area of close mown amenity grassland.   

The riparian channel within the LNR provides a potentially important refuge for white clawed crayfish. 
The Wyke Beck as a whole is home to a regionally important population of this endangered native 
species. The amenity woodland, extended in 2005, consists of a young, even aged structure of largely 
native species, but with a very limited herb layer. The bulk of the green space currently comprises of 
short mown, amenity grassland of extremely limited biodiversity. The Wyke Beck Way cycle route 
crosses the site running north to south along the course of the beck, linking directly with a Core Cycle 
Route (No. 12), which links with the Trans Pennine Trail. 

The site’s designation as a Local Nature Reserve in 2014, reflected the local communities desire to 
enhance the profile of their local green space. In 2017 the site was extended by approximately 5 ha in 
a bid to facilitate our desire to properly connect it to proposed new housing development and 
ultimately for the site to contribute to a wider, multi-functional, green corridor that properly marries 

91



4 
 

naturalised flood management, non-motorised public access that properly links with other 
destinations, together with an increase in biodiversity, along the whole catchment.  

In developing this new project, we have divided the site in to two parts, North and South of Neville 
Road. Throughout the site, it is our intention to create a sense that this is a ‘Quality Place’, that 
encourages public access for walking, cycling, both to explore the site, but also as a preferred route, 
away from the main roads, to reach other destinations.  This will contribute to our growing 
understanding of the important ‘Health and Wellbeing’ (both physical and mental) that well designed 
green infrastructure provides to local people. The site is currently lacking in biodiversity and it is our 
intention to create and encourage a range of new ‘Wildlife Habitats’, including important connected 
‘pollinator habitats’, that benefit a wide range of species. A community orchard will be provided in 
partnership with the local Meadow Field Primary School and the local community and this led by the 
Wyke Beck Project Officer. LCC will continue to maintain this. Whilst it is difficult to quantify, these 
improvements will make a contribution to our City-wide aim of adapting to ‘Climate Change’ and 
improving ‘Air and Water Quality’. When viewed alongside those projects planned for Killingbeck Fields 
and Arthur’s Rein this contribution will be significant for the Wyke Beck catchment. 

 

Business Case Summary: 

Strategic Case The flood risk management schemes at Killingbeck Fields and Arthur’s Rein will 
facilitate residential development activity on marginal LCC brownfield sites in 
East Leeds that would otherwise not come forward for development because of 
the current flooding/drainage capacity issues affecting the Wyke Beck 
catchment area. Furthermore, some of the funding for the Killingbeck Meadows 
scheme will come in part from developer S106 contributions, in return for 
allowing unrestricted surface water discharge at greenfield rates in to the Wyke 
Beck.  

In addition S106 Greenspace contributions will fund greenspace provision 
across the project. 

Bringing forward these marginal brownfield sites for development is a key 
priority for LCC to meet its Core Strategy housing growth targets, as well as 
supporting regeneration of deprived neighbourhoods in East Leeds through 
investment in housing. It will also support the Council’s Vision for Leeds and 
Best Council Plan. In addition the project aligns with the economic and housing 
growth ambitions of WYCA for the Leeds City Region as outlined in the SEP. 

The flood storage area at Killingbeck Fields in particular will provide significant 
benefits to the Leeds City Region economy in terms of avoided damages to 
residential properties from future flooding in the Dunhill Estate area of Halton.  
Economic appraisal using the Multi-Coloured Manual Handbook suggests that 
£6.87m will be saved over 100 years.   Hydraulic modelling has shown that there 
are 50 properties at risk in a 1 in 20 year event, 75 properties at risk in a 1 in 75 
year event and 120 properties at risk in a 1 in 200 year event. Flooding was 
reported to a single property during heavy rainfall in August 2017. Frequent and 
severe flooding in this area over a number of years has caused emotional and 
well as financial trauma to local residents. This scheme will help to reduce the 
fear of flooding that residents have to live with on a daily basis. 

The three schemes, in particular Halton Moor LNR, will benefit the local 

community by improving the ‘quality of place’ for people living and working in 

92



5 
 

the area, which is a key priority for the Leeds City Region. This will be achieved 

by improving access to green spaces and through the delivery of high quality 

green infrastructure, with improved footpaths and cycle routes through the Wyke 

Beck valley. 

Commercial Case The project is required to support the wider regeneration of the 
neighbourhoods of East Leeds through facilitating housing development on 
largely brownfield sites within the Council’s BLP that was established in 2013. 
Significant development activity is expected within East Leeds over the next 10 
years that will drive forward the Council’s regeneration agenda and assist in 
meeting its housing growth targets set out in the Leeds Core Strategy. There are 
a number of former housing sites in the Seacroft and Halton Moor area which 
are earmarked for redevelopment, in addition to other large sites which already 
have planning consent including land to the rear of Seacroft Hospital. Overall, 
there is scope for circa 2,000 new homes to be delivered across Seacroft and 
Halton Moor. This project will directly facilitate 4 housing sites coming forward 
for development within the Council’s BLP with a total of 307 dwellings to be 
built.   

The demand for the project has derived in part from the housing developers 
wanting to facilitate housing development in East Leeds utilising the Council’s 
brownfield sites and the need for the Council to develop an integrated 
sustainable flood management solution for the Wyke Beck which will support 
the delivery of new housing and economic growth in this part of the city and 
address the area’s long standing flooding problems to residential properties 
within the catchment area. The latest modelling carried out by WSP on behalf of 
Leeds City Council shows that around 60 residential properties are at risk of 
flooding on the Dunhill Estate in Halton Moor and would be at a reduced risk 
following the construction of the KMNFSS.  

KMNFSS will be partly funded by S106 developer contributions. Without the 
integrated flood management solution for the Wyke Beck valley the catchment 
area would remain at risk from flooding with housing developers left with no 
alternative but to provide on-site drainage attenuation solutions that would be 
less sustainable and more costly to implement. By creating additional water 
storage capacity within the Wyke Beck catchment area in an integrated way, the 
scheme offers the most sustainable and cost effective solution to reducing flood 
risk and supporting regeneration through economic and housing growth in East 
Leeds. 

In addition S106 Greenspace contributions will fund greenspace provision across 

the project. 

Economic Case The preferred option for each of the schemes is summarised here: 

KMNFSS 

The smaller online (fully impounded) reservoir option with overflow weir and 

passive outlet control, with the variation of a reinforced concrete wall. This 

maximises the storage volume, whilst not encroaching on areas of protected 

greenspace. The construction of a reinforced concrete wall, minimises the 

extent of construction and avoids the need for realignment of the existing river 

93



6 
 

channel which has good habitat status for crayfish. The visual impact of the 

works and the effect on local trees and vegetation can be mitigated through 

planting trees and vegetation. Additional access amenity will be provided 

through the creation of new paths. 

Arthurs Rein 

Creation of an open channel to convey unrestricted flows from the Kentmere 

Approach housing development to Wyke Beck. This will provide additional 

capacity to convey flows and prevent increased flood risk in the vicinity. It will 

also provide opportunity for improved amenity arising from the above ground 

water feature, new access paths and additional tree planting. Biodiversity will 

be improved by the introduction of meadow grasses and the addition of 

marginal vegetation along the new channel. 

Halton Moor LNR 

It is our intention to create a sense that this is a ‘Quality Place’, that encourages 
public access for walking, cycling, both to explore the site, but also as a 
preferred route, away from the main roads, to reach other destinations.  This 
will contribute to our growing understanding of the important ‘Health and 
Wellbeing’ (both physical and mental) and the area will become a well-designed 
green space for local people to enjoy. The scheme will create and encourage a 
range of new ‘Wildlife Habitats’, including important connected ‘pollinator 
habitats’, that benefit a wide range of species. A community orchard will be 
provided in partnership with the local Meadow Field Primary School and the 
local community and this shall be led by the Wyke Beck Project Officer. LCC will 
continue to maintain this. 

Financial Case The £2.6m WYCA grant funding will be drawn down as a single pot of money in 
the current 2017/18 financial year. S106 contributions will be received in 
accordance with payment schedules set out in legal agreements with housing 
developers. The initial S106 payments received up to a value of £250,000 will be 
used by the Council to fund the project’s 10 year maintenance cost after the 3 
year establishment works has ended. 

Management Case The project will adopt Project Management lite which is Leeds City Council’s 
mandatory methodology and is a streamlined approach to delivering projects. It 
is based on the Office of Central Government Business Case and Treasury Green 
Book and incorporates the 5 case model. 

The project will be primarily a Leeds City Council (LCC) led scheme that will be 
managed by the Flood Risk Management (FRM) team in the Council. FRM will be 
responsible for managing: 

 WSP who will producing the design feasibility work for KMNFSS and 
Arthur’s Rein and preparing the submission of planning applications and 
securing planning permissions for both schemes and the role of 
Principal Designer; 

 The contract with Colas for delivering the civil works on KMNFSS and 
Arthur’s Rein; 

94



7 
 

 

 Future maintenance arrangements by liaison with existing maintenance 
contractors and LCC P&C; 

 The relationship with the Environment Agency with respect to their 
ongoing maintenance and flood warning and informing activities along 
the Main River reaches of the Wyke Beck. 

FRM will also closely work with the Council’s Parks and Countryside (P&C) 
Service to ensure that the landscaping works are coordinated with the 
contractor’s delivery programme of works. 

The Council will put in place a governance structure to define roles and 
responsibilities, reporting mechanisms and decision making processes to 
facilitate project delivery.  

Overall responsibility for managing the project will rest with Jonathan Moxon 
(Flood Risk Manager) who will chair a Wyke Beck Project that will include 
representatives from the Council’s P&C and Regeneration teams and external 
partners (WSP, YWT, Groundwork) and the Environment Agency. The Wyke 
Beck Project Board will meet up on a regular basis to review progress and 
address project issues. A WYCA representative will be invited to these meetings. 
Unresolved issues will be escalated to the Infrastructure & Investment Group 
that is jointly chaired by FRM and the Environment Agency and, if necessary, 
escalate to the Flood Resilience Programme Board which meets up on a 
quarterly basis and is chaired by the Director of City Development  

For the schemes themselves the lead person from the Council will be: 

 KMNFSS– Project Manager – Flood Risk Management  

 Arthur’s Rein de-culverting – Project Manager – Flood Risk 
Management 

 Halton MoorLNR – Project Manager – Parks and Countryside 

Project Manager – Flood Risk Management to lead and coordinate on the 
delivery of the civil engineering works managing both WSP and Colas works and 
working closely with P&C on the delivery of the landscape works.  

Project Manager – Parks and Countryside to lead on and coordinate the delivery 
of the landscaping works for all 3 schemes working closely with FRM, WSP and 
Colas, Project Manager (P&C) to manage external partners (YWT/Groundwork)  
in the delivery of the project with emphasis on consultation and engagement 
and recruitment of volunteers from within the local community. 

Senior Regeneration Officer (LCC) will provide a supportive role to the project 
working closely with FRM and P&C. 

95



This page is intentionally left blank



Scheme Summary 

 

Name of Scheme: York Outer Ring Road  

PMO Scheme Code: WYTF-PA4-046 

Lead Organisation: City of York Council 

Senior Responsible Officer: James Gilchrist, City of York Council  

Lead Promoter Contact: Gary Frost, City of York Council  

Case Officer: Thomas Murphy 

 

Applicable Funding Stream: Transport Fund  

Growth Fund Priority Area: Priority 4 

 

Approvals to Date: Gateway 1 – November 2014 – Full Programme 

Forecasted Full Approval Date 
(Decision Point 5): 

February 2018 

Forecasted Completion Date 
(Decision Point 6): 

December 2018 

 

Total Scheme Cost (£): £3.60m (Total Programme - £38.926m) 

WYCA Funding (£): £3.60m (Total Programme - £38.276m) 

Total other public sector 
investment (£): 

£0.65m historic development costs (City of York Council) at 
programme level. 

Total other private sector 
investment (£): 

None 

 

Is this a standalone Project? No 

Is this a Programme? No 

Is this Project part of an agreed 
Programme? 

Yes – York Outer Ring Road 

 

 

 

97

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 5



Current Assurance Process Activity: 

 
 

Scheme Description: 

The A1237 York Outer Ring Road (YORR) has been the subject of a comprehensive and long-term 

strategy to review and develop junction improvements at identified roundabouts along the route to 

improve and reduce journey times on this heavily congested route.  

The YORR Upgrade project includes improvements to 7 existing Outer Ring Road roundabouts between 

the Wetherby Road and Monks Cross junctions.  The aim is to, where possible, upgrade junctions to a 

similar standard as the recently enhanced A19 and A59 roundabouts: i.e. approaches widened to 3 

lanes, exits widened to 2 lanes, minor arm approaches widened to suit traffic flows, provision of 

walking and cycling improvements (including accommodation for future orbital and radial routes where 

possible). 

In order to deliver the YORR strategy it is proposed that it is delivered in a number of phases. 

Improvements to the roundabout at the junction of the A1237 and B1224 Wetherby Road will be 

delivered as Phase 1 of the YORR strategy. The proposed measures at this roundabout are: 

1) A1237 approaches widened to three lanes; 

2) A1237 exits widened to two lanes; 

3) Enlarge ICD of roundabout; 

4) Lane designations reallocated; and 

5) Minor arm amendments, including widening and lane remarking. 

 

Business Case Summary: 

Strategic Case 
At a programme level this scheme, along with the other City of York Council 

projects in the WY+TF, will allow York to perform strongly in terms of the West 

Yorkshire & York combined regions by realising and delivering on economic 

growth.  

The emerging York Local Plan 2017 – 2033 (YLP) has as a goal the improvement 

of the economic attractiveness of the City of York. Measures to support the 

achievement of this include proposals to enhance the city centre environment 

by improvements to traffic flow within and around the city. By improving the 

performance of the outer ring road to the north of the city traffic can be 

encouraged out of the city centre and onto the strategic highways. The YLP 

recognises that, without improvement, the current and forecast performance of 

the YORR is a barrier to investment in the growth set out in the plan. 

The scheme has also been developed to support other local, regional and 

national policies as detailed in the Full Business Case.  

98



 

 

Commercial Case The YORR scheme has been identified as being required to address the existing 

and forecast problems which are required to support local, regional and national 

policies.  

The need to deliver the YORR scheme is supported by previous research including 

that undertaken to develop the City of York Local Transport Plan and the 

emerging YLP.  The research and stakeholder engagement undertaken as part of 

the development of the City of York Local Transport Plan and the emerging York 

Local Plan has identified the need for improvements to the YORR in support of 

local, regional and national policies and strategies. 

There are several major housing schemes within the YLP that are located in the 

vicinity of the YORR.  These schemes will be implemented over the period to 

2038, and will generate additional traffic, in particular along the YORR.   

Phase 1 will be delivered by City of York Council’s Direct Labour Organisation.  

Economic Case 
The Economic Case has been developed to cover the whole York Outer Ring Road 

programme. 

The economic case assesses the proposed scheme to identify its economic 

impacts, and the resulting Value for Money. In line with WYCA appraisal 

requirements, the impacts considered are not limited to those directly impacting 

on the measured economy or only those which can be monetised. The economic, 

environmental, social and distributional impacts of a proposal are all examined, 

using qualitative, quantitative and monetised information as appropriate and 

proportional to the level of the scheme.  

Financial Case The Financial Case concentrates on the affordability of the proposal, its funding 
arrangements and technical accounting issues (value for money is scrutinised in 
the Economic Case). It presents the financial affordability of the preferred 
option and the impact of the proposed scheme on the WY+TF budgets and 
accounts. It presents the expected whole life costs of the scheme from 
construction to a 60 year appraisal period from scheme opening. 

Management Case 
The individual elements of the project are relatively simple highway widening 

schemes with no major delivery concerns. The majority of the works can be 

delivered using existing local highway authority powers.  

CYC has recent experience of delivering junction improvements in the area, 

whilst minimising the impact on road users. Two schemes on the York Outer 

Ring Road have already been successfully delivered by the Authority. The 

proposed junction upgrades in the YORR scheme will follow the same form as 

those undertaken for the recently completed projects. Valuable experience has 

been gained from these schemes in relation to consultation, land negotiations, 

planning, design, implementation and delivery. The lessons learnt from these 

delivered schemes have been used as starting point for developing the delivery 

strategy for this scheme. 

99



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 

Scheme Summary 

 

Name of Scheme: Cycle City Ambition Grant (City Connect)  

PMO Scheme Code: LTP-CCAG-001 

Lead Organisation: West Yorkshire Combined Authority 

Senior Responsible Officer:  Kate Thompson 

Lead Promoter Contact: Fiona Limb 
 

Applicable Funding Stream: Department for Transport Cycle and City Ambition Grant 

Growth Fund Priority Area: N/A 
 

Forecasted Full Approval 
Date (Decision Point 5): 

July 2017 

Forecasted Completion 
Date: 

March 2019 

 

Total Scheme Cost (£): £56,460,000 

WYCA Funding (£): 
Cycle and City Ambition Grant - £40,158,000 
Local Transport Plan (Implementation Plan 2 & 3) - £14,363,000 

Total other public sector 
investment (£): 

£4,125,000 

Total other private sector 
investment (£): 

£0 

 

Current Assurance Process Activity: 

 
 
 

Scheme Description: 

The adopted legacy strategy following the hosting of the Tour de France Grand Depart in 2014 
recognises how greater levels of participation in cycling (and walking) would have benefits for the 
economy and for health and well-being. The legacy strategy, and the approach being adopted in the 
development of the West Yorkshire Transport Strategy, involves a long term approach to creating a 
physical environment that is more conducive to cycling and walking. This approach has been facilitated 
by two successful bids for Cycle City Ambition Grant Funds, securing £40 million for investment in high 
quality cycling and walking infrastructure across West Yorkshire and York. 

These two separate bids were combined into a single programme with a value of £55m, funded through 
Cycle City Ambition Grant, Local Transport Plan funding and a range of other sources of local match 
funding.   

The programme is being delivered in two distinct phases to reflect the scope within each of the bids. 
To date Phase 1 is largely complete, with Phase 2 schemes moving towards the delivery phase.  

The table below provides a description of each of the projects/schemes within the overall programme 
(Phase 1 and 2). In addition to these infrastructure schemes the programme includes funded packages 101

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 6



 

2 
 

of Communication and Engagement activity, a Monitoring and Evaluation programme and Programme 
Management: 

Phase 1 

Leeds – Bradford Cycle Superhighway 

Split into two sections CS1 Superhighway is just over fourteen kilometres of segregated cycle route between 

Leeds and Bradford, running from Leeds city centre along the A647 to the new Broadway shopping centre right 

in the heart of Bradford. CS2 is 6km of segregated cycle route along the A64 York Road between Leeds City 

Centre and Seacroft.  

Leeds 20mph Zones 

Delivery of 20mph zones within communities along the superhighway route to create streets that are safer for 

all users, creating areas that are much more liveable and attractive for cycling and walking and providing access 

to the Superhighway. 

Bradford 20mph Zones 

Delivery of 20mph zones within communities along the superhighway route to create streets that are safer for 

all users, creating areas that are much more liveable and attractive for cycling and walking and providing access 

to the Superhighway 

Phase 1 Canal Towpath Project 

Upgrade of 16km of the Leeds-Liverpool Canal towpath between Kirkstall and Shipley to create an all-weather 

high quality path suitable for commuting or leisure by all users. Along with improving access by removing and 

upgrading barriers.   

Leeds Cycle Parking and Hubs 

An additional 340 on street cycle parking spaces was provided in Leeds City Centre. The project also aimed to 

provide a high quality cycle hub in the city. 

CityConnect Walking and go:walking 

A range of walking engagement activities delivered in target areas of health deprivation in partnership with 

Living Streets and Public Health through community based delivery organisations.  

 

Phase 2 

Leeds City Centre 

The Leeds CityConnect scheme will expand the Cycle Superhighway network in Leeds City Centre, providing 

links to the education quarter and a central cycling loop.  

Bradford Canal Road 

The new segregated cycle route would run between the City Centre nearby the Forster Square Rail station area, 

for approximately 2.3km along the Canal Road/Valley Road corridor. 

Castleford to Wakefield 

The Castleford to Wakefield Greenway project will deliver a fully surfaced cycle path from Castleford to 

Wakefield alongside the River Calder, filling in the gaps of the existing greenway and providing bridge access 

over the Hallam line. This project is planned to be delivered in five phases, some with interdependencies.  

Canal Towpaths 

The Canals Project is delivering schemes on four canals in two phases.  

The Calderdale Canals project aims to improve the route between Tormorden and Brighouse, following the 

National Cycle Network Route 66 along the Rochdale and Calder-Hebble canals (the Rochdale element is 

planned to be delivered in two phases).  

In addition, there will be towpath improvements along the Huddersfield Narrow Canal from Huddersfield town 

centre to Golcar. 

Upgrades to the Leeds-Liverpool from Riddlesden to Silsden. 

Huddersfield Town Centre 

102



 

3 
 

The Huddersfield town centre project aims to provide new cycle infrastructure that will connect cyclists to 

the town centre removing the ring road as a barrier. It will look to improve the access to health and education 

facilities within the town and improve the connectivity to existing cycle infrastructure. 

Scarborough Bridge York 

This project consists of building a new, 3.5m wide bridge deck across the River Ouse near to the centre of York, 

adjacent to the existing Scarborough-line railway bridge. The bridge will have ramped access for pedestrians 

and cyclists. 
 

 

Business Case Summary: 

Strategic Case The programme aims to deliver on the vision to get ‘more people cycling (and 
walking) more often’, through the development of a hub and spoke network for 
cycling. Achieved through providing high quality segregated cycle networks within 
key towns and city centres.  

The programme objectives are:  

1 To increase walking and cycling so that it becomes part of a residents healthy 
living plan 

2 To make cycling a natural and popular choice for short journeys 

3 To make cycling accessible to all low income and vulnerable groups 

4 To improve access to employment, skills and education 

5 Reduce CO2 and improve local air quality 

6 Create a safe environment for active modes 

Reflecting on the strategic fit to the Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan and 

West Yorkshire Transport Strategy, the projects contained within the programme 

will support these strategies as detailed below. 

Transport Strategy 

This programme will make an important contribution to achieving the Transport 

Strategy’s interim target for 100% more trips to be made by bicycle by 2026 and 

helping deliver its key policy proposals to:  

 Make local walking and cycling networks safer, more attractive and convenient, 
linked to local facilities and the public transport network  

 Create more accessible, people friendly city/town centres, local centres and 
neighbourhoods – enabling access to the core cycling and walking network 
through improved local environments and destination. 

This programme will also seek to address health issues within West Yorkshire by 
delivering improved opportunities for physical activity through active travel in some 

of the most deprived areas in the region (with the lowest levels of health indicators).  

Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan 

The programme meets the following Priority 2 objectives from the SEP: 

 ”Deliver a ‘more jobs, better jobs’ programme to widen employment, skills, 
apprenticeships and progression opportunities, linked to neet-free goals” 

 Maximise positive connections between health, jobs and prosperity  

Commercial 
Case 

Each of the Phase 2 infrastructure projects has been developed using CCAG funding 

provided to the lead partners. The table below summarises the procurement route 

103



 

4 
 

and methodology being used for each of the phase 2 projects. (Phase 1 project have 

not been included as they are now substantially complete).  

Project  Procurement Route 

Leeds City Centre NEC3 Option C (Target Cost) contract with a pain / 

gain mechanism. 

Bradford Canal Road NEC3 Engineering and Construction Contract using 

Option B, a priced bill of quantities. 

Canals Use of Canals River Trust Framework Contractor – bill 

of Quantities and agreed rates (contactor appointed 

though OJEU tender process).  

Huddersfield Town Centre Tender for construction (Option B – Bill of Quantities) 

Wakefield-Castleford – Phase 1  NEC3 Option C (Target Contract With Activity 

Schedule) 

Wakefield-Castleford Greenway 

Bridge over Hallam Line 

OJEU tender for design and build contract. 

 

Wakefield-Castleford Greenway 

Phases 2, 3 and 4 

Contract with Sustrans in place for design and build 

(max value) 

Scarborough Bridge Network Rail to procure the works. 

Monitoring and Evaluation Use of Leeds Framework contract. 

Communications and 

Engagement 

Tenders in place for delivery partners and in house 

delivery 
 

Economic 
Case 

An updated value for money assessment for Phase 2 Programme was undertaken in 

May 2017 by external advisors using the WebTAG and HM Treasury Green Book 

guidance. The current overall Phase 2 Programme Level Benefit Cost Ratio is 1.64:1 

Financial Case Total Programme funding (Phase 1 & 2) is secured through a mix of CCAG, LTP and 
other public sector funding sources.  

Source Value  

CCAG (Phase 1&2) £44,158,000 

LTP (IP2 & IP3) £14,363,000 

Public Health (Leeds) £149,000 

Department for Health £250,000 

District PH Contributions £40,000 

DfT CW2W £1,500,000 

Total £56,460,000 

Spend profile for the full programme is over 8 years, with the delivery of Phase 2 in 
2017/18 and 2018/19. 

Approval has been granted to deliver the following schemes with the funding 
available: 

 Leeds City Centre  

 Bradford Canal Road Cycleway 

 Canals – Calder Hebble, Rochdale Phase 1, Huddersfield Narrow Canal, 
Airedale Greenway 

 Castleford to Wakefield Greenway 

 York Scarborough Bridge 

Due to funding constraints within the programme budget the following schemes will 
remain on a reserve list, pending funding becoming available to deliver them: 

104



 

5 
 

 

 

 Rochdale Canal Phase 2 (Hebden Bridge – Todmorden) 

 Huddersfield Town Centre 

Management 
Case 

A WYCA Programme Management team is in place to manage the overall 
programme. Each of the projects have a Project Executive and dedicated Project 
Manager. Project teams are in place and a wide range of resources are available to 
ensure that the projects are managed effectively.  

The programme is managed through the principles of ‘Managing Successful 
Programmes’ (MSP) and ‘Prince 2’ Project management. There is an established 
Programme Board that meets monthly to oversee the delivery of the programme 
and make decisions on key issues (within the Programme tolerance levels).  

The programme has an approved PID and each of the Projects also have approved 
PIDs and Briefs. All documentation, Exception Reports, Request for Changes, etc. are 
managed and recorded through the Programme Board. In addition there is a full 

suite of management documentation which is available including a Risk 

management strategy and associated risk registers.   

The Programme includes the following delivery partners: 

 Leeds City Council 

 Bradford Met District Council 

 Kirklees Council 

 Calderdale Council 

 Wakefield Council 

 York City Council 

 Canal and River Trust 

 WYCA 

 Living Streets 

In addition the programme has an independent advisory group that is made up of 
key stakeholders. This group meet monthly to provide advice, input and scrutiny to 

the programme, for example on issues of design and quality. The chair of this group 
also sits on Programme Board to provide input where necessary.  

105



This page is intentionally left blank



Scheme Summary 

 

Name of Scheme: Access Innovation Programme 

PMO Scheme Code: WYCA-EU-002 

Lead Organisation: WYCA 

Senior Responsible Officer:  Not stated 

Lead Promoter Contact: Henry Rigg 
 

Applicable Funding Stream: 

WYCA Contributions (including overhead costs) £484,680 from 
WYCA’s LGF-funded Access to Capital Grants programme 

ERDF £4,264,558 

SME Contributions £4,425,000 

Growth Fund Priority Area 
(if applicable): 

The proposed scheme will contribute to the Leeds City Region 

Strategic Economic Plan 2016, Priority 1: Growing Businesses, Key 

Action Area (B) - ‘Innovation by delivering high quality innovation 

product and services, maximising the role of the universities in 

innovation and working with Innovate UK’. 

It will also contribute to Priority 2: - ‘creating an ecosystem of 
innovative SMEs to help create more and better jobs’. 

 

Forecasted Full Approval 
Date (Decision Point 5): 

It could be a very short timescale to reach Decision Point 5. Given that 
the programme successfully applied for £4.26m ERDF grant, that WYCA 
has already secured and allocated £484,680 from LGF for capital grants, 
with a balance of £4.43m from SME contributions, with external 
funding in place it would make sense to progress to request MD 
delegated authority for the next DP. 

Forecasted Completion 
Date: 

Scheme completion 31.03.2020 

 

Total Scheme Cost (£): £9,174,238 

WYCA Funding (£): 
WYCA Contributions (including overhead costs) £484,680 from 
WYCA’s LGF-funded Access to Capital Grants programme 

Total other public sector 
investment (£): 

ERDF   £4,264,558 

Total other private sector 
investment (£): 

SME Contributions   £4,425,000 

 

Is this a standalone Project? Yes 

Is this a Programme? Yes 

107

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 7



Is this Project part of an 
agreed Programme? 

No  

Current Funding Allocation: 
The programme successfully applied for £4.26m ERDF grant, WYCA has 
already secured and allocated £484,680 from LGF for capital grants, 
with a balance of £4.43m to find from SME contributions 

Current Assurance Process Activity: 

 
 

Scheme Description: 

New Programme designed to support innovation activity by SMEs in LCR 

Programme funded from three sources (£9.2m total): 

 ERDF - £4.3m secured for this programme 

 LGF Access to Capital Grants Programme - £0.5m – already allocated 

 Private Sector Match Funding - £4.4m – expected from businesses as part of their application 

Strong Strategic Fit: 

Scheme fits to the LCR SEP (2016) and Priority Area 1, Key Action Area (B) – “delivery high quality 

innovation products and services and maximise the role of the universities in innovation” 

High level outputs include; 

 98 jobs created/safe guarded 

444 Businesses created/assisted 
 

Business Case Summary: 

Strategic Case The programme has a close fit with the current Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) 
for Leeds City Region (refreshed in 2016), and particularly it’s Priority 1, Key 
Action Area (B), ‘deliver high quality innovation products and services and 
maximise the role of the universities in innovation’.  

The programme will also focus on the SEP’s six priority sectors, and on those 
sub-sectors that have most potential to increase rates of SME innovation, 
leading to the development of new products and services. In turn, these have 
the most potential to enter new markets, including overseas ones, which can 
deliver significant economic impact for the city region and national economy.   

SME innovation rates in Leeds City Region, and the take-up of local and national 
innovation support products, such as those available from universities and 
Innovate UK, are comparatively low, particularly when you consider the size of 
business base and the university sector. Therefore, this programme will help to 
address two of the city region’s major strategic priorities: - to increase the rate 
of innovation within SMEs and to improve the level of collaboration between 
SMEs and Higher Education Institutions (HEIs).   The LEP Board and the Business, 
Innovation and Growth Panel are supportive of this programme, as is the city 
region’s ESIF Sub-Committee.     

108



 

The programme will also contribute to Priority 2 of the SEP: - ‘creating an 
ecosystem of innovative SMEs to help create more and better jobs’. This also 
links the programme to the CA’s Inclusive Growth workstream i.e. focussing on 
better paid jobs in local firms.   

Commercial Case The commercial case for supporting SMEs to undertake innovation activity is 
that those businesses that continually develop new products, processes and 
services are far more likely to grow and prosper. In turn, they are in stronger 
position to secure external commercial finance (from banks and venture 
capitalist) and be awarded research-related funding from such sources as 
Innovate UK, Catapult Centres or the Knowledge Transfer Network.  

Furthermore, national Government investment in new R&D/innovation facilities 
is much more likely to land in areas with strong innovation eco-systems, which 
this programme would help to develop further in Leeds City Region.   

Economic Case There is clear evidence from numerous sources of the positive economic impact 
of SMEs undertaking innovation activity i.e. developing, commercialising and 
enhancing products and services to meet demand from consumers and business 
customers. Parts of the country with high SME innovation rates perform better 
in economic terms, and there is a similar correlation between economic growth 
and areas with strong performing HEIs e.g. Cambridge, Oxford and York.  

The programme will also create/safeguard 98 jobs, which are likely to be at a 
highly-skilled and well-paid level bearing in the innovative nature of the SMEs to 
be involved.       

Financial Case The programme is delivering decent value for money In terms of its outputs and 
outcomes. This is particularly the case with the businesses accessing the grant 
as that level of support is regarded as ‘intensive’. Nationally, the average cost 
per intensive assist is circa £50K and on this the average cost is just £17,478 per 
intensive assist. The cost per job on the programme of circa £43,500 is above 
the national average for grant schemes (currently circa £30K per job). However, 
the value for money remains strong bearing in mind that the jobs will be highly 
skilled and likely to be significantly above the Living Wage.    

Management Case There is a well-resourced team in place to support delivery of the programme, 
with a programme manager, project manager, and two monitoring officers, plus 
the team of three Innovation Growth Managers who will be engaging directly 
with the SMEs and supporting the through the application process. However, it 
will remain challenging to encourage SMEs to engage with the programme, 
particularly around the procurement requirements each must undertake, 
Therefore, the team will focus on providing intensive ‘hands on’ support to 
SMEs and innovation suppliers to guide both through the process. 

The programme has clear and effective governance in place, with a Project 
Executive Group (with public and private sector members) having met twice 
already, and direct strategic links to the CA/LEP’s Business, Innovation and 
Growth Panel. The risks associated with the programme are being actively 
managed by the Executive Group.   

WYCA is experienced in managing a wide range of complex projects, 
programmes and services, such as this one, via funding from external sources.       

109



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Scheme Summary 

 

Name of Scheme: Strategic Business Growth Programme 

PMO Scheme Code: WYCA-EU-001 

Lead Organisation: WYCA 

Senior Responsible Officer:  Sue Cooke 

Lead Promoter Contact: Neill Fishman 

 

Applicable Funding Stream: ESIF and Access to Capital Grants (Local Growth Funding) 

Growth Fund Priority Area 
(if applicable): 

Priority 1 of SEP: Boost business growth, productivity, exports and 
investment by linking business to support and funding.  

 

 

Forecasted Full Approval 
Date (Decision Point 5): 

18th October 2017 

Forecasted Completion 
Date: 

January 2020 

 

Total Scheme Cost (£): £7,057,734  

WYCA Funding (£): £3,146,138 (ESIF - £2,156,138 & WYCA Capital Grants - £990,000) 

Total other public sector 
investment (£): 

£0 

Total other private sector 
investment (£): 

£3,911,596 (Match funding from SMEs receiving support and grants 
through programme) 

 

Is this a standalone Project? Yes 

Is this a Programme? No 

Is this Project part of an 
agreed Programme? 

No 

Current Funding Allocation: 
Yes – ESIF funding is secured for the project along with nominal 
allocation from Growth Deal.  

 

 

111

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 8



 

Current Assurance Process Activity: 

 
 

Scheme Description: 

The project will engage with small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs) across the Leeds City Region 
(LCR) with ambition and aspirations to grow through providing an integrated package of support. The 
package will comprise of tailored advice along with the financial support (capital grants) to help them 
grow and create new employment opportunities.  

The support will be targeted at SMEs operating within the LEPs priority sectors of; manufacturing, low 
carbon and environmental, financial and business services, digital and creative and health & life 
sciences.  

The programme will run until January 2020, funded through a combination of local and EU funding, 
matched by the enterprises engaged in the project and will deliver the following: 

 Provide one-to-one and one-to-many support to a minimum of 302 businesses; 

 Provide financial support to a minimum of 44 businesses (as part of the total of 302) 

 Create a minimum of 604  jobs within the Leeds City Region 

 Seek to lever at least £3.91m of private sector funding; 

 Support the growth of business in LCRs priority sectors 

 Realise additionality in complement projects.  
 

Business Case Summary: 

Strategic Case The project addresses Priority 1 of the SEP: Growing Business. It provides a 
capital grant and tailored support aimed at assisting SMEs from targeted sectors 
to grow and create new jobs. 

The project will boost business growth by linking business to structured one-to-
one and one-to-many support, as well as funding for capital investment.  

Business Growth through the Strategic Business Growth Programme will be 
seen in terms of job creation and production of new products, which fits with 
the vision in the SEP to ‘be a globally recognised economy where good growth 
delivers high levels of prosperity, jobs and quality of life for everyone’. The 
project will contribute to the targets of 35,000 additional jobs and £3.7 billion of 
annual economic output by 2036. Through working with firms that could double 
or even triple in size over the lifetime of the SEP.  

The project will be a key element of WYCA’s Growth Service, which acts as a 
single access point for all publically funded business support across the City 
Region.  

The scheme has been designed in response to the call for projects through the 
European Regional Development Fund (ERDF), which aims to improve 
competitiveness of SMEs by increasing capacity and capability. Funding has 
been allocated to this project from ERDF as it clearly demonstrates the strategic 
fit to this funding stream as well as an identified gap in provision.  

112



 

Commercial Case Closure of the National Business Growth Service (BGS) in March 2016 due to 
funding cuts, has led to gaps in advisory provision for growth in the LCR. 
Assistance with strategic business planning is a common issue for many 
businesses that contact support services, particularly the need for some expert 
coaching and mentoring to develop and implement a plan capable of unlocking 
their growth potential. This project and the availability of supporting funding 
through the ESIF programme provides the opportunity to address this gap in 
provision and address the needs of SMEs with growth potential.  

The project will help SMEs in LCR to: 

 Understand and undertake strategic planning to support growth of their 
business 

 Prepare for securing external finance 

 Accelerate growth leading to an increased economic contribution to the 
LCR (increased GVA and Growth) 

The companies will be targeted through referrals from a range of partners and 
agencies. 

A delivery partner has been procured through competitive tender to recruit 
SMEs to the project and deliver the specialist support and guidance. The capital 
grants element will be administered through the existing project team within 
WYCA through referrals from the delivery partner.  

Research has shown that a small proportion of SMEs create over half of all new 
jobs in the country and this project will provide the support necessary to enable 
SMEs in the region to grow, creating jobs and wealth. Complementary and 
previous comparable programmes have identified a gap in the market and need 
for this targeted support for SMEs, for example WYCA’s Growth Service 
supported over 1,200 businesses in its first nine months of operation.  

It is anticipated that approximately 44 SMEs will be awarded a capital grant 
through the project with an average value of £22.5k through a competitive 
process. This will represent 10-30% of the value of works/investment with the 
residual amounts being funded through match funding from the businesses 
themselves. This will provide investment in new equipment as well as 
alterations and fit out of premises. 

Economic Case The project is designed to deliver the following outputs that will lead to 
economic growth within the region: 

 Provide one-to-one and one-to-many support to a minimum of 302 
businesses by 2020 

 Provide financial support to a minimum of 44 businesses by 2020 (as part 
of the global figure of 302) where demonstrative evidence can be 
provided that financial intervention along with intensive business 
support will accelerate growth. 

 Create a minimum of 604 jobs within the Leeds City Region 

 Seek to lever at least £3.96m of private sector funding 

 Support the growth of business in LCRs priority sectors (manufacturing, 
low carbon and environment, financial & business services, digital & 
creative and health & life sciences)  

113



 

 

Through the financial strand of the programme, realise additionality in 
complementary projects - either supporting investment that would not 
otherwise happen, bring forward investment so that it is realised sooner or 
ensuring that investment happens on a greater scale. 

The value for money position of the Project has been assessed based on the 
expectations of the outputs from the project. Enhancing the competitiveness of 
SME’s is seen as the highest priority in terms of value of investment by both the 
European Commission and LEP. The Benefit to Cost Ratio has been determined 
to be 1.41:1 and the EU funding has been approved on this basis.  

Financial Case Funding has been identified to deliver the project through a successful bid to EU 
European Structural and Investment Funds, along with an allocation from 
WYCA’s access to Capital Grants. In addition the project anticipates match 
funding from Businesses supported through advice and grants. 

ESIF £2,156,138 

WYCA Capital Grants £990,000 

Private Sector Match £3,911,596 

Total £7,057,734 

The project will be plugging a gap in the market for support and advice to SMEs 
in the region. The Project costs and target outputs are based on previous similar 
initiatives and the delivery partner has been procured within expected costs. 

A detailed cost plan has been produced which is summarised below: 

 Project Marketing £71,000 

 Project Management Staff £250,522 

 Other Staff Costs £4,800 

 Consultancy (Delivery Partner) £1,743,833 

 Overheads £37,578 

 Capital Investment Items (business grants and SME contributions) 
£4,900,000 

Management Case The project is managed in accordance with best practice methodologies. WYCA 
is the lead contractor with responsibility for delivery of the project including 
procurement, marketing and managing the capital grants. A procured business 
support provider engages directly with the businesses and delivers the one-to-
one and one-to-many business support.  

The project has a team in place to manage the project including a Project 
Manager, Grants Officer and Monitoring officer. There is also an Operational 
Steering Group in place with representatives from district Local Authorities, this 
group reviews the performance and progress of the overall project including the 
business support provider and capital grants.  

The project is being delivered in line with the Full Application submitted to 
DCLG and refreshed in July 2017. A clear programme plan is in place for delivery 
of the project in line with the target completion date.  

114



Scheme Summary 
 

Name of Scheme: WYCA Park and Ride Programme – Mirfield A 

PMO Scheme Code: WYTF-PA4-039g 

Lead Organisation: WYCA 

Senior Responsible Officer:  Melanie Corcoran 

Lead Promoter Contact: Sara Brook 

Case Officer: Jessica McNeill 
 

Applicable Funding 
Stream(s) – Grant or Loan: 

West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund 

Growth Fund Priority Area 
(if applicable): 

Priority 4, Infrastructure for Growth 

 

Approvals to Date: 

OBC approved Dec 2015 

Development Funding allocation at OBC £36,894 

Full Business Case Submission target date April 2017 

Forecasted Full Approval 
Date (Decision Point 5): 

Friday 24th November 2017  

Forecasted Completion 
Date: 

10th May 2018 (programme including snagging) 

 

Total Scheme Cost (£): £308,863.07 

WYCA Funding (£): 
Balance of £271,969.07 at Activity 5.   

£36,894 already approved and allocated to the project. 

Total other public sector 
investment (£): 

N/A 

Total other private sector 
investment (£): 

N/A 

 

Is this a standalone Project? 
Yes – a standalone deliverable project which is part of a wider 
programme 

Is this a Programme? Yes 

Is this Project part of an 
agreed Programme? 

WYCA Park and Ride Programme 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

115

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 9



Project Description: 

Between 1998-2011 the number of rail passengers in Yorkshire grew by 65%; this growth is expected 
to continue with a 37% increase by 2027 (Source: Yorkshire Rail Network Study March 2012).  

Car park occupancy surveys conducted by WYCA between 2013-2016 at 46 West Yorkshire rail 
stations demonstrated capacity issues, especially at peak times; by 9am 48% of rail station car parks 
were 100% occupied and 86% of car parks were at 90%+ capacity. Suppressed demand at rail station 
car parks constrains the opportunity to enhance connectivity to, from and within West Yorkshire.  

The National Passenger Survey (Spring 2011) for the Yorkshire & Humber region indicates 81% of the 
respondents who drove, when asked, had no alternative mode of transport to the station and only 
59% of respondents were satisfied with car parking at rail stations.  

Therefore, as part of the West Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund, a package of car park extensions at rail 
stations has been identified to enhance connectivity to, from and within West Yorkshire. The purpose 
of the package is to increase car parking capacity at selected stations to support sustainable 
employment growth in the main urban centres however it will also support more travel into and 
between the urban centres by rail for other purposes. The package will produce other local benefits 
such as the reduction in on-street parking. The Programme Mandate defined the scope of works to 
the rail station car park only and did not include the rail station itself, adjacent highways or 
alternative modes of transport to and from the rail station.  

The package has been identified as an early win for the Transport Fund and the programme consists 
of 15 sites that have been prioritised according to deliverability, in particular sites that have adjacent 
Network Rail land available.  

There is a risk with the scheme in that the long term ability to use the site for the Trans Pennine 
Route Upgrade (TRU) is an ongoing uncertainty.  The timescale of the need for TRU is some years off 
and on this basis, the Programme Board has agreed to progress with works on the site identified on a 
low cost minimum standard car park design to ensure works are reflective of the long term 
uncertainty of use.  

The extension of the existing rail station car park at Mirfield A will provide the following:  

 56 standard car parking spaces.  

 3 Blue Badge car parking spaces.  

 An increase in overall car park capacity, from 35 to 59 (an increase of 68%).  

 CCTV and lighting.  
 
 
 
 

Business Case Summary: 

Strategic Case The strategic case for the project was comprehensively made at the outline 
business case and has been strengthened further within the full business case. 

The approach to increase parking within secure, dedicated surface car parks will 
deliver localised benefits in terms of improved access to the rail network and 
support sustainable employment growth in the main urban centres. 

Commercial Case The scheme is being delivered on Network Rail owned land.  In this regard 
certain restrictions and statutory obligations have to be adhered to.  To manage 
time and funding effectively and in consideration of lessons learnt from earlier 
sites in the programme, delivery will be via the preferred option through the 
Train Operating Company (TOC).   

116



 

 

Economic Case The scheme appraisal presents a ‘Very High’ Value for Money (VfM) category 
with a BCR of 3.8. 

Financial Case Total project costs for Mirfield A are £308,863.07 which includes contractor 
contingency and staff costs. 

Management Case Clear and consistent Project Governance is in place with dedicated project and 
programme resource. 

A clear delivery path has been agreed with all stakeholders and a contractor has 
been tendered through the required Rail Industry Specification framework by 
the Train Operating Company. 

117



This page is intentionally left blank



Scheme Summary 

 

Name of Scheme: Warm Homes Fund 

PMO Scheme Code: BHY-WHF-001 

Lead Organisation: West Yorkshire Combined Authority 

Senior Responsible Officer:  Elizabeth Courtney 

Lead Promoter Contact: Vicky Dumbrell, Programme Manager, Better Homes 

Case Officer: Daisy Johnson 

 

Applicable Funding 
Stream(s) – Grant or Loan: 

National Grid Warm Homes Fund Grant 

Growth Fund Priority Area 
(if applicable): 

Priority 3 – Clean Energy and Environmental Resilience 

Approvals to Date: 

PAT approval 15th November to proceed through Decision Point 2 and 
commence work on Activity 5. 

Leadership Team approval of Request for Decision to apply for funding 
dated 21/07/2017. 

Forecasted Full Approval 
Date (Decision Point 5): 

w/c 11th December 2017 

Forecasted Completion 
Date (Decision Point 6): 

February 2019 

Total Scheme Cost (£): £2,909,600 (including contingency) 

WYCA Funding (£): £1,619, 960 (to be funded from National Grid Warm Homes grant) 

Total other public sector 
investment (£): 

£825,000 District Match Funding 

(Includes £8.4k contingency budget from Warm Homes Fund) 

Total other private sector 
investment (£): 

£464,640 

(£80,640 Private Landlords + £20,400 EON + £363,600 Northern Gas 
Networks) 

Is this a standalone Project? Yes 

Is this a Programme? No 

Is this Project part of an 
agreed Programme? 

Yes. It is part of the Better Homes Yorkshire programme. 

119

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 10



Current Assurance Process Activity: 

 
 

Scheme Description: 

The Leeds City Region Warm Homes Programme and Projects will deliver 704 new gas central heating 

systems, and 202 gas connections where appropriate, to fuel poor households. 500 of these systems 

will be for social housing (Housing Leeds), and 204 will be in privately owned or rented properties 

across the 10 local authority areas in the Leeds City Region.  

Many of the fuel poor households in LCR do not use mains gas to heat their homes; identifying and 

improving these properties will be the overarching aim of the LCR Warm Homes Programme. 

The Programme has been developed in response to National Grid’s £150m Warm Homes Fund which 

was announced in July 2017, to be awarded in three rounds.  WYCA and partners have developed a 

£1.6m bid, which was submitted to National Grid in September 2017. 

The Warm Homes programme will be delivered through the well-established Better Homes Yorkshire 

programme and contracts.  

Scheme Outputs: 

 704 gas central heating systems 

 Standard Housing insulation measures where required 

 202 gas connections 

Each system includes a full wet system, condensing boiler, controls, 7 radiators, pre-measure Energy 

Performance Certificate, and 1 post install support visit. Additionally, a proportion of typically 

occurring extra-over items have been included in the cost per system. The post install visit will include 

energy efficiency, and tariff set up and switching advice.  Data gathered from these visits will form 

part of the evaluation of the Programme. 

Scheme Objectives: 

 Secure £1,619,960 Warm Homes Funding from National Grid by November 2017 

 Secure £825k partner match funding by March 2019 

 Deliver 704 gas central heating systems by March 2019 

 Deliver 202 new gas connections in partnership with Northern Gas Networks by March 2019 

 Insulate properties where an assessment has identified a need for standard measures 
 

Business Case Summary: 

Strategic Case 
The Programme will contribute towards the Leeds City Region Strategic 

Economic Plan (SEP) Vision “to be a globally recognised economy where good 

growth delivers high levels of prosperity, jobs and quality of life for everyone” 

by supporting the people who can least afford it, to meet a fundamental and 

basic need, of a warm and dry place to live.   In addition to tackling fuel poverty, 

providing efficient heating also reduces excessive carbon emissions which can 

120



result from inefficient systems. Specifically it will address Priorities 3 and 4 of 

the SEP. 

The full business case sets out how the project will support delivery of national 
policy including the Energy Act 2011; the March 2015 fuel poverty target; the 
Leeds City Region Housing and Regeneration Strategy (2014); the 2012 Home 
Energy Conservation Act; the 2008 Climate Change Act; and the Energy 
Company Obligation regulations.  

Locally, the project will also support delivery of participating local authorities’ 
Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategies which sees addressing fuel poverty as key. 

Engagement has been carried out with members from all local authorities, and 
with local level partners including the third sector (Age UK, Citizens Advice, 
Financial Inclusion Groups, and Benefits Advisory Groups). 

Lessons from the previous Central Heating Fund Lessons Learned Log have 
captured feedback from beneficiaries. 

Commercial Case The Leeds City Region is home to around 3m people and has around 140,000 fuel 
poor households, which represents an average fuel poverty rate of 10.8%, 
compared to 10.4% nationally.  

The 500 social housing properties which will be improved through Leeds City 
Region Warm Homes represents around 9% of non-high rise, off gas LCC housing 
stock.  

Privately Owned Properties: 

All local authorities have Call Off contracts from WYCA’s Framework Agreement.  

These contracting arrangements are OJEU (Official Journal of the European 

Union) compliant, and it is a Framework of one, the Local Authorities have 

exclusively committed to delivering these works through this contract.    

Keepmoat Regeneration (Keepmoat Regen have recently been acquired by Engie) 

are contracted to deliver energy efficiency and heating measures and surveys 

across the city region.  

Keepmoat are responsible for putting in place supply chain to deliver the 

measures, the supply chain partner has been identified as Scarbrooks Plumbing 

and a formal Order will be placed with Scarbrooks by Keepmoat upon receipt of 

Order from WYCA and the authorities.  However Scarbrooks are already engaged 

and have been consulted in project processes. Scarbrooks also delivered the LCR 

Central Heating Fund measures.  

Social Housing: 

Housing Leeds have an existing OJEU compliant Framework of suppliers to fit 

heating and energy efficiency measures and will appoint suppliers from this 

Framework.   

Contracts were set up in 2014 and prices were benchmarked in June 2017. 

Economic Case A number of options for delivery were considered and appraised and an 
approach to calculating monetised benefits and costs was the preferred option. 
Wider scheme benefits include carbon savings and the advantages to health of 

121



 

living in a warm home, as well as the jobs supported through delivery of the 
scheme.  An initial Benefit to Cost Ratio is proposed at 1.8. 

Financial Case The total project cost will be £2,901,200.  

~£1.600m from National Grid and £825,000 local authority match funding will 

fund ~204 central heating systems in privately owned or rented properties, and 

500 social housing central heating systems. 

£80,640 of projected landlord contributions will be used towards ~22% of central 

heating system installations in the Private Rented Sector.  

£20,400 from EON will be used to contribute towards 20% of the central heating 

system installations in the Private Rented Sector. 

£363,600 from Northern Gas Networks will fund the 202 new gas connections 

through the Fuel Poverty Network Extension scheme. 

Management Case WYCA will be lead partner and responsible for delivery, WYCA will enter into the 

funding agreement with National Grid. The Warm Homes programme will be 

delivered through the well-established Better Homes Yorkshire programme and 

contracts. 

The measures to owner occupied, and privately rented, properties will be 

delivered through the Better Homes partnership and contracts. The Framework 

Agreement is between West Yorkshire Combined Authority and Keepmoat, all LA 

partners have Call Off contracts with Keepmoat. 

The social housing properties are owned by Leeds City Council (Housing Leeds) 

and will be delivered through existing contract arrangements between Leeds City 

Council and their Provider. 

122



Document is Restricted

123

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 11Contains confidential information.



This page is intentionally left blank



Director: Melanie Corcoran, Director of Delivery 
Author: Dave Haskins 

 

 

Report to: West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee 

Date: 3 January 2018 

Subject: Growth Deal: Call for Projects – Next Steps 

 

1 Purpose 
 
1.1 This report provides an overview of the submissions received relating to potential 

Growth Deal funding following the recent Call for Projects, including feedback and 
further analysis following the Investment Committee workshop held on 31 October 
2017. 

 
2 Information 
 
 Call for Projects Process 
 
2.1 In recent months, WYCA has received a number of submissions from scheme 

promoters who are seeking to bring new projects forward for entry into the ‘pipeline’ 
for delivery.  No mechanism currently exists to support this, and any opportunity to 
support new projects is held back by the lack of headroom funding available. 

 
2.2 In order to seek to overcome this issue and provide more transparency, a need was 

identified to formally request promoters to bring forward projects on an agreed and 
consistent basis through a Call for Projects.  The rationale was to provide an 
indication of future opportunities that exist should funding become available. 

 
2.3 A further exercise was also identified, to review the current portfolio of projects and 

to clearly understand where delivery is not proceeding to agreed timescales or where 
circumstances have changed which may result in reduced outcomes to those initially 
envisaged, or where schemes may no longer proceed/be required.  The outcomes 
from this exercise will be used to inform discussions around the creation of potential 
funding headroom as set out in a separate agenda item. 

 
2.4 The initial stage of this process commenced through a Call for Projects which was 

issued by WYCA on 24 August 2017, and was publicised on the WYCA website with a 
return date of 25 September 2017.  The purpose of the Call was to focus on schemes 
that could be delivered by 2021 with jobs and housing outputs delivered by 2024.  It 
was highlighted that no funding is currently available. 

 
 
 
 

125

Agenda Item 9



2.5 The Call covered a range of projects under various potential funding sources, namely: 
 

 Growth Deal; 

 Business Rates Pool (BRP); 

 Northern Cultural Regeneration Fund (NCRF); and 

 Other, as potential Growth Deal or with a wider policy context. 

 
2.6 All submissions were logged and evaluated under the direction of the Head of 

Feasibility & Assurance (F&A) to ensure that separation of promoter/reviewer roles 
was adhered to through ethical walls being put in place.  A number of reviewers were 
identified within the F&A team, supplemented by staff in PMO and Research & 
Intelligence.  Wider district input was requested and was volunteered by Bradford, 
Wakefield and Calderdale Councils. 

 
2.7 There were 93 projects submitted, of which 70 pertained to the Growth Deal. 

Following an initial review of the submissions, 48 projects were identified where 
there were key gaps in the supplied information that related to one or all of; project 
delivery timescales, project costs and scheme benefits.  The scheme promoters were 
contacted and a request was made for the missing information – one week was 
allowed for this.  42 promoters responded with further detail. 

 
2.8 The assessment of the submissions was based on the criteria that was provided, and 

which related to information set out in the WYCA Assurance Framework.  All 
evaluations were moderated, with input from District partners. 

 
2.9 Throughout the process of evaluation, summary information has been provided to 

the WYCA Programme Appraisal Team (PAT), Directors of Development (DoDs), 
Investment Committee (workshop), LEP Board and Chief Highway Officers (CHOs). 

 

2.10 Projects have been categorised into a number of thematic areas, which broadly 
relate to Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) priorities: 
 

 Priority 1 – Growing Businesses; 

 Priority 2: Skills Capital; 

 Priority 3: Clean Energy and Environmental Resilience (no submissions 
received); 

 Priority 4 (a) Housing/Regeneration plus digital infrastructure; 

 Priority 4 (b): Transport Infrastructure; and 

 Sport & Culture. 

  

126



2.11 There are a number of caveats that should be noted as a ‘health warning’ around the 
summary information received: 

 

 The assessment has been based on information as provided.  There has been no 
opportunity to check the veracity of scheme costs, timescales or benefits.  This 
may result in an over-selling (or under-selling) of schemes; 

 Some schemes may perform better if more information was made available by 
promoters.  Conversely, when examined in more detail, some schemes may not 
perform as well as has been claimed; 

 In a number of cases, schemes ‘pass’ the test of delivery by 2021, though it 
should be noted that this is often contingent on a delivery programme that 
requires imminent decisions/funding allocation; 

 For certain types of schemes, notably those in the Transport Infrastructure and 
Sport & Culture category, performance against direct jobs and housing outputs 
is poor as these projects primarily provide indirect outputs; 

 There are a number of submissions relating to transport infrastructure which 
have been identified for delivery post-2021, but which are seeking feasibility 
funding as an enabler. Given that the WY+TF runs beyond 2021 we are 
currently seeking to quantify the demand for this support and where funding 
such as the WY+TF Transformational Projects may be available to develop 
schemes further; 

 There is one project that is seeking WYCA funding through the Growth Deal as 
well as NCRF funding; and 

 Match-funding will need to be a key consideration in many cases, and this is 
generally quite poorly defined at present.  Where delivery has been identified 
as possible by 2021, this may be a key consideration. 

 
2.12 A summary table of the submissions against Growth Deal priority areas is provided 

below: 
 

Priority Type 
WYCA 

Grant 

Request 

Total Project 

Size 

No of 

Applicants 

Priority 1 Growing Businesses  £89.74m £251.37m 10 

Priority 2 Skills Capital  £79.07m £141.91m 17 

Priority 4 (a) Housing, Regeneration and Digital  £121.08m £1,170.64m 17 

Priority 4 (b) Transport Infrastructure £446.98m £1,064.39m 20 

Priority S&C  Culture and Sport £18.78m £65.82m 6 

Grand Total   £755.65m  £2694.13m 70 

 
 

127



2.13 It is recognised that the nature of the Call for Projects was necessarily restrictive in 
terms of delivery timescales.  It should also be noted that with the development of 
the Local Inclusive Industrial Strategy, there may be a policy shift that lends itself to 
supporting a wider range of projects.  As a consequence of these factors, it is 
proposed that a further Call for Projects is given consideration in 2018/19.  The 
timing and nature of this is to be determined by a future Investment Committee 
meeting. 

 
3. Findings 
 
3.1 An overview of submissions by Priority area was discussed at Investment Committee 

Workshop on 31 October.  A summary of the key messages and proposed way 
forward for each of the Priority Areas is provided below. 
 
Priority 1: Growing Businesses 
 

3.2 A number of strong projects were submitted that would potentially deliver direct 
jobs by 2021.  Based on the information supplied, the strongest performing schemes 
were; LCR Enterprise Zones Programme Phase 2, EZ Local Authorities (seeking 
£33.8m) and Institute for High Speed Railways and System Integration, University of 
Leeds (seeking £10.88m).  Collectively these are seeking WYCA grant funding of 
around £45m.  The former of these is scalable, and can be further split into phases. 
 

3.3 However, funding sources are currently over-subscribed, therefore significant 
challenges exist if any of these projects are to be accelerated.  Notwithstanding this, 
it is proposed that the above schemes are brought forward for consideration by the 
WYCA Programme Appraisal Team (PAT) for entry into the ‘pipeline’ such that they 
can potentially proceed through the WYCA Assurance Process so as to maximise the 
state of readiness when funds become available. 
 
Priority 2: Skills Capital 
 

3.4 Six projects with a total WYCA funding ask of £23m were submitted which had a 
strong fit with Growth Deal Criteria and a strong/medium economic impact, and 
were stated as being deliverable by 2021.  A further eight projects with a total WYCA 
funding ask of around £43.5m could potentially also be delivered within this 
timescale, though with a lower economic impact. 
 

3.5 There is no further devolved skills capital funding available at this time to progress 
any of the submitted schemes, though there may be some recycled funding available 
towards the end of the programme period. 
 
Priority 4 (a): Housing, Regeneration and Digital 
 

3.6 A number of strong projects were put forward with a delivery timescale by 2021, 
including a number seeking support for initial feasibility, acquisition or remedial 

128



work.  Currently, there are unallocated funds within the current Housing and 
Regeneration programme of around £4m. 
 

3.7 Several projects have forecast new homes outputs and WYCA should consider 
supporting them to ensure that the overall target of 2,000 new homes built is met.  
Those projects which meet criteria for early delivery and which have presented the 
best fit with Growth Deal criteria and a strong/medium economic impact are; York 
Central Phase 1 Kickstarter, City of York Council (seeking £16.3m), Wakefield City 
Centre South East, Wakefield Council (seeking £5.5m), Halifax Living, Calderdale 
Council (seeking £1m) and City Centre Heritage Properties, Bradford Council (seeking 
£7.2m).  A further eight projects with a combined WYCA funding ask of around £45m 
were identified as being deliverable by 2021, though with a less strong fit against 
defined criteria. 
 

3.8 It is proposed that the schemes listed in 3.7 are brought forward for consideration by 
the WYCA PAT for entry into the ‘pipeline’ such that they can potentially proceed 
through the WYCA Assurance Process so as to maximise the state of readiness should 
funds become available.  Further detail on potential phasing options may be required 
to understand affordability within the overall programme funding constraints. 
 
Priority 4(b): Transport Infrastructure 
 

3.9 Only a very limited number of schemes were submitted which appear to have 
potential to deliver by 2021.  These are City Connect Cycle Programme Phase 1 and 2 
Extension, WY-wide (seeking £11.402m), Rail Station Car Park Extension Programme 
Phase 2, WY-wide (seeking £54.94m, which is scalable) and Stourton Inland Port, 
Canal and River Trust (seeking £1.8m).  These demonstrated a strong fit with Growth 
Deal Criteria and strong economic impacts, and should be considered for acceleration 
through initial feasibility work for entry into the WY+TF pipeline such that they can 
potentially proceed through the WYCA Assurance Process, and subject to reaching 
clear conclusions on the current programme re-profiling exercise.  
 

3.10 There are a number of potential pipeline schemes for delivery post-2021, including 
some which are seeking feasibility funding or additional allocations from the WY+TF.  
These include ambitious transport and regeneration schemes such as Huddersfield 
Station Gateway, Kirklees Council (seeking £27m) and Leeds City Centre Package, 
Leeds CC (seeking £30.3m).  WYCA are currently working with scheme sponsors to 
identify where elements of a phased delivery by 2021 are achievable.  It is proposed 
that the sponsors of these schemes are also invited to submit their proposals for 
consideration to the WYCA PAT Team such that they can potentially proceed through 
the WYCA Assurance Process so as to maximise the state of readiness should funds 
become available.   
 

3.11 It is still too early to reach a clear conclusion on the wider schemes within the 
Transport Infrastructure category, since the programme re-profiling exercise has not 
concluded and that work is still ongoing to agree criteria for ‘transformational 
projects’ (see separate report), for which some of them may potentially be eligible.  

129



WYCA are currently working with scheme sponsors to identify where phased delivery 
by 2021 is achievable or where feasibility support is required to ensure that better 
performing projects are able to be developed to a state of readiness for future 
funding opportunities. 
 
Sport and Culture 
 

3.12 There is currently no clear funding source for these schemes, and although some 
interesting proposals were submitted, a WYCA policy shift will be required to support 
them.  The Local Inclusive Industrial Strategy is currently being developed, which may 
assist in addressing this issue. 
 

3.13 The best performing scheme in this priority area, and which is deliverable by 2021 is 
the Bradford Odeon project, which was also submitted as a Northern Cultural 
Regeneration Fund bid, and has been shortlisted by the Leeds CR LEP Board.  Subject 
to it being selected for funding, there would still be a funding gap of £1.8m.  This 
scheme has previously been supported by WYCA as a Regeneration project, with 
£325k funding towards the building conversion.   
 
Next Steps 
 

3.14 It is proposed that WYCA write to those schemes listed in 3.2, 3.7, 3.9, and 3.10 to set 
out next steps and indicate our in-principle support to these schemes, subject to 
successful progression through the WYCA Assurance Process and the availability of 
funding.  These schemes will be termed the ‘Reserve List’. If further Calls for Projects 
are made, submissions from future calls will be considered alongside schemes 
submitted in the recent call for projects to ensure transparency. Project sponsors will 
be given the opportunity to update/ revise previous submissions.  

 
4 Financial Implications 
 
4.1 As set out in the report. 
 
5 Legal Implications 
 
5.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 
 
6 Staffing Implications 
 
6.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 
 
7 External Consultees 
 
7.1 None. 
  

130



 
8 Recommendations 
 
8.1 It is recommended that the Investment Committee recommends to WYCA that the 

projects identified in 3.2 (LCR Enterprise Zones Programme Phase 2, and Institute for 
High Speed Railways and System Integration), 3.7 (York Central Phase 1 Kickstarter, 
Halifax Living, Wakefield City Centre South East and Bradford City Centre Heritage 
Properties), 3.9 (City Connect Cycle Programme Phase 1 and 2 Extension, Rail Station 
Car Park Extension Programme Phase 2, and Stourton Inland Port) and 3.10 
(Huddersfield Station Gateway and Leeds City centre Package) are brought forward 
for consideration for entry into the WYCA pipeline list, pending the outcome of the 
programme re-profiling exercise and the future availability of funding, and subject to 
approval through the WYCA Assurance Process. 

 
8.2 That it is noted that further work is ongoing through discussion between WYCA and 

District officers to agree wider projects under Priority 4(b): Transport Infrastructure 
which could be progressed through feasibility work to strengthen the state of 
readiness of the forward pipeline of schemes.  The conclusions from this exercise will 
be reported back to Investment Committee. 

 
9 Background Documents 
 
9.1 None. 
 

131



This page is intentionally left blank



     
 

 
 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE  
BUSINESS INVESTMENT PANEL 

HELD ON TUESDAY, 14 NOVEMBER 2017 AT COMMITTEE ROOM A, 
WELLINGTON HOUSE, 40-50 WELLINGTON STREET, LEEDS 

 
 
Present: 
 

Councillor Tim Swift (Chair) Calderdale Council 
Michael Allen NatWest Bank 
Councillor James Lewis Leeds City Council 
Roger Marsh OBE Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership 
Simon Pringle Project Rome 
Councillor Graham Swift Harrogate Borough Council 
Simon Wright Yorkshire Bank 
 
In attendance: 
 

  
 

Chris Brunold WYCA 
Phil Cole Leeds City Council 
Elizabeth Courtney WYCA 
Neill Fishman WYCA 
Lorna Holroyd WYCA 
Paul Hyde Leeds City Council 
Henry Rigg WYCA 
Dathan Tedesco WYCA 
Kate Thompson WYCA 
Janette Woodcock WYCA 
 
1.   Apologies for absence 

 
Apologies were received from Councillors Judith Blake and Shabir Pandor. 
 
In the absence of Councillor Judith Blake the chair was taken by Councillor Tim Swift.   

 
2.   Declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests 

 
None were declared. 

 
3.   Exempt information - Exclusion of the press and public 

 
Resolved: That in accordance with paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration 

 

133

Agenda Item 10



of Appendices 1 and 2 of Agenda Item 5 and Appendices 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 of Agenda 
item 6 on the grounds that they are likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the press and public 
were present thee would be disclosure to them of exempt information and for the 
reasons set out in the report that in all the circumstances of the case, the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information. 

 
4.   Minutes of the meeting of the Business Investment Panel held on 17 October 2017 

 
Resolved:  That the minutes of the Business Investment Panel held on 17 October 
2017 be approved. 

 
5.   Business Grants Programme 

 
The Panel considered a report of WYCA’s Executive Head of Economic Services 
providing an update on the current position regarding progress in committing grants 
and meeting expenditure and achievement targets through the LEP Business Grants 
Programme (BGP). 
 
In private session the Panel was asked to consider two new applications, 1093427 and 
1094831, as detailed in 3.1 and in appendices 1 and 2 of the submitted report. 
 
Resolved: 
 
(i) That the BGF Update be noted. 
 
(ii) That in regard to application 1093427, as detailed at 3.1 and appendix 1, 

officers maintain a dialogue with the applicant in order to better understand 
several matters related to the application and their business, with a view to 
considering the application again at a future panel meeting. 
 

(iii) That in regard to application 1094831, as detailed at 3.1 and appendix 2, 
officers maintain a dialogue with the applicant in order to better understand 
several matters related to the application and their business. 

 
6.   Growing Places Fund 

 
The Panel considered a report of WYCA’s Director of Delivery providing an update on 
progress and targets towards committing loans through the LEP Growing Places Fund 
(GPF). 
 
In private session the panel were also asked to consider one new application enquiry, 
318, as detailed in 3.1 and appendix 1 of the submitted report. 
 
Members were also provided with a progress report on a previously considered loan, 
as detailed at 4.1 and in appendix 2, and on the progress of several live loans with 
changed circumstances or risk, as detailed at 5.1 and in appendix 3. 

134



 
Resolved: 
 
(i) That the update on progress in committing loans through the GPF be noted. 
 
(ii) That project 318, as detailed at 3.1 and appendix 1, be appraised in full and 

presented at a future panel meeting. 
 
(iii) That the update on the progress of a previously considered loan as detailed at 

4.1 and in appendix 2, be noted. 
 
(iv) That the update on the progress of several live loans with changed 

circumstances or risk, as detailed at 6.1 and appendix 3, be noted. 
 

135



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Meeting of the West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee held on 9 November 2017
	5 Governance Arrangements - Appointment of Business Investment Panel Members
	Item 5 - Appendix - Governance Arrangements - BIP Panel Appointments

	6 Leeds City Region Growth Deal Delivery
	Item 6 - Appendix 1 Growth Deal Dashboard FINAL
	Sheet1

	Item 6 - Appendix 2 WY+TF Dashboard FINAL
	WYTF Pipeline Oct 17 Dec amends

	Item 6 - Appendix 3 De-commitment Criteria FINAL

	7 WY+TF Transformational Programme Update
	8 Capital Spend and Project Approvals
	Item 8 - Appendix 1 - BCSummaryBradfordIntPhase1 FINAL
	Item 8 - Appendix 2 - BCSummaryBradfordIntPhase2 FINAL
	Item 8 - Appendix 3 - BCSummaryNFMv1 FINAL
	Item 8 - Appendix 4 -BCSummary Wykebeck Flood Alleviationv1 FINAL
	Item 8 - Appendix 5 - BCSummaryYORRPhase1 FINAL
	Item 8 - Appendix 6 - BCSummaryCCAGPhase2 FINAL
	Item 8 - Appendix 7 - BCSummaryAccess Innovation Programme FINAL
	Item 8 - Appendix 8 - StratBGrowthBCSummary FINAL
	Item 8 - Appendix 9 - BCSummaryRailP&RMirfield Site A FINAL
	Item 8 - Appendix 10 - BCSummaryWarmHomesFund FINAL
	Item 8 - Appendix 11 - PRIVATE - NOT FOR PUBLICATION Project Beta Project Approval (EXEMPT) FINAL

	9 Growth Deal: Call for Projects - Next Steps
	10 Minutes of the Business Investment Panel held on 14 November 2017

